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PREFACE.

For various reasons it has lately been found impossible to
publish this book annually. The diversity of the subjects included
within its scope, and the consequent multiplicity of the sources
from which the requisite information has to be drawn, added to
the difficulty evidently experienced by the various Government
Departments, whose assistance has necessarily to be obtained, in
giving immediate attention to the collection und compilation of the
matter asked of them, has rendered 1t, I regret to say, necessary to
publish it as a retrospective survey of the two years immediately
preceding that of its issue.

In this twelfth edition will be found, therefore, in addition
to the chapters of general reference, a report of the progress made
by the State of Western Australia during the years 1900 and 1901,
comparative statistical figures being, at the same time, in aimost
every instance, given for the whole decade 1892-1901.

Some valuable information has been also added in this issue
to that previously given. Professor Dr. J. E. Heeres, formerly of
Delft, now of Leiden University, has kindly allowed me, with regard
to the historical portion relating to the early Dutch discoveries, to
avail myself of all the authentic researches contained in his book
on “The Part borne by the Dutch in the Discovery of Australia.”
Again, T am also indebted to Mr. A. Gibb Maitland, the Govern-
ment, Geologist, and his staff, for exhaustive chapters on the Geology
and Mineral Resources of Western Australia; to Mr. B. H. Wood-
ward, the Director of the Museum, for a most comprehensive
article on her “Fauna”; to Mr. A. Morrison, the Government
Botanist, in addition to his excellent contribution on her “ Flora,”
for a thorough revision of the ‘List of Extra-tropic West Aus-
tralian Plants,” compiled by the Jate Baron Von Miieller; to Mr.
E. S. Simpson, of the Geological Survey, and Mr. C. Erskine May,
of the Lands Department, for extremely interesting descriptions of
the Caves and Caves District of the South-West; and to Mr. H. M.
Giles, of the Zoological Gardens, for a valuably instructive essay on
the Insects of the State, whilst the information relative to recent
Exploration and the Geographical notes have been fully brought up
to date by the kindness of Mr. F. S. Brockman, Chief Inspecting
Surveyor of the Lands Department.

P




iv.

The heads and officers of several other Government Depart-
ments, and the various private persons to whom I have had occasion
to refer for information, have again accorded me their invaluable
help, and to all these I now beg to express my indebtedness.

It is to me a matter of great regret, considering the wide
circulation this book has attained, that the late Ministry decided
that means were not available to allow of the inclusion of descriptive
illustrations in this issue.

The second volume, which deals more especially with the
progress of the State, is now in course of completion.

I shall, as in the past, be glad to receive information respecting
any errors that may have crept in or been overlooked.
MALCOLM A. C. FRASER,
Government Statistician and Registrar General.
17th September, 1902.
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FOR
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Parr I.—HISTORY.

1.—-DISCOVERY anp EARLY HISTORY or WESTERN
AUSTRALIA.

RRA AUSTRALIS INCOGNITA, or MAGELLANICA,
the unknown Southern Continent, or Great Southern Land
of ancient geographers and explorers, is said to have been
first discovered by the Portuguese between the years 1511
and 1529, when some vessels belonging to that mnation, engaged in
the exploration of the Indian Seas, driven out of their course by
currents or stress of weather, accidentally drifted on to the
Australian coast. The authenticity of this account is, however,
doubted.

In 1567 Alvaro de Mendafia sailed from Callao, in Peru, in
search of the Continent believed to exist in the Southern Seas, but
the only result of the expedition was the discovery of the Solomon
Islands.

In 1595 Mendaiia again left Peru in charge of an expedition
equipped for the purpose of colonising the Solomon Islands,
previously discovered, and chanced on the Marquesas and Santa
Cruz Islands. He died on one of the latter, the expedition
returning to Peru.

The spirit of enterprise displayed by the Portuguese served
however to encourage the Dutch East India Company, with their
already established factories in Java and other parts of the Indian
Archipelago, to researches in the direction of Australia. Their .
first object was New Guinea, where it was rumoured that gold was
found.  Frederick de Houtmwan, Governor of Amboyna (in the
Moluccas), organised an expedition in 1605. TUnder his instructions
the Dutch yacht ‘“Duytken” (Little Dove), Commander Willem
Jansz, subcargo Jan Lodewijkszoon Rosingeyn, sailed from Batavia
* for Bantam on the 28th November of that year, whence, 'afier
receiving further instructions from Jan Willemsz Verschoor, the



2

company’s President, she sailed to explore the Island of New
Guinea. During March in the following year she coasted along
that portion of Terra Australis lying in the Gulf of Carpentaria to
the South-West of Cape York, as far as Cape “ Keer Weer,” or
“Tuarn Back,” her commander mistaking it for the West side of
New (tuinea, and thus, unconsciously, making the first authen-
ticated discovery of the long sought-for Southern Continent.
These seem to be all the particulars available as to the results of
this expedition, and even they are doubtful, as the journal of
Captain Jansz unfortunately appears to have been lost.*

On the 21st December, 1605, Pedro Fernandez de Quiros, who
had been pilot under Mendafia and Luiz Vaz de Torres, left Callao
with three Spanish vessels in search of the supposed Tierra Austral,
and amongst others discovered one of the islands now called the
New Hebrides, to which, supposing it to be the object of their
search, they gave the name of Australia del Espiritu Santo. Torres,
in the “ Almirante,” on the 11th June, 1606, found himself
separated from De Quiros, and, ascertaining that the newly-
discovered land was only an island, continued his search West-
ward, passing, also unconsciously, in sight of the sought-for
continent, through the Straits that now bear his name.

In 1611 certain ships going from the Netherlands to India,
after doubling the Cape, followed another route than that usually
adopted: they ran on an Eastern course, in about 86° Southern
latitude, for a considerable time, and then tried to navigate to Java
on a Northerly course. The commander, the subsequent Governor
General Hendrik Brouwer, wrote to the Directors of the East India
Company concerning “this fairway’ in highly laudatory terms, as
preferable to the usual course by Madagascar, which offered many
dangers and objections. The new route was thenceforth prescribed
to the Company’s ships. As early as 1618 and 1620 thé Company
urged upon the Governor General of India the importance of
following up the discoveries in the region of ‘The Southland.”
Jan Pieterszoon Coen, who was then directing the affairs of the
Company in India, gave instructions, on the 29th September,
1622, for the ships “ Haring” (Herring) and “ Hazewind” (Grey-
hound) to sail, «“ destined for the further discovery of the Southland.”
The commanders were “specially to inquire what minerals, such as
gold, silver, tin, iron, lead, and copper, what precious stones, pearls,
vegetables, animals, and fruit these lands”” produced; and the coun-
tries discovered were ““to be taken possession of.” Jan Carstensz
was to be in command. The ships, however, for some reason did not
sail on their ordained expedition. The enterprise of the Company
probably found its boldest expression in that eminent navigator,
Van Diemen; but in his time the directors of the Company began

* Dr. W, G. C. Byvanck, the Chief Librarian of the Royal Library at The Hague, who
has kindly furnished authentfic information with regard to the early Dutch voyages
to Western Australia, quotes De Jonge, ‘“Rige of the Dutch Dominion in East India,”
iii., 42-44, and Lants, also P. A. Leupe, ‘Voyages of the Dutch to New Holland”
(in his ¢ Treatise on the Naval Exploits of the Dutch”). Professor Dr.J. E. Heeres, of -
Delft, in an abstract of valuable notes kindly made available for publication in the Year
Book, gives a similar account.
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to slacken in their zeal for exploration, finding the expenses too
great; and gradually the idea of further colonial expansion was
abandoned, thus leaving Australia to be colonised by others. At
the close of the 17th century Nicolaas Corneliszoon Witsen, Burgo-
master of Amsterdam and General Director of the East India
Company, with a special view to the enlargement of geographical
knowledge, took a diligent part in the preparations for the voyage
of skipper De Vlaming. A few vears later he bitterly complained
of the indifference of many of his countrymen in those days, who
did not *care about curious learning from India,” but ‘money
only.” As Professor Heeres says: ““ The times of Van Diemen had
failed to return; the spirit by which he was imbued no longer
presided over the debates on colonial matters.”

In 1616 Dirk Hartogs (Hartochsz), in command of the Dutch
vessel “ Eendragt,” or “ KHendracht” (Concord), supercargo Cornelis
Buysero, outward bound from Holland to the Indies, entered
Shark Bay. and gave his name to the island upon the Western
side of the Bay. The name * Dor Eylandt” or * Dorre Eylandt”™
(Barren Island) was then, or subsequently, given to the largest
island at the entrance of the Bay. A tin plate nailed to a post
erected at the North end of Dirk Hartogs Island remained for
many years a memento of his visit. His countryman, Willem de
Vlaming, who visited the island in 1697, relates that he found
the plate on the 4th of February of that year, and taking it away
with him, entrusted it for safe keeping to Their Nobilities, the
Gentlemen Seventeen of Batavia. He found it difficult to decipher
the inscription, but gave a rendering of it which, translated from
the Dutch, runs as follows: —

ANNO 1616, the 25th of October.—Arrived here the ship ‘“ Eendracht,”
of Amsterdam ; the first merchant Gillis Miebais of Liege.
Dirck Hartogs, of Amsterdam, Captain. 27th Do.—Sailed for
Bantam.
On the lower part, cut with a knife, were to be read in Dutch
the words :
The Under Merchant Jan Steyn, Upper Steersman, Pieter Ledoecker
of Bil, A° 1616.

Such at least was the wording of the duplicate plate which he
caused to be substituted for the one removed.* Subsequent research,
however, makes it appear that the latter part of the inscription on
the original plate read as follows: —

The Under Merchant Jan Steyns, Upper Steersman, Gerrit Douwes of
Medemblik. A° 1616.

Vlaming’s inscription. was seen by Captain Hamelin in 1801,
and by Baudin, the Commander of the French exploring vessel,
“ Naturaliste,” in 1803. But the plate had disappeared in January,
1822, when King caused a careful search to be made for it. This
disappearance can be accounted for by a statement made by De
Freyeinet to the effect that he had removed it, and deposited it for

* Dr. Byvanck refers to Major’s ‘‘Introduction’ to * Early Voyages to Terra
Australis,” p, 32.
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safe keeping in the Museum of the French Institute, which fact
is referred to in the minutes of the Society, dated the 23rd March,
1821. In spite, however, of this statement, a careful search very
recently made by the Secretary * of the Institute has failed to
discover its present whereabouts.

Dirk Hartogs examined the coastline between South latitude
26° 30" and 23° and called the intervening country “ Eendracht’s
Land.”

On the 11th May, 1618, the ship “Zeewolf ” (Seawolf), from the
Netherlands to India, supercargo Pieter Dirkszoon, skipper Haevik
Claeszoon Van Hillegom, sighted land in Southern latitude 21°
20, about ““a thousand miles ” (German sea-miles) East of Africa.

In July of the same year a Dutch vessel called “ Mauritius,”
supercargo Willem Jansz, skipper Lenaert Jacobsz, touched near
the North-West Cape, and discovered the “ Willems-rivier”
(probably the Ashburton), in lat. 21° 45’ South.

In 1619 a fleet of eleven vessels, under the command of Frederik
de Houtman, in the ship “ Dordrecht,” discovered, on 29th July of
that year, a reef lying off this coast, to which the Dutch sailors at
once gave the name of “Frederik Houtman’s Abrolhos.”t It
consists of a cluster of rocky islets and outlying reefs, about 45
miles to the West and North-West of Champion Bay. The term
Abrolhos is a contraction of the Portuguese words “ abri vossos
olhos,” meaning in English “Open your eyes,” and was applied
by the Portuguese to outlying coastal dangers. On board one of
the ships of Houtman’s fleet, the ¢ Amsterdam,” was Jacob D’edel,
the first merchant (supercargo), and it was after him that the
district between Shark Bay and Champion Bay was named “ Edel’s
Land.”

In 1622 the Dutch vessel ““ Leeuwin” (‘Lioness) rounded the
Cape at the South-West corner of the Continent, which still bears
her name, and examined the shore as far as what subsequently
became known as King George III. Sound.

On the 5th July, 1622, a boat arrived at Batavia with ten men,
forming part of the crew of an English ship, named the “Trial,”
and on the 8th her pinnace arrived with 36 men. They stated
that they had lost and abandoned their ship with 97 men and the
cargo, on certain rocks situated in latitude 20° 10’ South, in the
longitude of the Western extremity of Java. These rocks were near
a nuunber of broken islands lying very far apart. They said that
thev had met with this accident through following the course of the
Dutch ships. The yacht “ Hazewind ” was selected to discover
those lands, but never started. It is probable that the shipwrecked
English sailors were considerably out in their statement as to the

* Dr. Alfred Grandidier, who has kindly revised the portions of this historical
abstract, referring to the French voyages.

+ Dr. Byvanck refers to Majox’s ‘‘Introduction,” p. 86, and the strictures on the
passage given by P, A. Leupe, “ Treatise on the Naval Exploits of the Dutch,” Vol. xxvii.
1, Sec. 2, p. 32.
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longitude of the *“Trial” or “Tryal ” rocks, which have since been
located (see the Admiralty’s « Australia Directory,”) on the South-
Western part of the Monte Bello Reef, extending three or four
miles North and South, the central and largest rock lying North,
distant 54 ‘miles, from the North extreme of Barrow Island.

On the 22nd July, 1622, the Dutch ship “’tWapen van Hoorn ”
(The Arms of Hoorn), having sailed from the Texel on the 22nd
December, 1621, arrived at Batavia, and reported that she had been
in extreme peril near Eendrachtsland.

On the 21st July, 1623, the Dutch ship “ Leyden,” skipper
Klaas Hermansz, sighted Eendrachtsland. This same ship, under
the command of Daniel Janssen Cock, sighted ““The Southland,” on
the 28th April, 1626.

On the 16th November, 1623, the yacht * Tortelduyff  ( Twrtle-
dove) sailed from the Texel, and. during her voyage to Batavia,
where she arrived on the 21st June, 1624, probably discovered and
named the Turtledove Shoal.

In the same vear (1623), an expedition under Jan Carstensz,
from Amboyna, in the vessels “Pera” and ““ Arnhem,” discovered
Arnhem Land (Aarnemsland), which included the present Northern
district of South Australia. The skipper of the “ Arnhem,” Dirck
Melisz, having been killed in an attack by natives, the second mate
of the * Pera,” Willem Joosten Van Coolsteerdt, was appointed as his
successor. This discovery was, in 1636, further completed by
Gerrit Thomaszoon Pool and Pieter Pieterszoon.

In January, 1627, the «“ Gulde Zeepwrd” (Golden Sea Horse),
skipper Fran¢ois Thyssen, having on board Pieter Nuyts, after-
wards Ambassador to the Court of Japan, and subsequently
Governor of Formosa, sighted Cape Leeuwin, and made a
close examination of the Southern coastline. Nuyts gave the
name of Nuyts Land to the country lying round what is now
known as the Great Australian Bight. It was on this voyage
also that the islands St. Frang¢ois and St. Peter in Nuyts
Archipelago, off the coast of South Australia, were named.

On the 22nd July, 1627, the Governor General of Dutch India,
Jan Pieterszoon Coen, sailed from Table Bay with the ships
“ Galias,” “ Utrecht,” and “Texel” 'The ¢ Galias,” having broken
her rudder in a gale in the night of the 10th August, parted
company from the other ships, and on the 5Sth September was
nearly wrecked on the coast of Eendrachtsland.

On the 17th September of the same year the ship “ Het
Wapen Van Hoorn,” supercargo J. Van Roosenbergh, sighted
Eendrachtsland, near Dirk Hartogs Roadstead. Fresh observations
were made during each of these voyvages, and the coast consequently
became more accurately defined on the map.

In 1628 an expedition was cquipped in Hollaud, bound
for the BEast Indies. It had originally been intended that the
fleet should consist of eleven vessels, but three of them, being ready
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to sail before the others, left Texel on the 28th of October, under the
command of Commodore Francis Pelsart. The “ Batavia,” Pelsart’s
ship, driven out of her course during a severe storm, was separated
from the other two, and having lost her reckoning, struck, on the
night of the 4th June, 1629, on one of the islands of Houtman’s
Abrolhos, becoming a total wreck. The greater part of the crew and
passengers, however, safely reached the shore. After vainly search-
ing for water on the adjacent islands, and the mainland opposite,
Pelsart, with eight men, eventually made his way in one of the
vessel's boats to Batavia, where he arrived on the 5th
July; here he obtained the use of a frigate called the
“Bardam,” in which he returned to rescue the remainder of
the castaways. On his arrival he found that during his absence
a portion of the crew, under the supercargo, Jerome Cornelis,
had mutinied, and massacred the greater number of the pas-
sengers, intending to seize any vessel that might chance to
come near the islands, and then turn pirates. Pelsart, being
forewarned of this intention by some of those who had escaped
from the mutineers to another island, easily captured the ring-
leaders, who were promptly tried and as quickly executed, two
of their number being marooned on the mainland near Champion
Bay. On the 28th October, 1629, the chief part of the silver
treasure having been recovered from the wrecked vessel, the
“ Sardam,” with the survivors on board, sailed for Batavia. Pelsart’s
Journal mentions the so-called ““ Jacob Remessens,” “ Remens,” or
“ Rommer” River, in latitude 22° 17'. As the modern maps show
no river of any size at that point, it may perhaps be surmised that
Exmouth Gulf was mistaken for the mouth of a river. Tt is
evident that the name “ Jacob Remessens Rivier”” had been given
in or before 1628.

In the same year, 1628, Captain Gerrit Fredericsz De Wit, of the
homeward bound “ Vianen,” ran aground off the land which is now
comprised in the North-West and Kimberley Districts, and sailing
along the coast for about 50 miles, gave his name to that part of
Australia.

In 1629 the West coast of Australia was touched at by Dutch
vessels in the neighbourhood of Dirk Hartogs Roadstead.

In 1632 the Trials were passed by Dutch ships on the outward
voyage, but no fresh information of importance was gained.

In 1635, on the 25th May, the ship “Amsterdam,” under
Commander Wollebrand Geleynszoon de Jongh, and skipper Pieter
Dirksz, sighted the * Southland”” in the neighbourhood of Shark
Bay.

In 1644 Abel Janszoon Tasman, the celebrated Dutch ex-
plorer, and Frans Jacobszoon Visscher, with the yachts “ Limmen,”
“Zeemeeuw ” (Sea-mew) and “De Brak” (The Hound) during a
second expedition in these seas, examined the country which was
afterwards called Tasman Land, to that bordering on the extreme
North-Western coast line of the Continent, from Arnhem Land, or
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what is now the Northern Territory of South Australia, to Exmouth
Gulf, in latitude 22° 8. in this Colony. This comprised the country
previously discovered, and named by De Wit, as well as part of
Bendracht’s Land —namely, the present districts of Kimberley and the
North-West. Tasman appears to have landed in what was
subsequently called Roebuck Bay, and also on some of the islands
in Dampier’s Archipelago. He gave the name of Nova Hollandia
or New Holland to what is now the Continent of Australia.

An exploratory voyage to the West coast of New Holland was
made in 1648 by the ship “ Leeawerik” (Lark), commanded by
Jan Janszoon Zeeuw.

In 1656, on the 28th April, the “De Vergulde Draeck”
(The Gilt Dragon), commanded by Pieter Albertsz, which had left
Texel on the 4th October, 1655, was wrecked at night on a reef
on the West Coast in latitude 30° 40, and 118 lives were lost.
Leaving 68 of the survivors of the wreck behind on the mainland to
protect, if possible, the treasure (78,600 guilders) and merchandise,
which comprised the cargo of the vessel, one of the vessel’s boats made
for Batavia, which it duly reached; and the vessels “ Witte Valck”
(White Falcon), and “ Goede Hoop” (Good Hope) were at once
despatched to the rescue of the castaways and the property,
unfortunately, however, without success.

In 1657 a further search made by the “Vinck” (Finch), whilst
on a voyage from the Cape to Batavia, also proved fruitless.

In 1658, on the Ist January, the vessels *“ Waekende Boey”
(The Watch Buoy) commanded by Samuel Volckertszoon, and the
“ Bimeloort,” Captain Aucke Pieterszoon Jonck, left Batavia on a
similar errand, which was equally abortive. TImproved charts of
the West coast of Australia were, however, the result of this
expedition.  During the search, one of the boats of the “ Waekende
Boey,” being accidentally separated from her during bad weather,
was thought by those on board to have been lost, and was con-
sequently abandoned; part of its crew, however, after almost
incredible sufferings from exposure, hunger, and thirst, managed
to reach Java in safety.

In the same year the ship “Elburg,” commanded by Jacob
Pieterszoon Peereboom, brought in further reports about the South-
West coast, or “Land van de Leeuwin,” where she had been at
anchor ““in latitude 33° 14’ South under a projecting point,” probably
in Geographe Bay, and where some of her crew had been ashore.

In February, 1678, the ship ‘“De Vliegende Zwaan’ (The
Flying Swan), commanded by Jan Van der Wall, coasted the North-
West of Australia on her voyage from Ternate to Batavia.

In 1688, on the 5th January, the first Englishman landed on
the coast of Western Australia, in the person of William Dampier,
who, by the publication of further authentic information regarding
¢ New Holland,” supplemented the accounts of Tasman’s discoveries
made in 1642-3, which had been already previously made known,
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in 1671 in the diary kept by the surgeon of Tasman’s vessel, and
subsequently in Tasman’s own notes 1n 1674. Dampier appears to
have left Brazil as supercargo in a small vessel called the < Cygnet,”’
commanded by a friend of his named Swan, and intended for
the trade with South America; the c¢rew, however, mutinied and
became buccaneers, and eventually Captain Swan and about forty of
those who remained faithful to him were abandoned to their fate on
one of the Philippine Islands. Dampier remained in the vessel, which,
after her extended voyage, appears to have required overhauling.
Their occupation rendering an unfrequented spot desirable for the
purpose, the buccaneers steered for the coast of New Holland, and
on the 4th of January, 1688, anchored in a bay in the North-
Western coruer of King Sound, in the present West Kimberley
District, now known as Cygnet Bay, where they beached the vessel
and executed the necessary repairs. During their stay here (and
they did not leave until the 12th March) Dampier, who does not
seem to have found the society of the buccaneers or their mode
of life congenial, made a careful exploration of the surrounding
country. He succeeded in leaving the vessel at the Nicobar Islands,
from which he reached Sumatra in a canoe, and eventually, after
many adventures, arrived in England. It has been pointcd out
as a singular circumstance that Cygnet Bay, where the ““Cygnet”
was beached in 1688, is the one spot out of the whole West
Australian coast now selected by the W.ASN. Co’s ss.
“Australind” and other steamers for scraping and cleaning
their bottoms; and it certainly seems strange, unless the place
was previously known, that the ¢ Cygnet” should accidentally
have hit upon the one place on the whole coast best suited for the
purpose.

In 1696 Commander Willem de Vlaming, in a vessel called the
“Geelvinck” (Yellow FBunling), convoying two other vessels, the
“Nyptangh” (Pincher), commanded by Captain Gerrit Collaert, and
“Weseltje” (Weazel) under Commander Cornelis de Vlaming. son
of the leader of 1he expedition, was ordered by the Dutch East India
Company to carefully examine the Western coast of New Holland
for traces of a vessel named the ‘ Ridderschap Van Holland”
(Chamber of Kunaghts of Holland), which had left Holland,
for the Dutch colonies two years previously (1694)*
and had never reached its destination. On the morning of
Christmas Day, 1696, Jand was sighted. and on the 29th the ships
anchored off the island of Rottnest, which the next day they
explored, giving it the name “Rottenest” from the abundance of
rats’ (wallabies) nests found upon it. On the morning of the
5th January, Vlaming landed on the mainland, probably some-
where about what is now called Cottesloe Beach, with a party
of eighty-six men, fully armed, and marching Eastwards, came to
what is described as ““a large basin of brackish water, which we
afterwards found was a river.”” On the banks of this they found a
hut “of a worse description than that of a Hottentot,” also footprints

*Leupe, p. 360.
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and other evidences of the inhabitants, of whom, however, they
were unable to catch a glimpse. On the following day the party
divided into three, and went in different directions—one North, one
South, and the third four miles further East. On the 9th
the ships were brought in and anchored close off -the mouth
of the river, which Vlaming himself is said to have explored
for a distance of fourteen or sixteen leagues. It is mentioned
that he caught some smelts, whilst on the surface of the water
were seen numerous black swans. Of this hitherto unknown
prodigy, the fabulous black swan, Juvenal’'s * Rara awis
i terris migroque simillima cygno,”’ Vlaming captured several
specimens, three of which were taken alive to Batavia. The river
was named the Black Swan River, and on the 13th January,
having, as it is reported, found “neither good country nor seen any-
thing worthy of note,” the expedition proceeded slowly Northwards,
exanlining the shore carefully with the boats for traces of the lost
ship, and occasionally landing and making short excursions inland.
On the 4th February Shark Bay was reached, and carefully ex-
plored. The tin plate or Dirk Hartog was discovered, and, leaving
a somewhat similar memorial of their own visit, the ships, on the
12th February, proceeded as far as the North-West Cape, from which
on the 21st of the same month, they steered a direct course to Batavia.

In 1699 Dampier—who, since his arrival in England, had
published accounts of his previous adventures and discoveries in New
‘Holland—was sent by William IIL. in the “Roebuck,” under an
Admiralty Commission. to make further explorations on the North-
West coast of that country, and to solve, if possible, the question
as to whether it was a continent or, as was then generally supposed,
only a succession of islands. On the lst August, 1699, he entered
and named Shark Bay, and here he spent eight days in a
fruitless search for water. Trequent further attempts for a
like purpose, as he proceeded slowly Northward up the coast,
were also of no avail, and only once was water obtained in
a sufficient quantity to replenish his supply. So greatly dis-
gusted was he with the extreme sterility and waterless aspect of
the coastal country-—he never appears to have explored any
distance inland-—that he abandoned the object of his mission,
and proceeded straight to New Guinea. His unfavourable com-
ments on the barren appearance of the land, and its wretched
poverty-stricken inhabitants—whom he describes as ¢ the miser-
ablest people in the world ’ —militated strongly against further
investigation being made, and from that time to 1770—when Cook,
landing at Botany Bay, discovered and took possession of the more
fertile regions of the Eastern coast—Australian exploration, so far
at all events as Eugland was concerned, appears to have been
neglected. During this voyage Dampier discovered and roughly
charted the Dampier Archipelago, and added much to the knowledge
of the habits and customs of the aborigines and the natural history
of the country. He described the kangaroo as “a strange creature
like a racoon, which used only its hind legs, and, instead of walking,
advanced by great bounds or leaps, of twelve or fifteen feet at a time.”
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‘With regard to the early history of the gold discoveries in this
Colony, a curious mistake has crept in and been perpetuated from
time to time in both official and private publications. It is stated
that Dampier, a Dutch buccaneer, discovered gold on the North-
West coast’ in 1688, and that on account of this discovery the
Dutch charts marked this region Provincia Aurifera. In the
first place Dampier was not a Dutchman, but holds the proud
distinction of being the first Englishman to land upon this coast;
and, in the second plaJce no discovery of gold is anywhere mentioned
by him in his account of his visit.

Mr. C. H. Coote, of the Department of Maps and Drawings in
the British Museum, on beiug referred to for a solution of this
question, replied as follows :—

“The legend of ‘Beach, Provincia Aurifera, does not occur
on the Chart No. 90,056 (1), Dampier’s, but amongst others on the
map of the world by Pieter Plancius, the Dutch Geographer, 1594.

*“The whole thing is a myth and a geographical blunder of the
first half of the 16th century.

“You will find it on the Mercator’s large chart of 1569, and on
his earlier Earth’s Globe of 1541.

“It arose from a misreading of Marco Polo’s ¢ De Reglonlbus
Orientalibus,” lib. 3, caput 2, inserted in Grynzus’ (S.) ‘Novus
Orbis,” 1537 (Yule’s- “Marco Polo,” Bk. 3, chap. 7, note 3);
Beach or Beach is a misprint for Locack (Lokok, the Chinese
name for a former province of Lower Siam). This was ignorantly
transferred by the early 16th century geographers to an imaginary
great Southern Continent, the N.-W. corner of which was supposed
to be the two provinces of ¢ Beach Provincia Awrifera’— Maletur
regnum’ with ‘ Lucack regnum repeated in ignorance of thelatter
being the correct reading of Beach.”

In March, 1705, a small Dutch exploring squadron of three
vessels, the “ Vossenbosch” under Maarten Van Delft, “ De
Wayer” under Andries Rooseboom of Hamburg, and “ Nieuw
Holland ”” under Pieter Hendrikszoon of Hamburg, left Timor to
explore the North-Western coast of New Holland, and an improved
chart of Tasman’s explorations was made.

In 1711 a Dutch vessel named the * Zuytdorp” (The South
Village) is said to have been wrecked on the Abrolhos Islands.

In 1727, on the 9th June, a Dutch vessel, commanded by Jan
Steyns, subcargo, Jan Nebbens, the “Zeewyck,” so named after
a small fishing village in Holland, was wrecked on a reef off,
the Houtman Abrolhos, near ‘he island to which, in 1840,
Captain Stokes gave the name of Gun Island, from the fact
of his finding a small brass three-pounder gun on it, with
other relics of the wrecked vessel. Leaving the island on the
26th of March following, the remainder of the crew of the
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“Zeewyck,” 82 in all, taking with them ten chests of treasure
valued at 315,836 florins, reached Batavia in safety, on the 2lst
April, in a small boat built out of fragments of the wreck.
A boat previously despatched in charge of the wupper steers-
man, Pieter Langeweg, with a crew of eleven, was never again
heard of. Numerous relics of the wreck have since been
discovered, including pieces of ordnance, cannon balls, clay pipes,
broken gin bottles, tumblers, wine glasses, iron lamps, snuff-box,

etc., and several silver and copper coins bearing date 1720 and
1722,

Later in the eighteenth century, inter alia in 1755 and 1765,
the West coast of Australia was again visited by Dutch ships, but
the information gained by these visits is unimportant.

On the 18th March, 1772, Captain de St. Alouarn, in the *‘ Le
Gros Ventre,” anchored off Cape Leeuwin. After him the St.

Alouarn Islands were named by d’Entrecasteaux, in December,
1792.

In 1791, on the 1st April, Captain George Vancouver, who had
previously served as a midshipman under Cook, left Falmouth in
H.M.8. #“Discovery,” accompanied by Captain Broughton, in H.M.S,
*Chatham,” on his way to North-West America, vid the Southern
Coast of Australia. On September the 26th he arrived off Chatham
Island, which is situated close to the mainland off Point Nuyts, about
one hundred miles South-East from Cape Leeuwin. From Chatham
Island he made.a careful survey of the coast as he proceeded East-
ward. On the 28th he discovered a sound, to which he gave the name
of King George the Third Sound. Here he remained until the 11th
of October, being especially minute in his survéy and examination
of its outer harbour, and the adjacent country. Continuing his
voyage adverse weather greatly interfered with his explora-
tion of the coast, which, when somewhere in the neighbour-
hood of Esperance Bay, he eventually quitted for America.
Archibald Menzies was naturalist and botanist to the expedi-
tion.

In 1792 a French expedition of two vessels, one “La Re-
cherche,” commanded by Antoine Raymond Joseph de Bruni
Chevalier d’Entrecasteaux, and the other called “L’Espérance,”
Captain Huon de Kermadec, appeared on the South-Western coast,
looking for traces of Count Jeau Francois La Perouse, who, early in
1788, had left Sydney with the vessels “ Boussole ”” and * Astrolabe,”
the latter commanded by Captain de Lange, and whose fate
remained a mystery for nearly forty years, until 1825, when
Captain Peter Dillon, of H.M.S. “ Research,” discovered remnants
of the wrecks on Vanikoro, or Matlikoro, an island to the North-
West of the New Hebrides, being the Southernmost of the Santa
Cruz group. D’Entrecasteaux died on board his ship “ La
Recherche” on 20th July, 17938. Monsieur Labillardicre was
naturalist to the expedition.
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In 1801, on the 18th of July, Captain Matthew Flinders left
Spithead in the *Investigator,” a sloop of 334 tons. He reached
Cape Leeuwin on the 6th November, and commencing at King
George IIT Sound, where he arrived on the 9th December, he explored
and charted Princess Royal Harbeur, and carefully examined
the whole of the Southern coast of the continent as far as Bass
Straits. On hboard the ‘ Investigator” was Robert Brown, the
well-known botanist; also William Westall, the famous painter ;
whilst John Franklin, who afterwards became Governor of
Van Diemen’s Land, and finally ended his career as the celebrated
Arctic explorer, was one of her lieutenants. In 1814, upon Captain
Flinders’ suggestion, the continent received its name of Australia,
“as being,” as ke said, “more agreeable to the ear. and an
assimilation to the names of the other great portions of the
earth.”

In 1801-2 a further search for traces of Count La Perouse was
undertaken by a French expedition of three vessels:.the “ Geo-
graphe,” commanded by Commodore Nicholas Baudin ; the *“ Natur-
aliste,” by Caﬁtain Hamelin ; and asmall vessel called the “ Casuarina,”
under Captain Louis Desaulses de Freycinet. The whole of the
Western coast between Cape Leeuwin on the South, and Cape
Lévéque to the North, was minutely but unsuccessfully examined.
On their return Southward they anchored off the mouth of the
Swan River, and explored as far as the islands, which form a
part of the present Perth Causeway, and which yet retain the name
of Heirison Islands, given to them by M. Heirison, one of the
officers. M. Leschenault, the celebrated botanist, was attached to
this expedition, as was also M. Francois Peron, the zoologist.

In 1810 Captain de Freycinet was again exploring off the
Western and North-Western coasts.  An account of this voyage is
given by Gaudichaud, the botanist, in his “ Voyage Botanique
autour du monde.”

In 1818-22 Lieutenant Phillip Parker King, in the first place
in the colonial cutter «Mermaid,” 84 tons, and secondly in the
brig “Bathurst,” 170 tons, both vessels having been specially pur-
chased for the purpose in Sydney, carried out a careful survey of
the whole of the Western coast, commencing from King George I1I
Sound to Cambridge Gulf, and continuing along the Northern
coast. King's instructions from the Admiralty were to explore the
yet undiscovered coast of New Holland, and to complete, if possible,
1ts circumuavigation, also to examine minutely all gulfs and open-
ings in the Northern coast for any rviver on that part likely to lead
to an interior navigation of the continent. Mr. Allan Cunning-
ham was the botanical collector of the partv, and one of the two
master’s mates was Mr. John Septimus Roe, afterwards the first
Surveyor General of this Colony. King’s charts and sailing direc-
tions still form the basis of those in use at the present day. He
died a Rear Admiral in 1855.
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In June, 1825, the French vessels ““ Thétis ” and “ Espérance,”
commanded respectively by De Bougainville and du Camper, were
cruising about the Southern coast; and, as it was at that time
strongly suspected that France desired to found a settlement in
Australia, Lieutenant-Geeneral Sir Ralph Darling, then Governor of
New South Wales, sent Major Lockyer, with a detachment of the
39th Regiment, and a party of conviets, numbering all told about
75, to found a settlement at King George III Sound. The expedi-
tion landed at the Sound on the 25th December, 1825.

The names which were originally given to the most prominent
features on the Western coast are still in most instances retained,
and serve to perpetuate the memory of many of the earliest explorers,
their vessels, and the principal officers of their crews.

In 1827, on the 17th January, Captain James Stirling, B.N., in
H.M.S. “Success,” having on beoard as a passenger Mr. Charles
Fraser, the Colonial Botanist of New South Wales, sailed from
Sydney to examine the country in the vicinity of the Swan River,
with a view to the establishment of a settlement. On the
4th March Cape Leeuwin was weathered ; Rottnest Island was
reached and explored on the 5th March, and the next day the vessel
anchored off the mouth of the Swan. On the following day the ship
was moored at Berthollet Island, now called Carnac, and on the 8th
the first gig and cutter, victualled for a fortnight, and well armed,
proceeded up the Swan River, which the party explored to its sup-
posed source, experiencing, however, in doing so, great difficulty
in getting their boats across the shallows near Heirison
Islands. Two gardens were planted about 15 miles up the
river, and friendly relations were established, by means of pre-
sents, with a party of natives whom they met with on the 9th,

and who, the records of the expedition mention, ‘ seemed
particularly fond of bread and sugar,” but who ‘could
not relish salt meat.” Abundance of swans and ducks were

shot, the soil of the banks was examined, fresh water
was found to be easily obtainable, and an ascent of the Darling
Hills was made by Mr. Fraser. The cutter then returned to the
ship, leaving the gig to make a hurried exploration of another river,
to which the previous French explorers had given the name of the
Moreau, now called the Canning, which they satisfactorily accom-
plished.  After this the crew were employed in surveying the
Islands of Rottnest, Berthollet, and Buache, and the adjacent
rocks. Ou Biiache a garden, from which it probably derived its
present name of Garden Island, was planted, and a cow, three goats,
and three sheep were left there. The ““Success,” on the 21st March,
1827, sailed for Geographe Bay, which was reached on the 24th ;
on the 2nd April she arrived at King George ITT Sound, where,
it is said, they found the settlement by no means reached
expectation. Leaving there on the 4th, the anchor was dropped 1n
Port Jackson on the morning of the 15th April, 1827. Both
Captain Stirling and Mr. Fraser appear to have been greatly
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impressed with the capabilities of the newly examined country, the
latter making the following entry in his journal :—

“In delivering my opinion on the whole of the lands seen on the banks
“of the Swan, I hesitate not in pronouncing it superior to any I have seen
“in New South Wales, BEastward of the Blue Mountains, not only in its

“local situation, but in the many existing advantages which it holds out to
“gettlers, viz. :— :

“1st. The evident superiority of the soil.

«2nd. The facility with which settlers can bring their farms into
“a state of culture from the open state of the country, the
““trees not averaging more than ten to the acre.

“3rd. The great advantage of fresh-water springs of the best
“ quality, and conscquent permanent humidity of the soil—
*“two advantages not existing Eastward of the Blue Moun-
“ tains. '

“ 4th. The advantage of water carriage to their own doors, and the
‘“non-existence of impediments to land carriage.”

The favourable report. made by Captain Stirling, backed up by
the glowing description given by Mr. Fraser, induced General
Darling to recommend the Home Government to at once establish
a Settlement ; and to Captain James Stirling, who appears to have
conveyed the recommendation in person to England, the charge of

organising the expedition was entrusted by the English Govern-
ment,

No commission was at that time issued to Captain Stirling as
Lieutenant Governor of Western Australia, who instead received
a letter of appointment, bearing date the 30th of December, 1828 ;
the earliest commission issued to him was that appointing him to
be Governor and Commander-in-Chief, which was dated 4th March,
1831.  The reason for the adoption of this course is explained in
the following despatch from Secretary Sir George Murray, addressed
to him on the same date as the first letter of appointment, and
instructing him as to the course to be followed in the formation of
the then proposed settlement:—

“It having been determined by His Majesty’s Government to occupy
the post on the Western Coast of New Holland, at the mouth of the river
called “ Swan River,” with the adjacent territory, for the purpose of forming
a settlement there, His Majesty has been pleased to approve the selection of
yourself to have the command of the expedition appointed for that service,
and the superintendence of the proposed settlement.

“You will accordingly repair, with all practicable despatch, to the place
of your destination, on board the vessel which has been provided for that
purpose.

“ As Swan River and the adjacent territory are not within the limits of
any existing colony, difficulties may easily be anticipated in the course of
your procvedings, from the absence of all civil institutions, legislative,
judicial, or financial.

“Until provision can be made in due form of law for the Government of
the projected colony, the difficulties to which I refer must be combated, and
will, I trust, be overcome by your own firmness and discretion.
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“You will assume the title of Lieutenant Governor, and in pha,t
character will correspond with this department respecting your proceedings
and the wants and prospects of the settlement you are to form.

“ Amongst your earliest duties will be that of determining the most
convenient site for a town to be erected as the future seat of Government.

“ You will be called upon to weigh maturely the advantages which may
arise from placing it on so secure a situation as may be afforded on various
points of the Swan River, against those which may follow from establishing
it on so fine a port for the reception of shipping as Cockburn Sound is repre-
sented to be; and more effectually to guard against the evils to be appre-
hended from an improvident disposal of the land in the immediate vicinity
of the town, you will take care that a square of three miles (or one thousand
nine hundred and twenty acres) is reserved for its future extensions; and
that the land within this space is not granted away (as in ordinary casqs),
but shall be held upon leases from the Crown, for a term not exceeding
twenty-one years. You will, from the commencement of the undertaking,
be observant of the necessity of making out and reserving, for public pur-
poses, all those peculiar positions within, or in the vicinity of the projected
town, which, from natural advantages or otherwise, will probably be
essential to the future welfare of the settlement. In laying the foundations
of any such town, care must be taken to proceed upon a regular plan,
leaving all vacant places which will in future times he required for
thoroughfares, and as the sites of churches, cemeteries, and other public
works of utility and general convenience.

“You will cause it to be understood that His Majesty has granted to
you the power of making all necessary locations of land. For yonr guidance
in this respect ample instructions will, at a fnture period, be prepared. In
the meantime I enclose a copy of the instructions of the Governor of New
South Wales on this subject, to which you will adhere as closely as circum-
stances will admit.

“You will bear in mind that in all locations of territory, a due propor-
tion must be reserved for the Crown, as well as for the maintenance of the
clergy, support of establishments for the purposes of religion, and the
education of youth; concerning which objects more particulars will be
transmitted to you hereafter.

I think it necessary also to caution you thus early (as land on the sea
or river side will naturally be the first to be located) that you must be
careful not to grant more than a due proportion of sea or river frontage to
any settler. The great advantages to be derived from an easy water com-
munication will, of course, not escape your consideration, and this advan-
tage should be divided amongst as many settlers as can conveniently
benefit by their position in the vicinity.

“ In regard to the surveys and explorations of the country, which you
may think it right to set on foot, it is perhaps premature to give you any
instructions upon a point when so much must be left to your own discretion
and intelligence as to the nature of the soil and of the country, which you
may obtain on the spot; looking, however, to the future prospects of the
settlement, and the advantages of its local position, 1 should be inclined to
think that it will be expedient to make the country South of Swan River the
scene of your labours, rather than the tract of country North of that stream,
and that you will do well to invite the settlers to locate themselves accord-
ing to this suggestion.

“You will endeavour to settle, with the consent of the parties concerned
a court of arbitration for the decision of such questions of civil rights as
may arise between the early settlers, and -until a more regular form of
administering justice can be organised.
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“You will recommend, by your counsels and example, the habitual
observance of Sunday as a day of rest and public worship, as far as may
be compatible with the circumstances in which you may be placed.

“ With these few and general instructions for your guidance, assisted
by the oral and written communications which have taken place between
vourself and this Department, you will, I trust, be able to surmount the
difficulties to which you may be exposed at the outset, enhanced as they

will be by the want of any regular commission for administering the
Guvernment.

~ “An instrument of that nature, accompanied with all the requisite
instructions, will be transmitted to you as soon as the indispensable form of
proceeding in such cases will allow.”

In 1829, on the 2nd May, Captain Chas. H. Fremantle, of
H.M.S. ““Challenger,” who had been despatched from the Cape of
Good Hope on the 20th March of that year, by Commodore
Schomberg, of the Indian Squadron, for the purpose, anchored
off the mouth of the Swan River, and, hoisting the British flag
on the South head, took formal possession, in the name of His
Majesty King George IV.,of “all that part of New Hotland which
is not included within the territory of New South Wales.”

Exactly one month later, on the 2nd June, the hired transport
“Parmelia,” 443 tons, J. H. Luscombe, commander, arrived in Cock-
burn Sound, having on board Lieutenant-Governor Stirling, his
family, and other intended settlers, numbering in all 69. Six days
later, on the 8th June; her consort, H.M.S. * Sulphur,” arrived with
a detachment (Light Company No. 2) of the 63rd Regiment, con-
sisting of 8 subalterns, 1 staff officer, 2 sergeants, 3 corporals,
1 bugler, and 46 men, under the command of Captain F. C. Irwin.
Having left a party of about half its strength to protect the stores,
settlers, etc., on Garden Island, the remainder of the force, on the
17th June, disembarked, and encamped on the North bank of the
Swan, now Rous Head, relieving the party of seamen and marines
from the ‘“ Challenger,” which had been left to protect the British
flag planted there by Captain Fremantle during the preceding
month  With the landing of the emigrants from the “Parmelia,”
the history of Western Australia, as a British Colony, begins.

The following account of the arrival of the first settlers was
contained in a despatch sent by Captain ' Fremantle to the
Admiralty, from Trincomalee, on the 8th October, 1829 :—

“The ‘Challenger’ arrived and anchored off Garden Island
(late Isle Biiache of the French) on the 25th April, 1829, and on
the 27th proceeded through the passage into Cockburn Sound,
which is most rocky and intricate, in consequence of which she
struck on a sunken rock; but I do not anticipate that she has
received any damage, as she came off immediately, and makes no
water. On the 28th she was secured in the Sound, and possession
was immediately taken of Garden Island; fresh water was found
by digging wells in the sand, and firewood in great abundance, the
island being covered with a small kind of pine, and fit for no other
use.
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“Ths weather being unsettled and boisterous, it was not till the
2nd of May that I could land at the Swan- River, distant 9 miles
from Cockburn Sound. Oa that day formal possession was taken
of the whole of the West coast of New Holland in the name of
His Britannic Majesty, and the Union Jack was hoisted on the
South head of the river.

“On the 6th of May a party of 25 men, under the command of
Lieutenant John Henry, was landed in a little bay close to the
mouth of the river, to the Southward of it, being the only landing
place in that neighbourhood where boats could go to with security,
the bar at the entrance of the river generally being impassable;
the crew of the ¢Challenger’ were employed refitting and
watering the ship.

“On the 1st of June a merchant ship wasreported in the offing,
and on the 2nd she was seen standing into Gage Roads. She
proved to be the ¢ Parmelia,” merchant ship, hired by Government,
having on board Captain Stirling, R.N., appointed Lieutenant-
Governor of the new settlement at Swan River, and other gentle-
men, with their families, holding situations in the Colony. In
running into Cockburn Sound she grounded on the bank between
Pulo Carnac (or Isle Bartollet of the French) and Woodman’s
Point on the Main, and it was not until the next morning, with all
the exertions of this ship’s crew and boats, that she was extricated
from her perilous situation, after she had received much damage ;
she was subsequently brought near the ‘Challenger’ and secured
in Cockburn Sound. His Hxcellency the Lieutenant-Governor
having determined to make his first landing on Garden Island, in
consequence of the commencement of the winter season, the weather
being generally boisterous, rainy, and unsettled, and the communi-
cation with the nainland very uncertain, he requested that I would
render him all the assistance of the ‘ Challenger’s’ crew in clearing
parts of the island, building houses for himself and the rest of the
colonists, and clear the transport as soon as a storehouse could be
erected for the reception of the Government stores. I immediately
employed every means in my power to forward his wishes, and the
‘Challenger’s” crew were employed in any way the Lieutenant-
Governor wished, for the benefit of the Colony.

“On the 8th June His Majesty’s ship ‘ Sulphur’ anchored in
Cockburn Sound, with a detachment of troops on board for Swan
River. On the 17th they were disembarked, and part of them sent
to relieve the marines and seamen of this ship at the mouth of the
River, the weather being so boisterous as to prevent their landing
on the main sooner. By the end of the month, having completed
all the storehouses and landed most of the cargo from the *Par-
melia,” His Majesty’s ship was prepared for sea to join the Com-
mander-in-Chief in India, In compliance with orders received by His
Majesty’s ship ¢ Sulphur’ to that effect, when I received an
application from the master of the < Parmelia, as also a requisition
from the Lieutenant-Governor, to heave down and make good the
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defects of that ship, as she had received much damage and could
not pursue her voyage, and if this ship was to leave the anchorage
without rendering her the assistance required, the °Parmelia’
would be abandoned. I therefore considered it my duty, after
ordering a survey to be held on her, to detain His Majesty’s ship
in Cockburn Sound, and to put her in a state to pursue her voyage,
an account of which has been delivered to Rear-Admiral Sir
Edward Owen; and it was not till the 28th of August that
the ‘Challenger’ was enabled to leave Swan River. On leaving the
Colony I have to state that two ships have arrived from England
with settlers, and one from the Cape of Good Hope with cattle ; many
others were expected. The Lieutenant-Governor had fixed on a site
for a town about 12 miles up the Swan River, on the right bank, just
below the islands, where he intended removing to immediately
with the whole of the party landed on Garden Island. The. town is
to be called Perth; there is also another town to be built at the
mouth of the river for the convenience of the shipping in Gage
Roads, near the spot where the party from the ship first established
themselves. The number of settlers arrived from England, in-
cluding women and children, were about 150, making the whole
party now at Swan River amount to nearly 300 persons; they had
upwards of a twelvemonth’s provisions, and were perfectly healthy.
The soil of the sea coast was generally sandy, but on arriving at the
fresh water in the Swan and Canning rivers, the banks were rich,
and the soil capable of producing anything.

“T cannot conclude without making some remarks on the
anchorage in Cockburn Sound, which we had a good opportunity of
trying, having remained there for the three winter months in the
greatest security, and I consider it to be a safe and good harbour,
capable of containing any number of ships; unfortunately the pas-
sage in is intricate, and requires to be well buoyed; at present it
cannot be approached without the greatest caution, and ought not
to be attempted except in the finest weather.

‘“ Gage Roads is open to four points, which makes it at present
a doubtful anchorage during the winter months; but for nine months
ships may ride there with safety, and the approach is perfectly easy,
as there are no dangers to the Northward of Rottnest Island to the
mouth of the Swan River.”
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2.—COLONISATION AND EARLY SETTLEMENT.

In order to induce persons to proceed to the contemplated
Settlement on the Swan River, the Home Government, whilst
refusing to incur any expense of passages, maintenance on arrival,
or subsequent removal from the Colony, if found necessary,
promised that all persons arriving before the end of the year 1830
should receive grants of land free of quit rent in proportion to the
capital introduced by them, to be invested in the improvement of
the lands, at the rate of 40 acres for every sum of £3 invested, or
1s. 6d. per acre; choice to be made in the order of arrival.
Invested capital was to comprise :—

(1.) Stock of every description.

(2.) All implements of husbandry and other articles applic-
able to the purposes of the productive industry, or
necessary for the establishment of the settler on the
land where he is to be located.

(3.) The amount of any half-pay or pension received from
Government.

Persons who imported labour were also entitled, for the passage
of every labouring person imported (amongst whom were included
women and children above 10 years of age), to land to the value of
£15, that is, to 200 acres, the importers being, however, liable, if
necessary, for the future maintenance of the labourers so introduced.

Selection Licenses were granted to settlers on proof of value of
property imported, but the fee simple could not be obtained until
proof was given that the sum of 1s. 6d. per acre had been expended
in the cultivation of the land, or in other solid improvements.

All land granted was to be within three years cultivated, or
otherwise. improved, or reclaimed from its wild state, to a fair
proportion of at least one-fourth, or the owners would be liable to
the payment of 6d. per acre into the public chest; and should the
land, at the end of seven years, still remain in an unimproved state,
it was then to revert absolutely to the Crown.

After the year 1830 fresh conditions were to be made as to the
disposal of land.

An agreement was also given that no conviets or prisoners
were to be transported to the new Settlement, as was then being
done to New South Wales and Van Diemen’s Land.

The tempting offer made by the Home (rovernment of grants
of land, large and small, in proportion to the amount of property
introduced, attracted many holders of capital, the consequence
being that extensive tracts of the best land were granted to purely
speculative persons.

The first vessels to sail for the Swan River Settlement were
H.M.S. “Sulphur,” having on board a detachment of the 63rd



20

regiment of Light Infantry, and the hired transport ¢ Parmelia,”
which carried the emigrants and the principal part of their
ys. Leaving England on the 13th or 14th of February,
they arrived in the Colony on the 8th and 2nd June, 1829,
respectively.

belongings.

The following is a List of the Passengers who embarked on board
the “ Parmelia.”

| |
Names, | Designations. ; C‘}lfﬁ{‘lg; ‘ ’ Names, Designations. Cﬁ;}fﬂ gl[l

Capt. Stirling, R.N. | Lt. Govr. | Mr. Jas. Drummond ' Agriculturist
Mrs. Ellen Stirling. . | Mrs Sarah Drum-
Andrew Stirling | 3 years mond
‘Wm, Stirling his Nephew 1 Thomas Drummoud 18 years
Geo. Mangles Jane Drummond .. 16 years
Geo. Eliot 11 years James Drummond ... | 15 years
Thos. Blakey | John Drummond .. 113 years
Sarah Blakey | Johnson Drummond 9 years
John Kelly . | Euphemia Drum-
Elizabeth Kelly mond R 3 years
James Morgan i 11 years Elizabeth Gamble
Mr. P. Brown ... | Col. Secretm-y Mr. Chas. Simmons | Surgeon
Mrs, Caroline Brown Mr. Tully Daly * Asst. Surgeon
MacBride Brown | 2 years Mrs. Jane Daly .
Ann Brown ... ' 6 months Jessie Jane Daly . 8 years
Richard Evans Joseph T. Daly 6 years
Margaret McLeod | Hy. Jno. Daly 4 years
Mary Ann Smith .. | Edwd. N. Daly 2 years
Mr. James Morgan | Storekeeper ' Eliza Rose Daly 2 months
Mrs. Rebecea Morgan Jas. Elliott . |
Rebecca Morgan ! 12 years Alex. Fandam i Cooper |
Ann Shipsey .. , Mary Fandam
Patrick Murphy | | Wm. Hoking ¢ Artificer
Commander M. J. | ! Mary Hoking

Currie, R,N. ... |Harbour Master| | Jno. Hoking . 14 years
Mrs. Jane Currie ... . William Hoking 12 years
Frederick Ludlow ... Mary Hoking 10 years
Mildred Kitts Lud- Thos. Hoking 8 years

low .. David Hoking | 6 years
Jane Fruin .. ; Chas. Hoking ig years
Mr. Jno. S. Roe ... Surveyor Thos. Davis .. Smith
Mrs. Matilda Roe .. | Catherine Davis
Chas. D, Wright ... | Jno. Davis ... 3 years
Mr. Hy. C. Suther- ! Charlotte Davis Lt 2 years

land ... ... | Asst. Surveyor ‘ John Davis ... his Nephew ... | 18 years
Mrs. Ann Sutherland James C. Smith Boatbuilder
Mr. W, Shilton Clerk to Col. Sarah Smith ... |

Secretary '
* Drowned in Table Bay (Cape of Good Hope) on 25th April, 1829,
Closely following the “ Sulphur” and “ Parmelia,” a number

of vessels arrived, rapidly adding to the little band of settlers and
introducing the live stock necessary for colonisation.

For a list of these vessels, vide Year Book 1892-3, page 12,
and two subsequent editions.

Up to the 3lst December, 1830, there had arrived in the
Colony as nearly as can be reckoned, without counting the detach-
ment of troops and their families in the ‘Sulphur,” ‘ Norfolk,”
with stock as
follows :—horses 101, cattle 583, sheep 7,981, pigs 66, goats 36,
and a variety of poultry, including turkeys, ducks, geese, fowls, and
pigeons, and also a few dogs.

and

“ James

Paterson,”

about 1,767 persons,
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The value of the property introduced upon which land was
claimed between the 1st of September, 1829, and' 30th June, 1830,
amounted to £73,260 8s. 31d., equal, at 1s. 6d. per acre, to 976,805
acres of freehold land, Whllst miscellaneous property 1napphcable
to the improvement of land had been imported to the value of
£21,021 2s. 7d., making a total value of £94,281 10s. 104d.

To show how rapidly and prodigally all the best land was
taken up, a late arrival wrote, on the 12th November, 1830, just
five months after the first settlement of the Colony :—* The only
land available for present purposes is on and near the banks of the
rivers (viz., the Swan and é)annmg) All this 1s now allotted
on both sides of each river, almost to their source”; and, writing
again on the 8th December, in the same year, he said ““All the
lands up the Swan and Cannlng have been long since granted,
but some of the grantees have left the Colony, and their lands
may be resumed by the Government if not occupied at the expira-
tion of the year.”

There being no made roads, and the bush tracks consisting
solely of dry, heavy sand, water carriage was the one means of
transport for produce, and the only way to obtain land, in an acces-
sible position, suitable for falmmo purposes, was for the recent
arrival to take over a portion of a TDlock already granted, guaran-
teeing to the owner to perform sufficient location duties on the
part taken to secure the whole grant, when the remainder of the
property in all probability was left permanently unimproved.

Many of the early arrivals were persons totally unqualified for
a settler’s life, especially as the pioneers of a new settlement.

Arriving also as they did during the most inclement season of
the year, exposed to the elements, and utterly unaccustomed to en-
counter the hardships and privations incident to their new life,
in most cases totally ignorant of agriculture, and unused to
poverty and isolation, there is little wonder-that the first reports
which reached their friends in England were of a gloomy and dis-
couraging description.

Numerous persons, indeed, left the Colouy in disgust, but
retained possession of the immense tracts of land granted to them ;
so that those who arrived afterwards were unable to obtain land
in favourable localities, and the population was in this way thinly
scattered over a wide area, the best of the land being unprofitably
locked up.

Gradually, also, it was discovered that the expectations enter-
tained as to the fertility of the soil had been far too sanguine; food
became scarce, and pastoral and agricultural operations languished
from want of capital to stock and till the lands. Sheep and cattle
went blind or dropped dead in a wmysterious way, from eating
the (at that time unknown) poison plant, and ai last it became
apparent that the infant settlement could only with great difficulty
support itself independently of extraneous aid. On the top of all
this came serious troubles with the natives—life was threatened.
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houses were robbed, crops rooted up, and stock speared; and the
abandonment of the Colony was at one time seriously contemplated.

But the settlers as a body struggled manfully on, maintaining
(to quote Governor Stirling’s despateh to Sir George Murray, G.C.B.,
the then Secretary of State for the Colonies) “a cheerful confidence
in the qualities of the country and a general belief in its future
prosperity.” For a time the Colony continued to progress steadily,
if slowly. Its development was once more, however, retarded
by the discovery of the marvellous goldfields of Victoria, and
again it seemed probable that it would be entirely deserted.
Happily, however, the goldfields of the Eastern Colonies have
now ceased to possess the extraordinary fascination they formerly
did; and Western Australia, with magnificent goldfields of her
own, and numerous other undeveloped resources. offers at the
present time to the capitalist, be he large or small. and the
industrious and thrifty immigrant, a far better chance of success
than those countries where competition is more keen and oppor-
tunities are more rare; it being a country where every diligent
settler may secure an independence and possess at least the sub-
lsi;antial comforts, if not at present all the more refined luxuries, of

e. :

3—HISTORICAL EVENTS.

1825.

25th December.—Major Lockyer, with a detachment of the
39th Regiment, and a party of convicts, numbering all told about
75, landed at King George I1I. Sound, to found the settlement
which subsequently became the town of Albany.

1829.

6th February.—The transport “ Parmelia,” having on board
Lieutenant-Governor Stirling and family and intending settlers,
numbering in all 69 persons, sailed from Spithead, bound for
Western Australia.

9th February.—She was joined at Plymouth by H.M.S.
“ Sulphur,” with a detachment of 57 officers and men of the 63rd
Regiment on board, under the command of Captain F. C. Trwin.

25th April—Dr. Daly and his eldest daughter, passengers in
the ““ Parmelia,” were drowned, through the capsizing of a boat at
the Cape of Good Hope. On the same date Capt. C. H. Fremantle,
of H.M.S. « Challenger,” anchored off Garden Island. He landed
at South Head, near the mouth of the Swan River, on 2nd May,
and took formal possession in the name of His Majesty King
George IV.
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2nd June.—The * Parmelia,” which had been sighted from
H.M.S. «“ Challenger ” on the previous day, in running into Cock-
burn Sound, grounded on what is now called Parmelia Bank, off
Carnac Island, and was not got off until the next morning. The
Governor and settlers first landed and encamped on Garden Island.

8th June.—H.M.S. ¢ Sulphur”’ anchored in Cockburn Sound,
and on the 17th the troops were disembarked.

18th June. —Lieutenant-Governor Stirling issued his first pro-
clamation, establishing His Majesty’s-authority over the settlement.

12th August.— First stone of the town of Perth publicly laid.

28th August.—The land regulations of the new colony were
first proclaimed.

5th September.—F. C. Irwin, J. B. Wittenoom, M. Hodges,
G. Leake, and P. P. Smith were assigned allotments within the
townsite of Perth; and W. Lamb, J. Hobbs, L. Samson, and T.
Bannister were the same day assigned allotments in Fremantle.

29th September.—The first grants for agricultural areas were
issued by the Crown Land Department, covering 69,771 acres of
land, principally on the Swan River.

17th November.—The first exploring expedition set out from
Perth, under the command of Lieut. Preston, accompanied by Mr.
Collie.*

25th December.—First white child born in Western Australia
(daughter of Lieut. J. S. Roe, Surveyor General, now Mrs. S. P.
Phillips).

Between 2nd June and 3lst December 18 vessels arrived
at the Port of Fremantle. _First shipment of sheep was brought to
the Colony in the “ Caroline,” by Mr. T. Henty. Most of these
sheep were re-shipped to Tasmania in 1831.

1830.

January.—The ‘“Parmelia” returned to Fremantle from the
Dutch East Indies with a cargo of grain, cattle, and pigs.

February.—The “Parmelia” sailed for England.

6th March.-—-Military station established at Leschenault.

26th April—First land taken up in the vicinity of King
George Sound. )

May.—The immigrant ship ‘“Rockingham” wrecked near
Rockingham. One life lost.

11th May.—The townsite of Augusta laid out.

Severe stormsin May and June. The Swan overflowed its banks,
doing considerable damage.

1st November.—The first Executive Council appointed.

November.—First trouble with the aborigines. While at-
tempting to commit a robbery, one black was killed and three

*For particulars of this and later expeditions, see chapter on ‘‘Exploration in
‘Western Australia.”
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wounded. A short time after, in retaliation, they murdered a man
named McKenzie, at the Murray.

Thirty-nine vesseis arrived at Fremantle during the year.

1831.

January.—Governor appointed Executive and Legislative
Council, consisting of His Excellency the Governor, Captain Irwin,
Mr. P. Brown, Lieut. J. S. Roe, and Mr. G. F. Moore.

28th May.—An Agricultural Society organised in Perth.

5th September.—The first body of settlers, under Ensign Dale,
crossed the Darling Range and explored the country in the vicinity
of the present town of York.

A monthly service of boats established between Guildford and
Fremantle.

The first newspaper, the Fremantle Observer, issued this
vear.

Twenty-seven vessels arrived from foreign parts during the year.

One hundred and sixty acres of wheat were reaped this year,

and there were 200 acres under cultivation in the Colony, the
. labour being mostly done by hand.

1832.
January.—The first sitting of the Legislative Council of the
Colony.

10th February.-—The Civil Court of the Colony established. Mr.
G. F. Moore appointed Commissioner.

Thirteen vessels arrived at Fremantle from foreign parts this
year.

The first vineyard established in the Colony by Mr. McFaull
at Hamilton Hill, near Fremantle. The vines were obtained from
the Cape.

1833.

‘5th January.—The Perth Gazette and Western Australion
Journal first issued.

2nd October.—First horse race in the Colony, held on the
South beach near Fremantle.

Twenty-one vessels arrived at Fremantle from foreign parts
this year, bringing 73 passengers.
The townsites of Northam and Toodyay surveyed.

1834.

28th October.—The natives of the Murray District having been
very troublesome for some time, a punitive expedition started on
the 27th October, under Sir James Stirling, numbering in all 25
men, settlers, mounted police, and soldiers. On the 28th, near
Pinjarra, an encounter took place, in which Capt. Ellis was fatally,



25

and one of the troopers slightly wounded, while at least 30 of the
blacks were killed.

6th November.—Cattle show held at Perth, under the auspices
of the Agricultural Society.

The Legislative Council passed an Act establishing a postal
department,

First shipment of wool—7,5851bs.—to England.
1835.
January.—Mr. C. McFaull appointed first postmaster at
Perth, and M. J. Bateman at Fremantle.
Owing to the scarcity of a circulating medium, the Government
decided to issue one-pound notes from the Commissariat Office.
July.—The first town allotments in York sold to Messrs.
Bland and Trimmer. ‘
This year is notable for an assessment of the value of land and
the improvements in the Colony, with the number of live stock.
The amount represented nearly a quarter of a million sterling.
About 1,800 acres of land were under crop, and fifty bales of wool
were sent to London.
1836.
May.— The first sea-going craft built in the Colony, «“ The Lady
Stirling,” was launched at Fremantle.
First shipment of W.A. timber to England.
A court house erected in Perth, at a cost of £700.
Contracts accepted by the Imperial Commissariat Department

for the delivery at Perth of 1,200 bushels of wheat, at 12s. per
bushel.

1837.

Early in the year the price of allotments in Perth, Fremantle,
and Albany was fixed by the Lands Department at a minimum of
£5 per acre.

Busselton surveyed and first lot sold to Mr. Chapman.

1st June.—The Bank of Western Australia commenced
business. ’

10th June.—The Fremantle Whaling Company began opera-
tions by the capture of a whale in Cockburn Sound.

Natives very troublesome at York, Beverley, and Northam.
They murdered four white men and stole cattle and sheep from
settlers throughout the valley.

In March direct communication between Perth and King
George Sound was opened by road.

1838.

A “temrperance society and “The Sons of Australia” Benefit
Society were established at Perth.—In June the Western Australian
Bank declared its first dividend.
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The Fitzroy and Adelaide Rivers (Kimberley District) dis-
covered by H.M.S. « Beagle.”
. 1839.
2nd January.—Governor Hutt arrived at Fremantle.

1840.
January.—The ship “Shepherd” sailed for London, laden
wholly with colonial produce.
August.—The Inguirer newspaper first issued in Perth.

2nd November.—-The first pile driven of the old Perth
Causeway.

Grammar school opened in Perth.
Foundation-stone of a Wesleyan chapel was laid at Fremantle
by Governor Hutt.
1841.
1st January.-—Foundation-stone of Anglican Church in Perth
laid by Governor Hutt.
February.—The Townsite of Bunbury surveyed.

~ May.—The Bank of Western Australia bought out by the
Bank of Australasia.

23rd June.—The new Western Australian Bank commenced
business in Perth.—A weekly mail between Guildford and York,
and an overland monthly to King George Sound, established.

1842.

1st January.—Wesleyan Church opened in Perth.

21st January.—Foundation-stone of a lighthouse at Rottnest
laid by Mr. H. Trigg, Superintendent of Public Works.

6th April. —Regular mail service between settlements of the
Colony inaugurated.

Foundation-stone of an Anglican church at Fremantle laid by
the Governor.

The “Diadem” arrived at Koombanah Bay, with 170 passengers
for the Australind Settlement.

The Mill Street jetty opened to the public.—A “ Western
Australian Society * established.

1843.

22nd March..—The ¢ Success” arrived, carrying 134 immi-
grants, and having on board Mr. G. F. Moore, Advocate General
of the Colony.

27th March.—Proclamation of “An Act for regulating the
sale of waste land belonging to the Crown.”

May.—The Perth « Causeway ” completed.
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1844.
June.—First shipment to India of horses bred in the Colony.

1845.

. 22nd January.—St. George’s Church (Perth) opened for
public worship.

December.—The first steam vessel, H.M.S. “ Driver,” visited
Fremantle.

First shipment of sandalwood from the Colony.

1846.
July.—Reported discovery of coal at the Murray River.

September.—The first mining company organised in the
Colony, viz.:—“The Western Australian Mining Company,” to
prospect for coal.—The New Norcia Mission established.

First Congregational Church opened in Perth.
1847.

July and August.—Heavy rains and floods, causing great
damage to gardens and growing grain on the Swan, Avon, and
other rivers in the South-Western Districts.

September.—Regulations for the leasing of Crown lands issued.
First export of guano from the Abrolhos.

1848.

September to November.—Copper and lead discovered in the
Champion Bay District by the Messrs. Gregory.

December.—Governor Fitzgerald speared and wounded by
blacks at Northampton.

1849.

Natives employed as letter carriers through the country
districts.

Efforts were made to remove the bar at the mouth of the
Swan River.

1850.

Ist June.—The “Scindian’ arrived at Fremantle from England
with convicts ; a guard of 50 pensionersand 138 women and children
on board.

June —First town lots sold at Geraldton.—Minimum price of
Perth city lots fixed by the Lands Department at £22 each in
St. George’s Terrace, Adelaide Terrace, and Waterside; £17 in
Hay Street; back streets, £12.

Lieut. Helpman, while exploring on the Saturday Island Shoal,
in Shark Bay, found pearl oysters, from which he obtained several
fine pearis.
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1851.

January.—A report on the existence of pearl oysters in Shark
Bay, by Lieut. Helpman, of H.M.C. schoouer “ Champion,” pub-
lished in the Perth newspapers.—Formation of the Swan River
Mechanics’ Institute in Perth.

1st February. —The “ Champion ” returned from her cruise in
Shark Bay and Champion Bay.

13th March.—Proclamation in W.A. of Imperial Act empower-
ing the Colony to establish a Legislative Counecil.

15th August.—A Mechanics’ Institute founded at Fremantle.
October.—Discovery of copper on the Geraldine mine.

1852.

25th May.—The foundation-stone of the Swan River Mechanics’
Institute laid by Governor Fitzgerald.

July.—The Royal Mail S.N.Company’s s.s. ““ Australian” landed
the first mail at Albany. Tt took two horses six and a-half days
to carry the mail to Perth. ’

August.—The “ Chusan,” the first P. & O. steamer to visit
Australian waters, arrived from Singapore.

Smelting furnace erected at the Geraldine Mine.

Colonial wine exported for the first time this year.

1853.
11th May.—Chamber of Commerce organised in Perth.
Fifty-five tons of pig-lead exported by the Geraldine Mining
Company.
1854.
The first postage stamps issued—the black penny stamp.

1855.
March.—The steamer *“ Les Trois Amis” commenced running
on the Swan, from Fremantle to Perth.
22nd June.—Post Office Savings Bank opened.
Giand juries abolished.

1856.
July.—The first Anglican Bishop of Perth, Matthew Blagden
Hale, M.A., arrived in the Colony.

October.—Contract entered into between the Home Grovernment
and the P. & O. Company for direct service with the Australasian
colonies, calling at Albany,

Perth constituted a city.
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1857.

Insclvency Act came into force.

January.—Ths * Pioneer,” a steamer built of local timber,
commenced to make trips to Guildford.

February. —The steamer “ Lady Stirling” launched at Fre-
mantle.
1858.
28th June. —The Bishop’s School opened in Perth.

1859,
17th March. —TFoundation-stone of Government House laid.

Imperial Government memorialised to assist in the construc-
tion of a railway from Champion Bay to the lead and copper
mines at Northampton.

1860.

24th May.—Formation of a Western Australian Association in
Perth

August.—Townsite of Newcastle marked out.—Completion of a
Museum connected with the Swan River Mechanics’” Institute.

1861.

Ordinance passed by the Legislative Council for the organisa-
tion of a Volunteer Defence Force.

1862.

February.—Money order office opened in connection with the
Post Office Department.

June and July.—Great floods in various parts of the Colony.
The Mount’s Bay Road was 2ft. under water, the low lands
and gardens along the Swan were submerged, and the jetties
completely covered with water. At York, buildings were carried
away. At Toodyay, Northam, Bunbury, Geraldton, and Fremantle
the floods did an immense amount of damage. The loss to
public and private property estimated at £30,000. Several lives
were lost, among them Lieut. Oliver, while attempting to cross the
bridge at the Perth Causeway.

A small consignment of cotton, grown in the Victoria District.
sent to England.

Pearl shells exported to the value of £250.
First export of flour from the Colony.

1863.

April and May.—First settlement of the North-West District
by Messrs. Padbury, Wellard, Withnell, and others.

September.—Post Office Savings Benk established.



30

17th October.—The Perth Benefit Building Investment and
Loan Society organised.

The Roman Catholic Cathedral in Perth completed.

1864.
Perth divided into three wards for municipal purposes.

23rd July.—The Roebuck Bay Pastoral and Agricultural Asso-
ciation, Limited, formed.

August.—The first shipment of wool from the Nor’-West
(seven bales) arrived at Fremantle.

September.—Trinity Congregational Church opened for public
worship.

9th November.—Messrs. Panton, Harding, and Goldwyer,
who were among the first to sail for Roebuck Bay, while exploring
the country towards La Grange Bay, were killed by the aborigines.
The bodies were subsequently found by a party under the leadership
of Mr. Maitland Brown, who, while returning to the coast,
were attacked by a large body of natives. On the 17th May, 1865,
the bodies were accorded a public funeral; the grave, in the old
cemetery in East Perth, being marked by an imposing obelisk
bearing a suitable inscription.

Towards the end of the year vessels sent out by the Camden
Harbour Pastoral Association, organised in Melbourne, under the
leadership of Mr. C. E. Broadhurst, left Victoria with settlers and
stock for the newly-discovered pasture lands in the vicinity of Roe-
buck Bay and other localities on the Northern coast of the Colony,

1865. ,
2nd May.—The “ Warrior” called at Fremantle from Melbourne
with settlers and stock for the Denison Plains Association.

Diphtheria makes its first appearance in the Colony.

1866.
The town of Roebourne proclaimed. Mr. R. J. Sholl appointed
Government Resident.

At the end of the year 49 runs were held under lease, with an
aggregate of 4,720,000 acres.

1867.

8rd March.—The schooner ‘“ Emma” left Nickol Bay for
Fremantle, with 42 persons on board, and was never heard of after
leaving port.

19th March.—The cutter * Brothers” foundered and was lost,
with six persons on board. The “ Lass of Geraldton,” bound from
Fremantle 1o Bunbury, capsized in a squall, and seven lives were
lost, Mr. G. Shenton being one of the number.

24th May.—--Corner-stone of Perth Town Hall laid by Governor
Hampton.
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24th October.—Foundation-stone of the new Perth Wesleyan
Church laid by Governor Hampton.

1868.

10th January.—The  Hougomont ”—the last convict ship—
arrived at Fremantle.

February.—The wheat crop in the Vietoria District—13,895
acres—owing to the rust, proved an almost total failure.

+  June—Captamn J. Harding, harbour master at Fremantle,

and four of his erew were drowned by the capsizing of his boat.

13,000 bushels of wheat and 1,163 tons of flour exported this
year.

1869.

1st January.—A waterspout formed in the river opposite
Government House, doing much damage to the gardens on the
banks.

3rd February. —H.M.S. < Galatea,” having on board H.R.H.
the Duke of Edinburgh, arrived at Fremantle.

9th February.— The first telegraph post fixed oppos1te the
General Post Office, Perth, by the Colonial Secretary, Mr.
F. P. Barlee.

21st June.—The first telegraph line in the Colony, from Perth
to Fremantle, formally opened. The work was done by private
enterprise. Ultimately the line was acquired by the Government.

1870.
8th April. —The new Wesleyan Church, Perth, opened for Divine
service.
30th May.—The Perth Town Hall formally opened.

May. —The Legislative Council authorised the construction of
telegraph lines from Perth to Albany, Bunbury, York, and New-
castle.—Severe drought in the Northern and Eastern districts;
great losses of sheep, cattle, and horses.

5th December.—The first Legislative Council under Repre-
sentative Government met.
25th December. —Hurricane in Nickol Bay; three pearling
boats driven ashore and two lives lost.
1871.
January.—The Municipal Institutions Act passed, giving local
government to Perth, Fremantle, and other towns.

The first posts of the Eastern District telegraph line placed by
Governor Weld at Perth on the 13th of February, at York on the
14th of March, and at Northam on the 18th of March.

August.—The Weld Club founded.

28rd December.—Telegraphic communication opened with
Guildford. —The Western Australian Timber Company opened the
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first railway line in the Colony, from the Vasse to Lockeville (12
miles in length). —The first Loan Bill, £100,000, was passed by the
Legislative Council, for the purchase of telegraph lines, railway
surveys, and other public works, but the amount was reduced by the
Colonial Secretary, Earl Kimberley, to £35,000.

December.—Engineers were engaged to survey a railway line
from Geraldton to Northampton.-—Elementary Education Act
passed.

1872,

3rd January.—Telegraph line opened for business at New-
castle.

8th February.—The Canning private tramway—nine miles in
length—opened.

February.—Victoria District visited by a hurricane, rains and
floods, doing great damage; carrying away houses, fences, destroy-
ing crops, ete., to the extent of thousands of pounds sterling.

10th March. —Arrival in Perth of Anthony Trollope, the cele-
brated novelist.

20th March.—Cyclone at Roebourne. Within half-an-hour all
the buildings in the town levelled to the ground. Many persons
injured. At the Nickol River about 5,000 sheep were lost in the
flood and many buildings were blown down. Several pearling boats
driven ashore; one, the “Nellie,” with two men on board, dis-
appeared.

June and July.—Continuous rain for the period of six weeks
throughout the Avon and Swan Valleys. On the 22nd July the
Swan rose even higher than during the flood of 1862. Great injury
done to bridges, jetties, gardens, etc., along the Avon and ‘Swan
Rivers. At Gingin an old settler was drowned.

26th December.—The telegraph line opened at Albany.

1878.
September. —Very heavy gale at Fremantle.

1874.

January.—The membership of the Legislative Council in-
creased from 18 to 21; seven nominated by the Governor.

13th May.—Telegraph line opened to Geraldton, vid Newcastle.

The question of Responsible Government was agitated and
brought before the Legislative Council, but the Home Government
interposing “ prudent delays,” the subject dropped.

22nd October.—First sod turned of the Geraldton Northamp-
ton railway by Governor Weld.
1875.

1st January.—The first telegraph post of the Eucla line erected
at Albany by Governor Weld.
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July.—A Bill passed the Legislative Council inaugurating the
“Torrens’ ” system of land transfers.

1876.

1st January.—Violent gale at Exmouth Gulf; a number of
pearling vessels wrecked and 69 lives lost.

18th April.—Six Fenian prisoners escaped from the Fremantle
prison, and were picked up off Rockingham by the American whaler
“ Catalpa.”

1877.
February.—Six vessels loading guano at the Lacepede Islands
wrecked in a hurricane; six lives lost.
7th December.—Telegraph line opened to Beverley.
8th December.—Eucla telegraph line completed.

9th December.—Telegraph communication opened with South
Adustralia.

1878.
5th April.—Telegraph line opened at Northampton.

1879.

3rd June.—The 50th anniversary of the foundation of the
Colony celebrated in Perth and other principal towns of Western
Australia. First sod of the Eastern Railway turned by
Governor Sir Harry Ord, at a spot adjacent to the William Street
crossing.

26th July.—The Geraldton-Northampton Railway opened for
traffic.

26th November—Mr. Alex. Forrest and exploring party
returned to Perth from an expedition in the Kimberley District.

1880.

2nd November.—The foundation-stone of the new St. George’s
Cathedral laid by Governor Sir Wm. Robinson.

Mr. S. H. Parker clected the first Mayor of Perth, wice Mr.
. Shenton, the last chairman of the Perth Council.

1881.

January.—Another ecyclone on the coast, near Roebourne,
wrecked a number of pearling vessels, and several lives were
lost. A cyclone on the Ashburton wrecked buildings and
fences, destroying over 1,000 sheep. A tidal wave which accom-
panied the cyclone swept completely over the Twin Islets, situated
oft the coast near Direction Island.

1st March.—The Fremantle-Guildford Railway (the first
section of the Eastern line) formally opened by Governor Robinson.

1st April.—First mail train on the Eastern line.
B
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16th May.—Arrival of their Royal Highnesses, Prince Albert
Victor and Prince George of Wales, in Albany, in H.M.S.
“ Bacchante,” which put in after suffering a very stormy passage
round Cape Leeuwin. The vessel left on June 10. Their Royal
Highnesses were hospitably and pleasantly entertained at Albany,
but were unable to visit Perth.

December. — Contract let for the construction of the
second section of the Eastern Railway, from Guildford to Chidlow’s
Well.

1882.

The membership of the Legislative Council increased from 21
to 24.

The Kimberley District first settled by pastoralists.

March.—DMr. A. McRae found a nugget of gold weighing 14dwts.
while riding from Roebourne to Cossack.

April.-—A hurricane at Cossack and Roebourne destroyed many
buildings. Hundreds of sheep were drowned on the stations by the
floods which followed.

1883.
September.—The Legislative Council voted £2,000 towards
the erection of Fremantle Town Hall.
Fremantle elected its first Mayor.

Between the months of November, 1883, and March, 1884, a
very serious epidemical outbreak of measles took place, 95 deaths
(48 males and 47 females) occurring from this cause.

1884,
11th March.—The Eastern Railway opened to Chidlow’s Well.

22nd October.—Contract let for construction of the York
section of the BEastern Railway.

25th October.—Contract for the construction of the Albany-
Beverley Railway, on the land-grant system, let to Mr.
Anthony Hordern, of Sydney.

1885.

21st April.—Contract let for conmstruction of railway from
York to Beverley.

29th June.—Eastern Railway formally opened to York.

5th August.—First service held in the (new) St. George’s
Cathedral.

First gold found by prospectors on the Margaret and Ord
Rivers, in the Kimberley district, by Hall, Slattery, and party.

1st October.—Telegraph line from Geraldton to Roebourne
opened.

17th November.—Telegraph line from Roebourne to Cossack
opened.
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1886.

February —First meeting of Federal Council at Hobart.
Contract signed for construction of the Midland Railway from
Midland Junction to Walkaway. The first sod of the Geraldton-
Greenough Railway turned by Governor Broorme.

20th May.—Kimberley Goldfield proclaimed.

5th August.—Railway formally opened between York and
Beverley by Governor Broome.

13th October.—The Northam Railway opened for traffic.

20th October.—First sod on the Albany-Beverley Railway
turned.

First Goldfields Act passed.

1887.

22nd April.—A cyclone off the Ninety-mile Beach—about 180
miles from Cossack—destroyed nearly the entire pearling fleet,
with a loss of over 200 lives.

21st June.—The 50th anniversary of the Queen’s reign cele-
brated in Perth and the other principal towns of Western
Australia. The Geraldton-Greenough Railway opened.

22nd June.—The Fremantle Town Hall opened.

30th November.—Cossack and Roebourne declared munici-
palities.

1st December.—The Telephone Exchange system inaugurated
at Perth.

Gold quartz found by Mr. H. Anstey, at Eenuin, in the Yilgarn
District, and in Golden Valley, in the same district, by Mr. Colreavy.
—Southern Cross gold reefs discovered by Mr. Tom Riseley, while
prospecting for the Pheenix Company.

1888.

1st January.—A telephone branch opened at Fremantle.

3rd January.—The Clackline-Newcastle Railway opened.—
The Roebourne—Cossack Tramway built.

i“ebmary.—ﬁ‘lood in the Greenough District. Several lives

lost sheep and cattle swept away, houses and a portion of the
telegraph and railway line destroyed.
1889.

February.—Telegraph cable from Banjoewangie, Java, to
Broome opened for business.

26th February.-—Constitution Bill, in connection with Re-
sponsible Government, passed the Legislative Council.

May.—Perth Water Supply Works commenced.

1st June.—The Albany-Beverley Railway opened for traffic.

The telegraph line to Derby opened.



36

1890.
February.—Federation Conference met at Melbourne,
July.—The Enabling Bill, empowering the Queen to give
assent to the Constitution Bill passed by the Legislative Council
of Western Australia, passed the third reading in the House of
Commons.

15th August.—Royal assent given to the constitution of the
Colony of Western Australia.

20th October.—Sir William Robinson—for the third time
Governor of the Colony—-arrived in Perth.

21st October.—The New Constitution proclaimed by Sir
William Robinson.

October.—Perth Waterworks completed by the Perth Water
Supply Company.

November.—Members of the Legislative Assembly, the first
ander Responsible Government, elected.

18th November.—The Albany-Denmark Railway completed.

24th December.—The Governor, Sir William Robinson,
wminated the members of the Legislative Council under the new
constitution, and called upon Mr. J, Forrest to form the first
Ministry of Western Australia.

29th December.—The Forrest Government assumed office.
30th December.—The two Houses of Parliament sworn in. Sir
T. Cockburn Campbell, Bart., appointed President of the Legislative
Council, and Sir J. G. Lee Steere elected Speaker of the Legislative
Assembly.
1891.

20th January.—First Parliament under Responsible Govern-
ment opened by Governor Sir William Robinson.

February.—Thé Bunbury Railway Bill passed.

2nd March.—The first Federal Convention met at Sydney.

9th April. —The Midland Railway declared open as far as
Gringin.

Murchison Goldfield discovered by Connolly and Douglass.

1892.

February.—Telegraph line opened to Southern Cross.—
Sir Malcolm Fraser appointed Agent General.

March.—Mr. A. P. Hensman appointed a Judge—The Yilgarn
Railway Bill passed.

August.—Rich discovery of gold made by Messrs. Bayley and
Ford on the spot where the town of Coolgardie now stands.

7th September.—Contract: let for the construction of the
railway to Southern Cross. . .. > ‘ . :
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September.—Owing to the death of Sir T Cockburn Campbell,
Mr. G. Shenton appomted President of the Legislative Council.
—Mineral Lands Act passed.

16th November.—Operations commenced on the Fremantle
Harbour Works, Lady Robinson tipping the first load.

1893.

January.—Telegraph line opened to andham 2,125 miles
from Perth.

19th March. — Contract let for the construction of the
Geraldton-Mullewa Railway.

April and May.—An outbreak of small-pox took place, 46 cases
(31 males and 15 females) occurring in Perth. Seven deaths
occurred (5 males, and 2 females). One case also occurred at.
Albany, and one fatal case at Fremantle.

8th September.—Railway from Perth to Bunbury formally
opened by Governor Sir William Robinson.

13th October.—Constitution Act Amendment Act assented to.

16th November.—The railway from Boyanup to Minninup
opened.

Federation Council met at Hobart.
The Homesteads Act passed.

By Act of Parliament, educational affairs placed under the
control of a responsible Minister of the Government.

1894,

10th March.—Arrival at Albany of Sir Henry Parkes,
&.C.M.G,, on a visit to Western Australia. He left again on the
30tk March.

25th March.—New Railway Station at Perth completed.

Second parliamentary elections held: Legislative Assembly in\.
June, Legislative Council in July.

1st July.-—The Southern Cross Railway opened for traffic.
21st November.—The Geraldton-Mullewa Railway completed.

November.—The Midland Railway completed. Telegraph line
completed to Cue and Nannine.

Telegraphic communication opened between Southern Cross,
Coolgardie, and Kalgoorlie.

Agricultural Bank Act passed.

. 1895.
January. —Fedsration Conference met at Hobart.

18th June.—Contract let for the construction of the rail-
way from Southern Cross to Coolgardie.



38

November.—The Goldfields Act passed.—Act passed author-
ising the construction of a Royal Mint.

December.—Act passed abolishing State aid to denominational
schools.

26th December.—Railway from Boyanup to Busselton opened
for traffic.

31st December.—Contract let for the construction of the
railway from Mullewa to Cue.

1896.

23rd March.—Railway to Coolgardie formally opened by
Governor Sir Gerard Smith.

March.—A Western Australian Society of Arts formed.

1st July.—Mahogany Creek deviation on the Eastern Railway
opened.

8th September.—Railway from Coolgardie to Kalgoorlie opened.

23rd September.—Foundation-stone of the Perth Branch of the
Royal Mint laid by Sir John Forrest.

Beptember.—An Act passed authorising the construction of
the Mundaring Weir and other works for supplying Coolgardie with
water.—Contract for the construction of the Collie Railway let.
—Telegraphic communication opened with Kurnalpi, Mt. Magnet,
Yalgoo, Dundas, Mallina, and Pilbara.

8th October.—Constitution Act Amendment Actassented to.
1st December. —Contract let for construction of the Donny-
brook-Bridgetown Railway.

December.—The Great Southern Railway from Albany to
Beverley purchased by the Government.

1897. .
8th January.—The Great Southern Railway formally taken
over by the Government.
11th January.—First Exhibition of the W.A. Society of Arts
opened by the Premier.
22nd March.—Federal Convention met at Adelaide.

27th April—The Premier (Sir John Forrest) tipped the first
load of stone for the Bunbury Breakwater.

4th May.—The steamer “Sultan,” W.A.S.N. Co., 1270
tons register (2062 gross), steamed into the new harbour at
Fremantle and discharged at the wharf.

21st June.—The 60th anniversary of Queen Victoria’s reign
celebrated in Perth and the other principal towns of Western
Australia.

28th June.—Duplication of Eastern Railway from Fremantle
to Guildford completed.
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Third Parliamentary elections held in June and July.
12th August.—Cold Storage Depdt opened to the public.

17th August—Contract let for the construction of the
railway to Menzies.

17th August.—Contract let for the construction of the Green-
hills Railway. Third Parliament met for the first time.

28th August.—Telegraph line opened at Lawlers.
1st September.—Perth Market opened.

24th September.—Second session of Federal Convention met
at Sydney.

8th October..—The s.s. ““ Cornwall,” 3,554 tons register (5,500
gross), drawing 19 feet, and with a keel length of 420 feet, berthed
at the South Quay.

23rd December.—The Mining on Private Property Act became
a law.

1898.

January.—A difference between the alluvial miners at
Kalgoorlie and the Manager of the Ivanhoe Venture Gold Mine
led to serious disturbances, the unrest extending to other places on
the goldfields. The Goldfields Act of 1895, under Section 36, gave
the alluvial miners the right to search for alluvial gold on leases,
with certain restrictions. The principal question in dispute was
whether there was a reef on the lease of the Ivanhoe Venture
Syndicate or not. The leaseholders considered it a great hardship.
that the Act confirmed the existence of dual titles, those of the
leaseholders and those of the claimholders. The alluvial miners,
on the other hand, held that they had a moral and legal right to
the alluvial gold, at whatever depth it was found. Before a
decision on the case was given in the Warden’s Court, the Govern-
ment passed a regulation limiting the depth to which alluvial could
be worked to 10 feet. The diggers were much incensed at this
regulation, which they called ‘ the ten-feet drop.” As regards the
question of the reef, the Government Geologist reported that there
was as yet no proof of its existence. The Warden’s decision in the
case went against the alluvial miners. The latter, however, paid no
heed to this decision, and continued to enter on the lease. Relations.
between the syndicate and the miners then became so strained that
several of the latter were eventually imprisoned. On the 24th
March, Sir John Forrest visited Kalgoorlie to meet the delegates
of the alluvial miners, and hear their grievances; but on his
declining to address the crowd which had gathered outside the hotel
where the conference took place, some of the more excitable spirits
became unruly, and on his way to the station the Premier was some-
what roughly hustled, fortunately without any serious results.
After much further friction, the Ivanhoe Venture Svndicate agreed
to take a test case into the Supreme Court. The trial took place in
August, and the decision of the Court was in favour of the alluvial
miners. Petitions were then forwarded to the Government by
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various mining companies, asking for the abolition of the dual title.
In consequence of this a Royal Parliamentary Commission was
appointed, which came to the conclusion that the dual title
undoubtedly inflicted a great hardship on the leaseholder. The new
‘Mining Act (62 Vict., No. 16) was consequently passed, Sections
10 and 11 of which define the relations betweeu leaseholders and
claimholders in a manner calculated to avoid a conflict between
their respective interests.

20th January.—Third session of the Federal Convention met
at Melbourne.

1st February.—The Boulder Railway completed.

23rd February.—The first mail steamer, * The Prinz Regent
Luitpold,” belonging to the Norddeutscher-Lloyd Company, called
at Fremantle, and was berthed in the new harbour.

22nd March.—The railway to Menzies formally opened by the
Governor.

28th April.—Sir Malcolm Fraser resigned the Agent General-
ship, and the Hon. E. H. Wittenoom was appointed in his stead.

15th June.—The Kanowna Branch Railway completed.

17th June.—The Fremantle markets opened.

80th June.—Mullewa-Cue Railway and Collie Coalfields Rail-
way completed.

July.—A Bill providing for Free Education introduced in the
Leglslatlve Assembly.—Favourable reports received from Prof.
McCoy, of the Melbourne University, testifying to the great com-
mercial value of Collie coal.—Tenders called for the erection of a
butter factory at Busselton.

6th July.-—A motion adopted by the Legislative Assembly for
the appointment of a Royal Commission to inquire into the penal
system of the Colony.

8th July.—Royal Proclamation published establishing a branch
-of the Royal Mint in Perth.

1st September. — The Greenhills-York Railway formally
opened.

19th September.—Sir George Grey died in England, at the age
of 86. 8ir George Grey was exploring in this Colony during 1837
and 1839.

Ist Octobar.-—~The new waterworks at Fremantle completed.

4th October.-——The third reading of the Goldfields Water
Supply Bill passed the Legislative Assembly.

10th October.—Telegraph office opened at Peak Hill.

17th October.—The Zoological Gardens at South Perth formally
opened by the Governor, Sir Gerard Smith.

20th October.—The amended Mining on Private Property Bill
passed in the Legislative Council.
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30th October.—The N.D.L. Co’s. 8.s. “ Friedrich der Grosse,”
10,500 tons, drawing 238 feet of water, berthed at the South Quay.

1st November.—The Government service of trains on the
Donnybrook-Bridgetown extension of the South-Western Railway
commenced.

25th November.—The first butter factory in the Colony started
at Busselton.

1st December.—The Bridgetown Railway formally opened.

16th December.—A public meeting held in Perth, at which it
was resolved to inaugurate an institution for the treatment and
comfort of incurables.

17th December.—The foundation-stone of the Victoria Institute
and Industrial School for the Blind at Maylands laid by the
Governor, Sir Gerard Smith.

Funds amounting to £2,700 were subscribed towards the
establishment of a Children’s Hospital in Perth.—A Labour
Bureau, initiated by the Government, was opened in Perth.—
Valuable presents of red and fallow deer were made by Her Majesty
the Queen to the recently-established Zoological Gardens at South
Perth.—The Government accepted tenders for the supply of pipes
for the Coolgardie Water Scheme.—Diamonds were reported to
have been found at Nullagine, in the North-West district..—The
Government accepted a tender to lease the Wallsend coal mine at
the Collie.—Reports were received trom Eucla of serious inroads by
rabbits in that neichbourhoad.—A large number of German settlers
from South Australia took up selections at Katanning and other
localities on the Great Southern Railway.—Several of the male
inmates of the Fremantle Lunatic Asylum were transferred to the
new asylum at Whitby Falls.

1899.

13th January.—At a meeting of the Fremantle Municipal
Council a resolution was passed to invite offers for a combined
scheme of electric light and tramways.

17th January.—The Premier (Sir John Forrest) and other
delegates to the Federal Council left Albany for Melbourne.

20th January.—The Perth Tramway scheme was formally
approved by the City Council. The first sod of the Hay Street line
was turned by Miss Forrest, daughter of the Mayor, on 30th
January.

24th January.—The first session of the Federal Council opened
in Melbourne.

29th January.— First Hospital Sunday in Perth.

21st February.—‘“General” Booth of the Salvation Arwy,
visited the Colony.

March.—The Penal Commission made their final progress
report to the Government.—A new ballroom and, several other
important additions to Government House were completed.
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21st March.—The Coolgardie Exhibition was opened by the
Governor.

4th April.—The first annual conference of the State School
Teachers’ Association of Western Australia held.

11th April—The first Trades Union Congress in Western
Australia held at Coolgardie.

19th April.-—The Queen’s Hall, Perth, opened by the Hon.
Sir John Forrest.

April. —Rich discoveries of tin made in the Pilbara district.

5th May.—Destructive fire at Coolgardie, involving the loss of
buildings and other property to the value of over £8,000.

16th May.—A public meeting held in the Perth Town Hall
passed a resolution sympathising with the Uillanders in the
Transvaal in their political grievances, and authorised the trans-
mission of this resclution to the Secretary of State for the Colonies.

19th May.—A Chamber of Manufacturers for Western Aus-
tralia formed, in pursuance of a resolution passed at a meeting of
manufacturers and others held in Perth.

14th June.—H.M.S. “ Royal Arthur,” Rear-Admiral H. L.
Pearson, arrived at Fremantle from Sydney, proceeding to a berth
at the quay in the river. —The Penal Commission presented its final
report.—The Paris Exhibition Commission appointed.

21st June. —Sir Gerard Smith, K.C.M.G., the Governor of the
Colony, performed the ceremony of declaring the Perth branch of
the Royval Mint opened.

June —Captain Angus, deputed by the P. & O. Company to
report on the newly-constructed harbour basin at Fremantle,
arrived from England. Subsequently Captain Angus reported
favourably on the facilities for the accommodation of deep-sea
steamships afforded by the new harbour basin.-—An experimental
nursery farm was successfully established by the Forests Depart-
ment at Drakesbrook, on the South-Western Railway.

12th July.—Snowstorms in various parts of the Colony reported.
At Mount Barker several inches were recorded.-—The barques
“ City of York” and *Carlisle Castle,” from San Francisco and
Glasgow respectively, were wrecked near Fremantle, the former
vessel on the West side of Rottnest Island, the latter on Coventry
Reef, lying a few miles Southward of Garden Island. The “ City of
York” carried a crew of 25 all told; of these Captain Jones and
11 others perished. The crew of the “ Carlisle Castle” numbered
22 persons, all of whom were drowned.

17th August.—The Legislative Council, by eight votes to six,
declared in favour of extending the franchise to women.

8th September.—The ‘ Braeside” station, in the Pilbara
district, raided by wild natives. Dr. Vines killed, and several others
wounded.
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24th September.—Electric cars ran for the first time on the
Hay Street tram line.

4th October.—The first West Australian Manufacturers’
Industrial Exhibition in Perth opened by Lady Smith.

9th October. —Foundation-stone of Sailors’ Rest, Fremantle,
laid by Sir John Forrest.—Queen’s Gardens at East Perth opened
by the Mayor.

11th October.—The first annual conference of the West
Australian Chamber of Manufacturers held in Perth.

25th October.—A shock of eartliquake experienced at Wyndham.

October.—Satisfactory reports were received from England of
various tests made with Collie coal. —The Public Education Bill,
providing for compulsory and free education in the State schools,
came into force.

Ist November.—First annual show of the Amateur Horticul-
tural Society of Western Australia opened in Perth by Sir A. C.
Onslow, Kt.

2nd November.—Foundation-stone of the Deaf and Dumb
Institution, at Cottesloe Beach, laid with Masonic rites by the
Governor, Sir Gerard Smith.

4th November.-—The Government having decided, in October,
to organise and equip a corps of infantry volunteers, 120 strong, to
proceed to Cape Colony and co-operate with the Imperial troops in
subduing the Boers, the corps proceeded from Perth to Albany by
railway on this date, and embarked by the s.s. ** Medic,” on the 7th
November. The command of the company was entrusted to Captain
H. G. Moor, R.A., of the Albany forts, with the rank of Major. Dr.
G. F. McWilliams took medical charge, with the rank of Major.
The other commissioned officers were Lieuts. H. F. Darling and F.
Parker, and Second-Lieutenant J. Campbell. On board the  Medic”
were also contingents from Vietoria, South Australia, and Tasmania.
Immediately following the departure of the s.s. «“ Medic,” Sir John
Forrest received telegrams from the Premiers in the Kastern
Colonies regarding the proposal to supply a second contingent for
service in South Africa.

December.—An official return showed that the valuation of
the city of Perth for the year was as -follows:—Capital value,
£3,702,810 ; annual value, £290,275.— News received of the murder,
of Captain Reddell and portion of the crew of the brigantine “Ethel,”
off Roebuck Bay, on the 19th October.—Highly satisfactory reports
on samples of Western Australian wheat received by the Secretary
for Agriculture from American experts at the Philadelphia Com-
wercial Museum.-—The Imperial authorities accepted the offer to
send twenty trained nurses from this Colony to South Africa free of
cost to the British Glovernment.—Arrangements were entered upon
for despatching to the Cape Colony a second contingent of troops
(mounted infantry), to co-operate with the British forces in
South Africa. The strength of the corps was limited to- 180 officers.
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and men. Major H. L. Pilkington, formerly Captain 21st Hussars,
was placed in charge. The other commissioned officers were Captain
‘R. T. McMaster, Lieut. S. Harris, Lieut. S. Inglis, Lieut. J. De
Castilla; and Captain J. M. Y. Stewart, M.O.

1900.

3rd January.—At a conference held at Kalgoorlie in connec-
tion with the ‘Separation” movement-—i.e., the agitation for
creating the Goldfields districts a separate province—a manifesto
setting forth the grounds on which such separation was held to be
desirable and justified was formulated and agreed to.

6th January. —The extension of the electric tramway system to
Subiaco completed.

24th January.—The steam yacht ‘Sunbeam,” with Lord
Brassey on board, bound for England, called at Fremantle. The
“ Sunbeam ”’ resumed her voyage, via Java, on the 26th January,
when Lady Brassey rejoined the ship’s party, having landed at
Albany and journeyed to Perth by train.—Premiers’ conferenceé in
Syd.ey on Federal and other questions.

January.— A strike among the drivers and firemen on thé rail-
ways of the Culony, consequent on the dismissal of the Loco. Super-
intendent (Mr. R.-B. Campbell) caused serious delays and incon-
venience for several days.—Strict precautions taken at the various
seaports of the Colony to guard against the introduction of bubonic
plague.—The dignity of K.C.M.G. was conferred upon the Hon.
Siv J. G. Lee Steere, Speaker of the Legislative Assembly.

2nd February.— The arrival of the transport “ Surrey ” at Fre-
mantle, for the purpose of conveying the Second Contingent to
South Africa, was marked by a great patriotic demonstration.

6th February. —The submarine cable connecling Rottnest with
the mainland laid.

9th February.—First casualty among the West Australian
troops in South Africa, at Slingersfontein.

18th February.—Mr. S. H. Parker, Q.C., specially engaged by
the Government to represent the Colony in London during the
passage of the Comwonwealth Bill through the Imperial Parlia-
ment, left for England in the R.M.S. “ Himalaya.”

. 20th February.—First annual session of the Grand Lodge of
the Independent Order of Oddfellows of Western Australia opened
at Coolgardie.

26th February.-—Conference of Government Statisticians
respecting matters in connection with the Census of 1901, held in
Sydney, Mr. Malcolm A. C. Fraser, Registrar General, representing
‘Western Australia.

February.—The Minister for Lands decided to make regular
shipments of fresh fruit, to the Agent General in London, dur}ng
the fruit season.—The Government decided upon organising a third
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.Contingeut, 100 strong, to be distinguished as the “Bushmen’s
Corps,” for service in South Africa; Major H. G. Vialls (late Capt.
R.0.s, West Yorkshire Regiment), was entrusted with the com-
mand ; the other commissioned officers were Capt. H. E. Hurst,
Lieuts. C. H. Ord, A. F. Thunder, R. R. C. Vernon, and M. R. P.
W. Gledhill; and Capt. ¥. J. Ingoldby, M.O.—A pine plantation
was successfullv established at Bunbury by the Woods and Forests
Department.— Mr. F. W. Holder, the Prewmier of South Australia,
promised Sir John Forrest that, the Commonwealth once established,
and South Australia and Western Australia both having joined the
federation, he would, simultaneously with the passage of a similar
Bill in Western Australia, bring forward a Biil in South Australia,
assenting to a transcontinental railway line being constructed stage
by stage.

14th March.—The Third Contingent, or * Bushmen’s Corps,”
for service in South Africa, embarked at Fremantle by the
transport. “ Maplemore.” Immediately following the despatch of
the “ Maplemore ” recruiting for the Jmperial Bushmen’s Corps,
being the Fonrth Contingent to. be despatched to the assistance of
the Imperial forces, was actively entered upon. The strength of
this corps was restricted to 125.

17th March.—A petition from the Eastern Goldfields Reform
League was presented to the Governor for transmission to the
Queen. The petition, which is said to have contained 27,733 signa-
tures, prayed that the Eastern Goldfields might be formed into
a separate colony. A petition from Albany, praying for the
inclusion of that district, the Plantagenet, in the proposed new
colony, was also presented to the Governor.

20th March. —First Wesleyan Methodist Conference of West-
ern Australia opened in Perth.— Deputation to the Premier from
the W. A. Workers’ Association, urging the intraduction of com-
pulsory arbitration and a reduction on the railway freights on ore.

22nd March.—His Excellency the Governor, Sir Gerard Smith,
and Lady Smith took their departure for England in the N.D.L. Co.’s
s.5. ‘“ Barbarossa.” Sir Alexander Campbell Onslow, Kt , the Chief
Justice of the Colony, was sworn In as Administrator on the follow-
ing day.

24th March.—The ““ Sailors’ Rest,” at Fremantle, opened by
‘the Premier.

26th March.—Death of Lieut.-Colonel G. B. Phillips, Com-
nissioner of Police. Colonel Phillips entered the Civil Service in
the year 18352,

March.—The Government placed a contract for the supply of
pumping machinery for the Coolgardie Water Scheme with Jas.
Simpson & Co., Ltd., at £241,750.—The Governor, Sir Gerard
Smith, received a cable message from the Imperial authorities,
offering commissions in the Royal Artillery and Infantry to
Western Australian officers.—The erection of a Central Fire
Station in Perth commenced.
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April.—The bubonic plague made its appearance at Fremnatle,
and two fatal cases occurred.—An unusually heavy fall of rain was
recorded on the Murchison. In the neighbourhood of Nannine a

huge lake, many feet in depth, completely isolated the township for
several days.

8th May.—The transport “ Manhattan,” having embarked the
Fourth Contingent, The Imperial Bushmen, sailed from Fremantle
for Beira. The command of the corps was given to Major James
Rose; the other commissioned officers were Capt. C. C. Newland,
Lieutenants C. A. Barnes, E. Vernon, F. G. Hume, and E. R.
Williams, with Surgeon-Captain W. Gibson in medical charge.

17th-May.—A special meeting of Parliament summoned. in
order to give both Houses another opportunity of considering the
question of a reference of the Commonwealth Bill to the people.

24th May.—The title of K.C.M.G. conferred upon the Hon.
E. H. Wittenoom, Agent-General for Western Australia,

7th June.—The Federal Enabling Bill passed the Legislative
Council.

June.—A contingent of eleven nurses proceeded to Cape
Colony for service in the war. Their passages were provided by
public subscription.-—The Government sanctioned the removal of
Western Australian exhibits from Paris to Glasgow, for the
exhibition to be held in that city in 1901.

9th July.—The Royal assent was given to the Australian
Commonwealth Bill.

19th July.—Execution at Fremantle of two of the ringleaders
in the “Ethel” tragedy near Broome (October, 1899).—Major
Moor, commanding the first Western Australian contingent in

South Africa, and Private M. W. Collett, of the same corps, killed
at Palmietfontein. ’

3lst July. —The Federation Referendum Vote taken through-
out the Colony. In favour of federation, 44,800 ; against, 19,691 ;
majority in favour, 25,109,

13th August.—The Orient Co.’ss.s.* Ormuz,” the first English
homeward bound mail steamer to enter the new harbour at Fre-
mantle, arrived from Adelaide.

19th August.—Death of Sir Malcolm Fraser, K.C.M.G., in
England.

20th August. —The P. & O. Co.s s.s. “ India” arrived at Fre-
mantle from Adelaide.

lst September.—The new lighthouse on the N.E. corner of
Rottnest Island lighted for the first time.

12th September. The P. & O. steamer “Himalaya,” the first
English outward bound mail steamer to make Fremantle the port of
call, arrived and berthed at the South Quay.
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17th September.—Heavy snowstorms in several localities in
the extreme Southern portions of the Colony.—The Government
Refrigerating Works in Perth opened for the reception of produce.

21st September. —Telegraphic communication extended to
Mount Sir Samuel.

28th September.—The electric tram system in Perth completed
to Highgate Hill.

September.—A marble cross erected in the Church of England
portion of the Fremantle Cemetery to the memory of those who
perished in the wrecks of the “City of York” and “ Carlisle
Castle” (July, 1899).

10th October.—The Legislative Council passed the Public
Service Bill.

September and October.—Several new caves in the limestone
hills, between Quindalup and Cape Naturaliste, discovered and
explored.

2nd December.—H.M.S. “ Royal Arthur” arrived at Fre-
mantle for the purpose of conveying the Governor General Elect,
Earl Hopetoun, to Sydney upon his arrival from Colombo by the
RM.S. “Victoria.” In consequence of sickness, Lord Hopetoun
was compelled to continue his voyage in the ““ Victoria,” which left
Fremantle for Adelaide on the 6th December.

15th December.—Arrival at Fremantle of the transport
“ Britannie,” conveying Imperial troops to Sydney to take part in
the proceedings connected with the proclamation of the Common-
wealth. The troops disembarked and marched through Perth and
Fremantle. They left the same day. )

24th December.—Sir John Forrest, G.C.M.G., accepted the
portfolio of Postmaster General in the first Federal Ministry.

29th December.—Death, in Rome, of Bishop Rosendo Salvado,
who founded the New Norcia Native Mission in 1846.

December.— A Bill passed providing for the payment of mem-
bers of Parliament.
1901.
1st January.—Establishment of the Commonwealth of Australia.
22nd January.—Death of Her Majesty Queen Victoria.

30th January.—Arrival from Adelaide of the French mail
steamer ““ Polynesien,” the first vessel of the M.M. line to call at
Fremantle.
12th February. —Resignation of Sir John Forrest as Premier.
Mr. George Throssell assumed the Premiership
_ 27th February—Mr. H. B. Lefroy appointed Agent General
vice Sir E. H. Wittenoom, K.C.M.G., resigned.
_ 6th March.—Departure of the s.s. “ Devon ” for Natal with the
Fifth Western Australian Contingent. The command was given to
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Captain H. F. Darling, the other officers being Surgeon-captain I. J.
Flynn (in medicai -charge), Lieuts. A. J. Bessell-Browne, H. M.
Downes, J. S. Scott, A. Davies, J. L. Ochiltree, C. Griffiths, J. F.
Messer, N. Sherrard, H. D. Forbes, A. A. Forrest, and C. W.
Williams. The corps was limited to a strength of 206 men of all
ranks. Chaplain E. H. Collick accompanied the contingent with
the rank of Captain.

7th March.—The volunteers for the Sixth Contingent for service
in South Africa went into camp at Karrakatta. Officers: J.
Campbell, captain commanding; Captain E. R. Williams, Lieuts.
W. H. Young, J. F. Hawkins, H. E. Bardwell, A. E. Maley, F. W.
Bell. H. B. McCormick, R. Clifton, 8. 8. Reid, C. E. Woodrow. R.
E. Wright; Dr. F. B. Reid in medical charge as Surgeon-captain.

8th March.—Sir John Forrest returned unopposed for the
Swan, in the first Federal Parliament.

29th March.-—General Federal elections. Flected for Senate :
Messrs. Staniforth Smith, A. P. Matheson, G. F. Pearce, De
Largie, E. A. Harney, and N. K. Ewing. House of Representa-
tives : Sir John Forrest and Messrs. J. M. Fowler, E. Solomon,
J. W. Kirwan, and Mahon.

30th March.-—The s.s. “Karrakatta” wrecked on the N.W,
coast.

31st March.-—General census of Western Australia taken under
the direction of Mr. Malcolm A. C. Fraser, Superintendent of Census.

4th April.—Departure from Perth for Melbourne of Sir John
Forrest, to take up the position of Minister of Defence in the
Commonwealth Government.

10th April.—The troopship * Ulstermore,” with the Sixth
Contingent, left Fremantle. for Durban. The confingent num-
bered 120 of all ranks.

30th April. —The Royal Yacht ¢ Ophir,” with their Royal
Highnesses the Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York on board,
called at Albany, and Sir Arthur Tawley. the new Governor of
Western Australia, who was also in the * Ophir,” came up to
Perth, where Lady Lawley had arrived the previous week.

lst May.—8ir Arthur Lawley sworn in as Governor of Western.
Anstralia.

9th May.—Federal Parliament opened by the Duke of York.

16th May.—Party under Mr. J. Muir set out from Bulong to.
make a flying survey of the route to Eucla for the trans-Australian
railway.

27th May.—Mr. Throssell having resigned as Premier, Mr. G.
Leake.formed a new Ministry.

17th June.—First section of the Menzies-Leonora line of
railway (18 miles) opened for traffic.
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20th June.—Death of Mr. A. Forrest, M.L.A., CM.G.,

well-known as an explorer, and former Mayor of Perth.

4th July.—The W.A.G.R. Association called out its men, and
caused a railway strike,;which resulted in almost entire suspension of
traffic.

16th July.—Mr. C. Y. O’Connor reported to the Federal Par-
liament that the trans-Australian railway would cost £4,400,000,
and calculated that it would speedily pay expenses.

20th July.—H.M.S. “Ophir,” with Their Royal Highnesses
the Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York on board. anchored in
Albany. The Duke and Duchess arrived in Perth by train on the
following day. On the 22nd they were officially welecomed in Perth,
and a reception was held at Government House. On the 23rd the
festivities included a Levee at Government House, the Knighting of
Rear-Admiral Beaumont, the laying of the foundation stone of the
Fallen Scldiers’ Memoral, a review of the military forces, and the
naming of the “ King’s Park” and « May Drive.” On the 24th,
the unveiling in the Anglican Cathedral of a memorial tablet to the
deceased soldiers of the West Australian contingents in South
Africa, the laying of the foundation stone of the new wing of the
Museum, the presentation to their Royal Highnesses of a casket
containing auriferous specimens at the Mint, and a Garden Party
at Government House. On the 25th, the State School Children’s
welcome to their Royal Highnessés in the Government House
Domain, a visit to the Zoological Gardens, and the presentation to
their Royal Highnesses of an album of views of South Perth and
Gardens. On the 26th, the departure from Perth in the “ Manx
Fairy,” the reception at Fremantle, and the naming of the ““ Victoria
Quay.” Tn the afternoon of that day the “ Ophir,” with the Royal
visitors, left for Cape Town, South Africa.

7th August. ——Trades Congress at Kalgoorlie.
14th August.—A Civil Service Association formed at a meeting
held in Perth.

28th August.—Resignation of Sir A. C. Onslow., Kt., as Chief
Justice of Western Australia. He was succeeded by Mr. E. A.
Stone.

30th August.—Report received from Mr. F. G. Bro¢kman, the
leader of the Kimberley Exploration party, that he had made no
important discoveries of mineral or pastoral country.

7th September—Mr. 8. H. Parker, K.C., sworn in as a Judge
of the Supreme Court.

8th October.—Federal Budeet and protectionist tariff disclosed
in the House of Representatives.

9th October.—Lieutenant Bell, of the 6th W.A.M.T., awarded
the Victoria Cross.

30th October.—TLaying of the Cape-Australian cable completed,
connecting Perth with South Africa.
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9th November.—The Leake Government defeated on a No-
confidence motion by the leader of the Opposition, mostly in con-
nection with the general administration of the Railways.

9th November.—The Duke of Cornwall and York created
Prince of Wales.

12th November.—Mr. Piesse sent for to form a Cabinet.

18th November.—Mr. Piesse failed to forin a Cabinet. Mr.
Morgans sent for.

19th December.-—Captain of N.D.L. mail steamer “ Neckar”
arrested at Fremantle for breach of the Federal Cnstoms Act.

20th December.—Mr. Morgans and his Ministry resigned, and
Mr. Teake was sent for.—Captain of “ Neckar” released from
prison on giving security for his fine.

21st December.—The Federal Government decided to send
further troops from Australia to South Africa.

23rd December.—Mr. Leake’s new Ministry sworn in.-—Lord

Hopetoun, the Governor General of Australia, arrived in Perth on
a visit.

4—EXPLORATION IN WESTERN AUSTRALIA.

.““ Since the time of its first foundation Wastern Australia has never given up the subject of
exploration. Unlike the other colondies, which have always gonc into the matier by fits and
stars, there have been always continuous expeditions from Perth.”

* Ll - £ * * * * *

“The first of the colonies to wake up again to the importance of examining the interior
-was, as usual, the indefatigable Colony of Western Australia.”

E. TENNISON WOODS.

In 1829, from the 17th to the 30th November, Mr. Collie and
Lieutenant Preston explored the country along the coast from
Cockburn Sound to Geographe Bay.

On the 15th December Dr. J. B. Wilson, R.N., made an ex-
ploration of the country near King George Sound, and discovered
the River Denmark.

In 1830, on the 22ud March, Lieutenant J. S. Roe, R.N., Sur-
-veyor General, started on an exploring expedition in the viciuity
-of Cape Naturaliste, Port Leschenault, and between the Collie and
Preston Rivers.

On the 29th of the same month Governor Stirling and Captain
Currie explored the vicinity of Cape Leeuwin, and determined on the
site of Port Augusta.

From the 31st July to the 15th August, Ensign R. Dale (63rd
Regiment) explored the country to the East of the Darling Range.
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From the 6th to the 22nd September, Lieutenant Erskine ex-
plored from Perth to the East of the Darling Range, and in the same
month Captain -J. Molloy was exploring in the neighbourhood of
the Blackwood River.

From the 28th October to the 7th November, Mr. R. Dale
made a second exploration East of the Darling Range. ILeaving
Kelmscott and passing Mount Dale, he struck the Avon, which river
he followed up to the site of the present town of York. Having
exPlored the country as far East as Mount Caroline (longitude 117°
29" East) he turned South and recrossed the Avon, returning by his
former route.

From the 23rd November to the 12th December, Lieutenant
W. Preston, R.N., in a hired cutter named the * Colonist,” explored
the coast North of Fremantle as far as latitude 28° 45" South, a little
above Geraldton.

From 7th to 13th December, Mr. R. Dale traced the course of
the Helena River.

In 1831, during the month of January, Captain Bannister
travelled overland from Perth to King George Sound, and Mr. W.
K. Shenton undertook an expedition to Port Leschenault to explore
the Collie River.

On two occasions, in March and in December, Mr. J. G. Bussell
traversed the country between the Swan River and Port Augusta.

In April, Lieutenant Preston made an excursion in a whaleboat.
to Point d’Entrecasteaux, and thence by land to the Murray River.

From the 20th April to the 4th May, Mr. Alexander Collie ex-
plored the country to the North of King George Sound.

Starting on the 20th September, Mr. R. Dale examined the
country 50 miles to the North and South of Mount Bakewell.
- On the 20th December, Surveyor R. Clint commenced an ex-
ploration of the mountain range North and East of Porongorup.

During this year Mr. J. 8. Roe and Sir James Stirling, in
H.M.S. ““Sulphur,” were occupied in surveying the South coast.

In 1832, during the month of February, Mr. A. Collier ex-
plored the country between Albany and French River, and, in May,
he further explored the country near King George Sound.

In 1833, during March, Mr. F. Whitfield traced the Helena.
River to its source, and in July Mr. Alfred Hillman, surveyor, ex~
plored the country between Albany and Nornalup Inlet.

In 1834, during January, Mr. G. F. Moore traced the Swan
River to its junction with the Avon.

In September, Mr. Thomas Turner traced the Blackwood River
to its source.

In October, Mr. H. G. Smith explored the country between
Greenmount and the townsite of Northam.
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- In 1835, from the 6th to thé 26th January, an exploration.
pf the Hotham and Williams Rivers was made by Mr. A. Hillman.:

In February Mr. J. 8. Roe examined the country between: the»
headwaters of the Kalgan and Hay Rivers.-

¢ In April Mr. G. F: Moore made an excursion to the N ortth,rd‘
of the Swan River.

From the 4th October to the 8th November l\f[l Hillman ex-
plored the country lying between Kelmscott and the Williams, and
thence to the Avon.

From the 19th October 10 the 20th November, Sir James
Stirling, with Mr. J. 8. Roe, and a party, made the overland trip.
to King George Sound from Perth, returning vid York.

In 1836 Mr. G. F. Moore made two journeys—-one, in the early
part of the year to the Northward of the Swan, led to the discovery
of the Moore River—the other, to the Eastward and Northward of
Northam, opened a new tract of grazing and agricultural land
within sixty miles of the Swan. In this latter trip, which com-
menced on the 30th May, he was accompanied by Messrs. Peter
Brown and G. Leake.

During the month of May Lieutenant H. W. Bunbury, 21st
Fusiliers, explored the country between the mouths of the Dale and
‘Williams Rivers.

From June to September Mr. A. Hillman was employed in
surveying a road from Albany towards Perth.

Between 20th and 23rd October Mr. H. W. Bunbury crossed
from Pinjarra to the- Williams.

From the 2nd October to the 11th November Mr. J. 8. Roe led
an expedition to the North and East of Perth, to explore the table
land wkich lies in that direction. Although he reached Lake Brown,
near the Western boundary of the present Yilgarn goldfield, -the
-only discovery he made worthy of note was that of the Salt Lakes,
which have since been found to form a marked feature of the
platean.

In 1837 an expedition, under Captain George Grey and Lieu-
tenant Lushington, was sent out from England to investigate the
truth of the report us to the existence of a large river on the N.W.
coast flowing into the sea near Dampier’s Archipelago.

From 2nd December of that year to 21st April, 1838, they ex-
plored the Hanover Bay district, discovering the Glenelg River.

During January, 1839, while ocenpied in searching for a settler
named Mr. George Eliot, who had been lost'in the bush for three
weeks, but who eventually found his way to Port Augusta, Grey
‘thoroughly explored the country between the Williams and
Leschenault.

From 17th February to 21st April, 1839, Grey explored the
country between Shark Bay and Perth, finding excellent country
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Tor mineral, pastoral, and agricultural purposes. He claims to
have discovered and named many rivers on the coast North of Perth,
such as the Gascoyne, Murchison, Greenough, Irwin, and Arrow-
smith.

Having lost the boats which had been previously used, his
party was compelled to return on foot to Perth, a distance of some
hundreds of miles. A few of them, who were too exhausted to
push on as far as the capital, were happily rescued by Mr. J. 8.
Roe, who, as soon as intelligence of their position had been received,
had undertaken an expedition from Perth for that purpose.

Soon after Grey's reports had been placed before the authori-
‘ties, Mr. George Fletcher Moore was sent to examine the coastal
districts in the neighbourhood of Moresby Range. His opinion
of the locality was favourable, and he gave the explorer’s name to
the port South of Point Moore, calling it Port Grey. The harbour
to the North of the point, which was found to be the better of the
‘two, was shortly a{terwards visited by Captain Stokes in the Govern-
ment schooner “Champion,” and received its present name of
‘Champion Bay.

In 1837, from the 4th to the 29th April, Sir James Stirling
-examined the country between Perth and Kojonup.

Between the 80th November and the 15th December, Messrs.
W. K. Shenton and Richard Dale made an excursion to the Collie
and Brunswick Rivers.

During the period 1838-41, Captains Wickham and Stokes in
H.M.S. “Beagle” began and completed an important series of
coastal surveys on the North-West coast, discovering the Fitzroy
and Adelaide Rivers.

In 1838, from 15th January to 25th May, an unsuccessful search
was made fora channel supposed to connect Roebuck Bay with Buc-
career’s Archipelago. King Sound was discovered and named, and
a favourable report was given of the country in the vicinity.

In 1840, between the 4th April and 27th September, they ex-
amined Houtman Abrolhos, discovered good anchorage at
Champion Bay, and carefully surveyed Dampier’s Archipelago
from Barrow Island to the Forrestier Group.

In 1841, with Captain Wickham invalided, the command of
the ©* Beagle ” devolved upon Stokes, and on the 24th September
he sailed from Ceepang, in Timor, to complete the survey of the
North-West coast South of Roebuck Bay, left unfinished by King.
Hefound the coast destitute of good anchorages or important rivers,
of a low sandy character, occasionally relieved by red sandstone
cliffs or projections, but rising and improving as it approached
Bedout Island. On the 23rd November the “ Beagle ” returned to the
‘Swan River. In the same year, from the 12th to the 16th Decem-
ber, a trip was made by Stokes to ascertain the exact position of
Port Grey, which he found to be almost identical with Champion
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Bay, and he also explored the surrounding country previously
reported upon by Captain Grey.

In January, 1839, Sir James Stirling examined the country in
the Vasse district.

In 1840, from the 9th to the 26th January, Mr. D. Dring, in
the ¢ Champion,” made a voyage from the Swan River to discover
the mouth of the Hutt River, or an anchorage near it.

From 10th to 15th January Mr. H. M. Ommanney, assistant
surveyor, ¢xamined the Capel and Preston Rivers.

In February and March the Kojonup district, and the country
between there and Albany, was explored by Assistant-Surveyor
Hillman and Mr. William Nairne Clark.

In that same year Mr. John Scully, with a party cousisting of
Mr. Drummond and others, explored the country in the vicinity of
the Moore River, naming the Victoria Plains.

In 1841, from the 31st January to 27th July, a journey, which
ranks amongst the greatest feats of human endurance, was accom-
plished by Mr. Edward John Eyre.

In an attempt, begun in the previous year, to cross overland
from Adelaide to Western Australia, this explorer had been foiled,
chiefly by want of water. Having sent back the majority of his party,
he started from Fowler’s Bay, South Australia, with one companion,
Baxter, and a black boy named Wylie, to reach King George Sound
or perish in the undertaking. A short distance South-West of Eyre’s
Patch (126° East longitude), two natives, who were accompany-
ing them, murdered Baxter at night and stole the greater part of
their provisions. Eyre and his black boy were left to accomplish a
journey of some hundreds of wiles through an unknown country
with forty pounds of flour and four gallons of water. This they
succeeded in doing after undergoing the severest hardships. This
journey of Hyre’s, being the first successful attempt to cross from
South Australia to the new Colony in the West, was of considerable
geographieal importance. It may be mentioned here that this
enterprise would probably have never been concluded but for their
happy meeting with, and kind treatment by, Captain Rossiter, of
the French whaler ““ Mississippi,” who rendered themn every assist-
ance and kindness when reduced to the last extremity of hunger,
thirst, and fatigue. This providential encounter oecurred some
three weeks’ march from Albany.

In the month of February Mr. William Nairne Clark made
an expedition in a whaleboat from Albany to Deep River, Nornalup
Inlet, and Point d’Entrecasteaux, discovering immense jarrah and
karri forests. Mr. Clark, in his journal, comments on the value
of his timber discoveries, and also on the fact that the whole of the
whale fisheries were in the hands of the American whalers, of
which he says that «“ upwards of 150 sail, averaging about 300 tons
each, are off the coast in the whaling season. ”
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In December, Governor Hutt, accompanied by Mr. J. 8. Roe
and Captain Stokes, made an overland journey from Fremantle to
the new settlement of Australind.

In 1842, during January, Mr. R. H. Bland traversed the
country between the Vasse and Albany.

" In the same year Mr. H. Landor made an excursion to the
South-East of Beverley, and reported superior grazing country of
great extent and richness.

In January, 1843, Messrs. Landor and Lefroy made a short
exploration to the South-East of York and Beverley, in search of a
large inland sea mentioned by the natives. Passing the head-
waters of the Hotham and Williams rivers, they discovered some
lakes, for the most part salt, but faile¢ to find favourable country
of any large extent.

In 1844, during December, the colonial schooner  Champion ”
under the command of Lieutenant Helpman, accompanied by Mr.
J. Harrison, civil engineer, was again despatched by Governor
Hutt, to take observations in the neighbourhood of Gan-
theaume Bay, at the mouth of the Murchison River. Tis report
confirmed Stokes’ observations as to the general character of the
country.

In 1845, during May, Assistant-Surveyor A. C. Gregory made
an excursion down the Blackwood River, and a similar one to the
East of Kojonup, and down the Gordon River in April of the
following year.

In 1846 Mr. A. C. Gregory, accompanied by his two brothers,
Messrs. Frank T. and Charles Gregory, visited the salt lake region
of the interior. Starting from Bolgart Springs, a large extent of
swampy country was traversed, and a range of granitic hills,
supposed to be the watershed of the coast streams, was discovered.
Turning to the westward to examine the rivers reported by Grey,
they found at the head of one of these, the Irwin, several seams
of coal.

In 1848, between 9th September and 12th November, Mr. A.
Q. Gregory, with party, examined the Murchison and Gascoyne
districts, and found a galena lode in the bed of the Murchison river.

In December Governor Fitzgerald, accompanied by the last-
named explorer, examined the new mineral discovery, and
named the Geraldine mine. On this journey he was speared
by the blacks, but, notwithstanding, retained his lead of the
expedition.

On the 14th September Mr. J. 8. Roe commenced the longest
and most celebrated of those journeys, which have led to his being
styled by some historians “ the father of Australian explorers.”

Starting from York, he reached the Pallinup in October,
and steering East, crossed several good streams. Then suc-
ceeded dense scrub, dry watercourses, and salt lakes, till
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the Bremer Range was reached. No better country could be
seen from the Fitzgerald Peaks at an altitude of 1,000 feet, so Roe
retreated towards the coast, and only stopped to halt at Russell
Range (latitude 83° 27' South) after being deprived of water for
three days and nights. On his return journey extensive deposits of
brown coal were found at the Fitzgerald River. The expedition
reached Perth on the 2nd February, 1849, having explored 1,800
miles of the Colony, and discovered a valuable stretch of timber:
country.

In 1854 a party, under the charge of Mr. R. Austin, Assistant
Surveyor, was sent by Governor Fitzgerald to examine the country
North and East of the settled districts, with a view to the discovery
of minerals, or navigable water, and to seek pastoral and agricul-
tural land in the Gaseoyne District. In this expedition, which left
Mombekine, near Northam, on the 10th July, and passed Lake Cow-.
cowing, a considerable tract of the salt-marsh district to the North-
East was traversed and examined, and several mountains and
salt-lakes discovered; but, his horses having been destroved by the
poisonous box-plant, Austin was compelled to make for the coast
at Shark Bay, the appointed rendezvous.

At Mount Magnet a halt was made, and the surrounding
country examined. Almost as soon as the Murchison had been
crossed, the party commenced to suffer terribly from want of water,
and after many fruitless attempts to proceed towards their desired
destination, were compelled to retreat to the river, having penetrated
to longitude 115° 16’ East, latitude 26° 15’ South. Following
the Murchison down, they arrived at the Geraldine Mine on 1he
20th November. Austin in his report to the Government indicated
the existence of four fresh water streams of considerable size
coming from the North-East and shedding into the Murchison. He
also stated that the belt of country around Mounts Kenneth and
Magnet, and in the neighbourhood of Lake Austin, was probably
‘““one of the finest goldfields in the world.”

In 1856 Mr. A. C. Gregory made his well-known journey
from the Northern Territory of South Australia along Sturt
Oreek, tracing it as far as Termination Lake (Gregory’s Salt Sea,
latitude 20° 16’ South, longitude 127° 31’ Hast) in the North-East
district of this Colony. Finding no visible outlet for the waters
of this sea, he returned to his camp on the Victoria, and resumed
his previous exploration of that river. During this trip the
Denison Plains, to the South of the present Kimberley goldfield,
were discovered.

In 1857 Mr. F. T. Gregory ascended the Murchison River to
complete the survey of its unexamined portions.

In 1858 Captain H. M. Denham, in H.M.S. “ Herald,”
assisted by Lieutenant J. Hutchison, surveyed the portion of
Shark Bay lying South of Dampier Reef, including the Sound
now called by his name.
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During the same year a land expedition nnder Mr. F. T. Gregory
was sent out for the purpose of exploring and reporting on the
Gascoyne and Shark Bay Districts. Leaving the Geraldine
Mine on the 16th April, Gregory followed the Murchison River to
the neighbourhood of Mount Gould, and the intervening country
having been crossed, reached the head waters of the Gascoyne.
Tracing that river down to its mouth, he returned by a route
somewhat similar to his outward one, and reported that there
were several large tracts of good and well-watered land, suitable
for pastoral purposes, to be found in the Gascoyne District. This
proved a much needed encouragement to the settlers in the Colony.
Mr. J. B. Ree, a son of the Surveyor General, accompanied
Mr. Gregory on this expedition.

The year 1861 also was one important in the history of the
settlement of the Colony, when other large tracts of country,
hitherto considered useless, were added to its pastoral districts.

Mr. F. T. Gregory was sent to report on that part of the
country lying inland from the North-West coast, which had
previously been unfavourably reported upon by King and Stokes.
From the 10th May to the 17th October, with Nickol Bay as his
base of operations, he was occupied in exploring the back country
near the headwaters of the Ashburton, Fortescue, DeGrey, and
‘QOakover rivers. All these rivers were discovered and named by
him, and he also discovered several large areas, notably in the
vieinity of Nickol Bay, which were suitable for pastoral purposes.

From the 3rd July to the 23rd August Messrs. B. D.
Clarkson, C. E. and A. Dempster, and C. Harper, were
engaged in exploring the country Bast of Northam, and sne-
cessfully penetrated the dense scrub and salt-lake country
previously supposed to be impassable. They reached Mount
Kennedy, and traversed a great portion of the district which now
forms the Yilgarn Goldfield. Georgina Range was the furthest
point reached, and here the country had considerably improved, the
soil being rich and the grass excellent.

In July of this year, and in June, 1865, Captain E. A. Delisser,
a squatter, made excursions from Fowler’s Bay in South Australia,
into the South-East corner of this Colony. He went in a North-
West direction from the head of the Bight, and after suffering
somewhat from want of water, reached a district covered with grass
and saltbush, which he described as excellent for grazing purposes.
His opinion of this district has since been confirmed by Mr. A.
Mason and other travellers.

In 1863 Messrs. C. C. Hunt and Ridley landed at the DeGrey
River, and explored the country touched on by F.T. Gregory.

In the same year, from the 7th May to the 3lst July, Mr.
Henry Maxwell Lefroy was iu charge of an expedition organiséd
for the purpose of exploring the district East of ¥ork, and discover-
ing country suitable for sheep-farming. ’ -
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It was partially successful in its object, as it enabled the leader
to report the existence of good land for agricultural purposes.
Lefroy said, however, that no settlement could take place till wells
had been suuk, owing to the absence of surface water. He
traversed a large portion of the present Coolgardie goldfields, and
reached 122° 3’ Bast longitude.

In 1864, on 5th July, Messrs. B. D. Clarkson, Chas. Harper,
and L. Lukin, left Doodlakine, about 110 miles East by South of
Toodyay, for the purpose of discovering pastoral lauds to the
North and Bast. They encountered country somewhat similar to
that met with in 1861, and having reached latitude 80° 15’ South,
longitude 120° 20" East, without finding it at all suitable, they re-
turned, reaching their starting point on the 18th August.

In the same year Mr. C. C. Hunt left York on the 10th July
for the purpose of exploring the country to the Bastward. His trip
is of importance, as he passed over the present site of Coolgardie,
and reached longitude 121° 55’ East (in the vicinity of the Hampton
Plains). Owing to want of water he was compelled to return to
the neighbourhood of Lake Lefroy, but reported that the land
further out was much better than that nearer York. This journey
of 400 miles was made between the 8lst and 32nd parallels of
latitude, and its result was disappointing. Mr. Hunt, two years
afterwards, made an almost similar trip to the Hampton Plains.
From the 12th to 27th September Mr. A. Dempster made a trip
from the Gage River, near Esperance, to the Dundas Hills wid
Fitzgerald Peaks, and reported that a stock route to the North
could be opened without much difficulty. In November of the
same year Mr. E. T. Hooley failed to find one between Clhampion
Bay and the Gascoyne. During this year, also, Mr. Robert Austin
visited the Glenelg River, and reported favourably on the country
in its vieinity.

About the year 1865 Mr. Trevarton C. Sholl made an explora-
tion to the South of Camden Harbour. In this journey he visited
the Glenelg Basin, ascended and named Mount Page, discovered
the Berkelman River, crossed the Harding Range in the face of
almost insuperable difficulties, and reported a large tract of good
pastoral country.

In 1866, from 10th January to 28th February, Assistant
Surveyor James Cowle explored the country between Roebuck Bay
and Port Walcott, and reported three million acres of country
known to be fit for grazing purposes, and improving considerably
inland from the coast.

In this yearalso (16th Aprilto10th November) Mr. E. T. Hooley
made a more successfulattempt to open up a stockroute tothe North-
West, journeying as he did in safety from Champion Bay to Port
Walcott and back. During the year (1866) Mr. R. J. Sholl and
his son Mr. Trevarton C. Sholl were respousible for the conduct of
several expeditions from Roebourne to examine the country lying
around the headwaters of the Harding, Ashburton, Sherlock, and
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Fortescue rivers.  They were successful in demonstrating the
suitability of the land for pastoral purposes, and opening up this
practically unknown district for settlement.

On the 6th of May, 1866, Mr. J. Logue sent out a party from
Camden Harbour, under the leadership of Mr. A. McRae, for the
purpose of exploring the country Southward. ~ On the 10th, after
crossing well-grassed level plains, in places the grass being so
strong that the horses had as much as they could do to
wade through it, they reached a river. They found it a fine
gtream 150 yards wide, running North by West. The banks were
about 20 feet high, and the current ran about iwo miles per
hour. The next day they saw 15 or 20 natives burning the grass for
pigeons’ eggs. The aborigines were unarmed ; they were very much
alarmed, and tried to hide themselves in the long grass. The party
started on the return trip that afternoon, and reached Camden
Harbour on the 16th.

Mr. McRae reported that “the country possessed all the advan-
tages of a good sheep country, except that it was low, and perhaps
too far North. The principal timber was the white and flooded gum,
and two kinds of wattle; the boabab also grew in great luxuriance.”

A period of some years now elapsed in which little or nothing
was done in the way of further exploration, but, three years after
Hunt’s second journecy to the Hampton Plains, the first of that
memorable series of explorations undertaken by Mr. (now Sir) John
Forrest and his brother Alexander, which have proved so im-
portant to the Colony, was concluded.

In 1869, from the 15th April to the 6th August, Mr. John
Forrest, then a surveyor in the employ of the Western Australian
‘Government, made a short expedition to Lake Barlee. Although
unsuccessful in finding good land uvailable for pastordl or agricul-
tural settlement, he obtained a reliable survey of a great deal
of country hitherto unknown, and withdrew one more district from
the unexplored regions of the Colony.

The expedition was also barren of results with regard to its
main object, the unravelling of the mystery in which the fate of the
lost Leichardt’s party is involved, but succeeded in penetrating
Bastward to a considerable distance beyond Mount Margaret,
reaching latitude 28° 41' South, longitude 122° 50' East,

In 1870 the same explorer, accompanied by his brother, made
his well-known journey from Perth to Adelaide vid Eucla.

Leaving Perth on the 30th March, a South-Easterly course was
taken to Esperance Bay, where the “ Adur,” a hired schooner, was
to meet them with supplies, and render any further assistance she
could. From Esperance Bay an Easterly stretch of 130 miles
brought them to Israelite Bay, and on the 30th May the little band
of explorers started afresh. Striking inland’ from the coast, which
had been closely followed since leaving Esperance, want of water
compelled a forced march to longitude 126° 24/, where Eyre had
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marked a supply. Thence the leader made a flying trip northwards,
and reported the country there to be good grazing land, but without
permanent water. The schooner having arranged to meet them at.
Port Eucla, on the 24th June they left their oasis, and after a neces-
sarily hurried journey, throughout which their horses suffered some-
what severely from thirst, reached Eucla safely, but greatly ex-
hausted by the hardships en route.

After a short trip inland, Forrest left Eucla on the 14th July, and
- passing through South Australian territory from that date, reached.
Adelaide safely on the 27th August, 1870, having accomplished the.
journey, which had taken Eyre twelve months, in less than five. This
was possible owing to the greater facilities which the later expedition
commanded, and Forrest was enabled to give a more impartial verdict
as to the nature of the country passed through. In so far asthis.
affected Western Australia it was distinctly cheering, for although
Eyre’s opinion of the waterless nature of the country traversed was.
confirmed, yet the district inland from the coast, hitherto supposed ¢o
be a sandy desert, was found by Forrest (between 126° and 129° East
longitude) to be beautifully grassed, with water procurable in some
places at moderate depths. To use the explorer’s own words, * If
water could be procured on the tableland, it would be the finest pas-
toral district of Western Australia.”

In 1871 Mr. A. Forrest took charge of an expedition to the
Eastward in search of new pastoral country. Owing to a late start,
he and his party were compelled to make for the coast when they
had reached latitude 81° South, longitude 123° 37’ Hast. This course
led them to Mount Ragged, and thence proceeding Westerly they re-
turned to Perth vid Esperance, having gone out 600 miles, and
discovered a considerable tract of good country, much of which has.
since been taken up and stocked.

In 1873, during April, Mr. William Christie Gosse, Deputy
Surveyor General of South Australia, setting out from Alice Springs.
Telegraph Station, attempted to make the overland journey to Perth.
He returned to his starting point in December, having failed to get.
through owing to the arid nature of the country. He, however,
entered Western Australia near the Tomkinson Mountains, and
examined the country in the vicinity, also that near the Cavenagh
and Barrow Ranges, thus acquiring a geographical knowledge of
gome hundreds of miles of new country. His furthest Westerly
position was in longitude 126° 59 East, to the South of the
Barrow Range.

A more successful attempt was made in the same year, between
the 15th April and 29th December, by Major Peter Egerton War-
burton in his journey from the McDermot Ranges in South Aus-
tralia to the head waters of the Oakover River.

Although he reached the West Coast, and penetrated a district
never before examined by white men, little was learned from his.
experiences.” The expedition was provided with camels, but, owing:
to constant delays, provisions fell short, and. sickness came. War-~
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burton thereupon determined to pusk through as rapidly as possible,
travelling by night; and thus, fleeing “as it were for their lives
Westward over the Sahara,” the members of the expedition were too
much occapied to notice carefully the character of the districts
traversed. What opinion they did form was unfavourable, as the
country was reported to be a sterile one, in which horses could not.
possibly exist, and in which nothing was visible in the way of per-
manent water courses. On this journey were found the Joanna
Springs, since invested with melancholy interest in connection with
the Calvert expedition, as the appointed rendezvous which the ill-
fated explorers, Wells and Jones, failed to reach. Warburton’s
route throughout luy between the 20th and 22nd parallels of lati-
tude South.

In 1874, on the 18th March, shortly before Major Warburton’s
arrival in Perth, Mr. John Forrest, accompanied by his brother
Alexander, left that city to attempt the solution of the same prob-
lem which had engaged the attention of the two last-named
explorers, the nature of the interior of the Colony, and to ascertain,
if possible, whether a route to the advanced settlements of South
Austm] 1a was practicable. According to official instructions he was to

“obtain information concerning the immeuse tract of country from
which flow the Murchison, Gra,stoyne Ashburton, DeGrey, Fitzroy,
and other rivers falling into the sea on the Western and Northern
shores of this territory.” Upon reaching the tropics, Forrest’s
further course was to be discretionary. Leaving Yuin «n the
14th April, and striking the Murchison River, they followed it as
far as the Robinson Range; thence struck South-East to Mounts
Bartle and Russell, and North-East by the Kimberley (believed to
be the watershed of the Murchison) and Frere Ranges, till they
reached Weld Springs, where an unlimited supply of c¢lear fresh water
was found. The land had so far proved good, and in places—such as
the basin of the Upper Murchison—admirably adapted for grazing
purposes, but as soon as they had quitted their position at Weld
Springs (about longitude 122° East) a succession of waterless
stretches of spinifex country was encountered which would have
proved fatal to the expedition’s purpose but for the timely discoveries
of small supplies of the precious liquid—notably at Alexander Spring.
They were now within a hundred miles of (Gosse’s furthest West,
and were pursuing an Easterly course; so, under ordinary circum-
stances might have expected to reach known countryin a few days;
but so great was the dearth of water, that a return on their own
track became a serious contingency,and it was only owing to the fore-
sight and perseverance of their leader that this catastrophe was
avoided. After passing over more spinifex country and several
rocky ranges, they at last reached permanent water at Barlee
Springs, and found themselves in a neighbourhood already traversed
by Giles and Gosse, halting, in fact, at Fort Mueller, one of the
former explorer’s depOts. From this point to the end of their
journey, their previous difficulties recurred, but to a greatly modified
extent, and the whole party reached the Peake Telegraph Station
on the 27th September, and Adelaide on the 8rd November.
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Necessity, in several instances, had shaped their course. First,
in Western Australia, owing to want of water, they were pre-
vented from penetrating as far to the North as had been desired ;
afterwards, when they had crossed the border, a combination of
causes, including a hot, dry season, bad country, short provisions,
and fagged animals, changed Forrest’s intention of exploring to the
South.

‘Whilst his report as to the chances of settlement in the spinifex
region was distinctly unfavourable, with perhaps an exception in
favour of patches similar to those in the neighbourhood of Mount
Moore and TLake Augusta, still Forrest gave a most cheering
account of the land on the Murchison beyond the then settled
districts of the Colony.

It will be seen what a disadvantage he laboured under compared
with Warburton and Gosse. But even thus handicapped, he only
the more exhibited his ability as an explorer ; for whilst Warburton,
equipped with camels, hurried across the continent, losing fifteen
out of seventeen beasts, Forrest not only saved a dozen of his
eighteen horses, but travelling slowly, and making careful notes, was
able to give a full and valuable report on the character of the
country through which he had passed, and, in the words of a well-
known historian, *concluded one of the most remarkable journeys
on record.”

Contemporaneously with these expeditions of Forrest, War-
burton, and Gosse, a series of journeys was being made by a
man who must always rank high amongst the noteworthy explorers
of this State.

Ernest (tiles had determined to accomplish a task which had
baffled many explorers—the examination and opening up of the
supposed desert of Central Australia; but it was not until his third
attempt that he was successful; and his journey must rank next
to Forrest’s as the most remarkable of similar attempts, for he not
only succeeded in crossing from Adelaide to Perth, but completed
the circuit by returning overland to South Australia vid the
Murchisor, and accomplished this in about twelve months’ actual
travelling time.

Being provided with horses only during his previous two
expeditions, he failed in the former one even to reach the border,
and in the second (1873-4) penetrated the desert country in two
directions, only to be driven back to South Australia through lack
of water. On his journey to and from Fort Mueller, no serious
mishap befell him or his party, but in the flying trip doring which
he sighted the Alfred and Marie ranges, his companion Gibson
succumbed to the perils of the desert now known by that ill-fated
explorer’s name.

In 1875, on (tles’ third expedition, he was, through the
generosity of Sir Thomas Elder, equipped with camels, and effectually
proved their superiority over horses as desert-voyagers by accom-
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plishing with them, comparatively easily, what his most strenuous
efforts with horses had previously failed to achieve.

Leaving Port Augusta on the 23rd May, they reached Boundary
Dam, in Western Australia, during August. So far the journey
had proved easy, but as soon as they plunged into the Great Victoria
Desert, which extends some hundreds of miles towards the West, they
began to undergo the usual hardships of travellers in such districts.
When nearly exhausted by a waterless stage of 325 miles, they
reached Queen Victoria Springs. After a short rest here, a course
North-East of the present Coolgardie goldfield was taken, and water
was found at Ularring. The remainder of the journey was uneventful,
and steering Westward, they reached Mount Churchman, and
eventually Tootra, an out-station of Messrs. Clunes’, in the vicinity
of Lake Moore. At Perth, which was entered on the 18th
November, they received a hearty welcome—having travelled 2,575
miles in about five months. During this expedition nothing
special in the way of country suitable for settlement was discovered.

After a few weeks’ rest in Perth, the return journey was
begun on 13th January, 1876, its first stage being. to Northampton,
vid Geraldton.

Giles’ object in this expedition was not only to reach the
Alfred and Marie Ranges which he had séen on his 1874 journey,
and to connect with his route of that year, but also to ascertain how far
the terrible Gibson’s Desert extended to the West. Having passed
the head waters of the Murchison and Gascoyne, they reached
Mount Labouchere, and on the 10th May encamped on the upper
portion of the Ashburton. A subordinate excursion was then made
from Grand Junction Depdt northward to Ophthalmia Range and
Mount Robinson, on the border of the tropics. The bead of the
Ashburton was reached, 350 miles from its mouth, and it was thus
proved to be one of the most important rivers in the Colony.

They entered Gibson’s Deserton the st of June, having resumed
their journey Eastwards, and from the 12th to 18th of that month
suffered intensely from want of water, a stretch of 280 miles being
traversed without it. Soon afterwards the Alfred and Marie
Ranges, and later on the familiar Rawlinson Mountains came in sight,
whence, passing through South Australian territory, the Peake
Station was reached on the 23rd August, a most formidable and
hazardous journey having been completed with greatexpedition. Giles
was now able to thoroughly substantiate the views of those explorers
and geographers who had described the greater part of the interior
of Australia as a sandy desert unfit for settlement. In performing
these journeys he added greatly to the knowledge of the country
traversed, and exhibited great skill as an explorer.

In 1876 Messrs. Phillip Saunders and Adam Johns, residents of
the Northern Territory, South Australia, crossed, on a gold pros-
pecting tour, from Roebourne to the overland telegraph line.
Passing through the Kimberley district, they failed to discover its
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auriferous nature, but reported on good pastoral country in that
neighbourhood.

In 1879, between the 25th February and the 6th October, Mr.
Alexander Forrest crossed from the DeGrey River to Daly Waters
Station on the overland Adelaide-Port Darwin telegraph line,
Leaving Beagle Bay, he proceeded East to King Sound, and
thence up the Fitzroy, which he followed for some distance, and
found it to be deep and rapid. Failing to penetiate the
rugged passes of the Leopold Range, he was reluctantly obhged
to go round it, and proceeding up the valley of the Margaret River,
discovered the well-watered Nicholson Plains, which he speaks of
as the “ finest part of Western Australia that T have seen.”

An Easterly course having been taken, the Ord River was then
met with, and its neighbourhood seemed likely to repay a thorough
examination ; but, with sick companions and provisions falling short,
the only course open was to steer for the telegraph, still 300 miles
away, which Forrest succeeded in reaching after much suffering
from thirst.

This trip was a highly successful one, as he found some of the
most valuable country in the Northern part of Western Australia,
which has since been stocked with cattle and sheep, and where large
mineral wealth still remains to be developed.

In 1883 and the following year, Mr. John Forrest, accom-
panied by Surveyors J. S. Brooking, H. F. Johnston, G. R.
Turner and G. J. Walsh, landing at Roebuck Bay, examined
a large portion of the Kimberley Division. He proceeded
from La Grange Bay to Fitzroy River, examined the inter-
mediate country carefully as far as St. George’s Range, and
found that it consisted mainly of rich elevated grassy plains with
abundance of water. Round the lowest part of the Ord River the
country was ascertained to be a fertile alluvium clothed with
rich luxuriant grass. The surveyors attached to this expedition
made accurate surveys of large portions of the district, traversing
the Fitzroy, Margaret, May, Lennard, and Richenda Rivers. Mr. E.
T. Hardman also accompanied this party and collected data which
enabled him to prepare a valuable geological map.

In 1883 Messrs. W. J. O'Donnell and W. Carr-Boyd, exploring
the country from the overland telegraph line in the direction
of Roebourne, were fortunate in finding good country in Kimberley,
and in 1884 a second expedition was undertaken by Mr. W. J.
O'Donnell and party from the Katherine Telegraph Station to the
same district.

In 1883 Mr. BE. T. Hardman, the Government Geologist,
reported indications of auriferous country in the Kimberley district,
and shortly afterwards the first payable gold in Western Australia
was discovered in that District by Messrs. Chas. Hall and P.
Slattery.
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In 1884 an unfortunate expedition was undertaken by Mr. H.
Stockdale, an experienced bushman, from Cambridge Gulf, in order
to explore the country in its vicinity.

From the Gulf Southwards he traversed well-watered and
diversified country till Buchanan Creek was reached. Having formed
his depét there, he hoped to make further explorations, but owing to
certain irregularities which had occurred in his absence on a flying
trip, he was compelled to start immediately for his destination,
the overland telegraph line between Adelaide -and Port Darwin,
and later to abandon, at their own request, two of his companions,
whom he left provided with all necessaries, and to whom a relief
party was despatched immediately upon his arrival at the
telegraph station. This and subsequent search-parties failed,
however, to discover any traces of the ill-fated men.

In the same year Mr. H. F. Johnston, with Mr. G. R. Turner
as second in command, and Mr. E. T. Hardman as geologist,
continued the triangulation and feature surveys from Mount Pierre,
on the Fitzroy to the junction of the Negri and Ord.  The course
taken lay for a considerable distance South of Mr. A. Forrest’s route
in 1879, and led to the discovery and naming of the Mary and Elvire
Rivers and numerous water courses, “ Hall’s Creek” being also found,
upon which is situated the present townsite of that name, the head
quarters of the East Kimberley Goldfields. Mr. Hardman made an
extensive geological examination of the country traversed, and
reported very favourably on the auriferous character of the district,
his report being important as directing attention to the Kimberley
Goldfields.

In 1885 Mr. H. F. Johnston, with Mr. C. Y. Nyulasy as second
in command, landed at View Hill, Cambridge Gulf, and connected
that port by triangulation with the work of 1884. The course of
the Ord was accurately mapped, and discovered to be wholly in
‘Western Australian territory below the Negri Junection. The
positions of the Bow, Fraser, and Behn Rivers, were also ascertained.

In 1887 the discovery of colours of gold at Mugakine led to
the organisation of the “Settlers’ Association,” which, with Government
aid, fitted out a party, under the leadership of Mr. Bernard
Colreavy, to explore the country to the Eastward of Newcastle
and Northam. They penetrated the country as far as the Yilgarn
Hills, a distance of fully 200 miles.

About the same time a party under the leadership of Mr. H.
Anstey, while prospecting in the same section, found rich specimens
of gold-bearing quartz at Eenuin, which led to the more careful
examination of the Golden Valley and Southern Cross districts.

In 1888 Mr. Geo. Simpson, M.E,, during the month of June,
made a journey to the Hampton Plains on behalf of u private
syndicate. He met with and reported on good country in that
district, plenty of water and fair timber being found there.

o]
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In 1888-9, the headwaters of the Gascoyne.and Ashburton were
explored by Mr. Ernest Favene, a well-known Queensland explorer
and historian. Setting out from Geraldton for the Upper Gascoyne,
he crossed over to the headwaters of the Ashburton in the North,
and discovered three important tributaries of that river, the
Cunningham, Jackson, and James, all running through magnificent
pastoral country.

In 1889, on the 14th of March, Mr. W. H. Tietkins set out from
Alice Springs to examine the hitherto unknown country to the North
and West of Lake Amadeus. Entering Western Australia near the
tropic of Capricorn, late in May, he discovered and named the
Kintore Range, 1,500ft. high, to the North-East of Lake Macdonald,
and ascended Mount Leisler. On the 31st of the same month he left
for the lake, and its circuit having been practically completed,
the Bonython Ranges were discovered to the South-East. On his re-
turn journey, Tietkins passed through sixty miles of country sup-
posed to be contained in the area of Lake Amadeus, but no vestige of
this great natural feature could be seen, although the lake was sub-
sequently found in another direction.

In 1890 Mr. F. Newman, a Swede, travelled from Fraser’s
Range North-East to Queen Victoria Springs, calculated to be 135
miles distant. He déscribed the latter part of the intermediate
country as poor and ecovered with spinifex and stunted

mallee.

The same year, Mr. W. P. Goddard was sent by a private syndi-
cate to report on the country to the North-East and East of Lake
Lefroy, and in doing so, explored several districts previously unex-
amined. His most Easterly position was in longitude 1244° East
(which was reached on the 12th September), the creek called by his
name, and which is probably connected with the Ponton River in
wet seasons, being discovered en route. About the same time the
districts around Lake Lefroy and between that and Southern Cross
were surveyed by Mr. Goddard.

In 1891 Mr. Lindsay, the leader of the expedition fitted out
by Sir Thomas Elder to complete the exploration of Australia—
more especially the Western Colony—left Warrina on 2nd May.
Shortly after crossing the border, Mr. Leech was despatched on a
fruitless trip Northwards to search for traces of the ill-fated
Gibson, who had perished some seventeen years previously.
The expedition then proceeded wvid Fort Mieller to Mount
Squires, where water was obtained. . Thence a South-West
course was taken across the unknown Block A to Queen Victoria
Springs. In latitude 29° 20' South, 270 miles from Mount Squires,
the Eastern edge of good pastoral country was touched. Upon
reaching the springs they were found to be dry, and the intended
further exploration from them as a base had to be abandoned, the
party having to push on to Fraser Range; and this hasty trip
through the desert from Mount Squires represented the only
useful work done so far. Lindsay reported that when about half-
way to the Range, they passed a good country of rich red soil pro-
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ducing good stock bushes, but all extremely dry. A belt of
country “ worthy the attention of prospectors” was also met with.
Having rested for some time at the Range, they set out to examine,
if possible, the Western side of the desert they had just traversed,
but want of water compelled them to take an extreme Westerly
course vid Mount Monger, to the Murchison, passing through
country mostly covered with miserable thicket on a sandy soil with
granite outcrops. On the lst January, 1892, they reached their
destination, where the majority of the members left the expedition,
and their leader was recalled to Adelaide. In his absence, a flying
trip was taken by Mr. L. A. Wells into the district known as Block
A, lying between Giles’ 1876 and Forrest’s 1874 itracks. Starting prac-
tically from the depét at Welbundinum, he completed his examination
of practically the whole block in about six weeks, between the 23rd
February and the 4th April. In this expedition he travelled
834 miles, discovered some fine ranges and hills, a large extent
of pastoral, and some auriferous country, but no permanent surface
water. The total area explored in the two expeditions was 80,000
square miles, and the total mileage covered 2,745 miles.

In 1896, on the 16th July, Mr. L. A. Wells, chief of the
Calvert Exploration Expedition, started from Lake Way to examine
the country between the East Murchison and Fitzroy Rivers.

Adopting a North-Easterly course, a depot was formed in
latitude 25° 54' South, longitude 122° 20/ East, excellent water-holes
and fair country existing in the neighbourhood. The period
between the 10th August and the 8th September was occupied ina
flying trip North-Hast through Mount Bates, on a dry stage of 200
miles, till a good well was found in latitude 23° 23' South, and
longitude 124° East, whence a return was made »id Giles’ 1876
route. Leaving the depdt finally on the 14th September,
the party at length reached Separation Well. Thence travel-
ling along the meridian of Joanna Springs, and, subsequently
upon reaching that point, North-North-East, it struck the
Fitzroy River, a little North-West of Mount Tuckfield, on the 6th
November, a distance altogether from Mount Bates of 500 miles.
Most of this was the usual spinifex and sandridge country, and the
last 300 miles were almost destitute of camel feed or water—in
fact they were compelled to abandon five beasts, and had the greatest
difficulty in saving the others.

At Separation Well Messrs. C. F. Wells and G. Lindsay Jones
were, on the 11th October, sent on to examine the country bearing
‘West-North-West for 80 or 100 miles, and thence North-HEast to cut,
their leader’s track about 30 or 40 miles South of Joanna Springs.
On his arrival at the rendezvous six days later than had been
expected, not finding the two men, Mr. L. A. Wells naturally con-
" cluded that they had arrived previously, and been compelled to push
on to the Fitzroy. The fate of the unfortunate men has since been as-
certained, their bodies being found by Wells some months afterwards
fourteen miles West-South-West from the Springs. Their journal
disclosed the fact that, being unable to proceed owing to the heavy
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nature of the country, they retraced their steps, and, striking the
expedition’s track, followed it Northwards, only to perish from want
of water about the 15th November.

As soon as the news that two of the party were missing
reached Perth, energetic efforts were put forth by the West
Australian Government; and on the 19th December, Mr. W. T,
Rudall left Braeside Station on the Qakover River in charge of an
expedition to follow up the river and its branch, the Davis, thence
striking Bastward to cut the tracks of the missing men.

After leaving Christmas Pool some distance South-East of
Mount Macpherson, Rudall, guided by blacks, came upon a camp
into which footsteps, supposed to be those of the persons sought,
were traceable. Here, unfortunately, all tracks were lost, and he
was reluctantly obliged, through his camels failing him, to return
to his starting-point. He immediately organised a second trip, but
after strenuous though fruitless efforts, the party engaged on this
expedition also were driven back owing to the insuperable diffi-
culties encountered. Rumours, supplied by natives, of straying
camels, ete., having reached Rudall, it was considered wise to make a
further search to the South of the Oakover River, and, accordingly, on
the 7th February, 1897, he again set out. = The course of the river
being followed for somedistance, thelatitude of the tropicof Capricorn
was reached, and in longitude 120° 10’ East the bodies of two men,
supposed to have been murdered by natives, were discovered.
Returning »id Roy Hill Station to Nullagine, a report of the find
was sent to Perth, but, after due consideration and medical exami-
nation, it was decided that the remains were not those of the
missing explorers, and a final attempt was made to solve the
mystery surrounding the fate of the two men. Rudall, leaving
Braeside Station on the 9th April, visited Separation Well, and
attained a point 60 miles South of Joanna Springs before returning
to Braeside, which was finally reached on the 23rd June. Although
these journeys proved unsuccessful in their object, it cannot
be said that the work was fruitless, since Rudall had travelled
over an area of 23,000 square miles, and had obtained a large
amount of information not previously possessed concerning the
physical features of the country examined.

In 1896, from 17th June to 13th September, Mr. A. Mason, a
Government officer, was engaged in examining the South-
BEastern district of the Colony, lying between Kurnalpi and Eucla,
into portions of which rabbits were supposed to have penetrated.
He claimed to have discovered some millions of acres of some of
the finest pastoral and agricultural country in the world, but re-
ported a very poor supply of surface water. This important belt of
land lies between 125° East longitude and the South Australian -
border, and South of about 30° South latitude. These plains were
partly examined by Sir John Forrest during his 1870 overland trip
to Adelaide, and both he and Captain Delisser in 1865 spoke of
them in terms somewhat similar to those used by the later explorer.
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In the same year an expedition was sent, under the auspices of
the South Australian Government, from Oodnadatta to Coolgardie,
to open up, if possible, a stock route between the two
places.

The leader, Hiibbe, entered the Colony near Mount Hinckley,
below 26° South latitude, and keeping to the South of that parallel,
followed Forrest’s 1874 route through Barlee Springs as far as

Mount Allott, and thence South-West by Ernest Giles’ Range.
" travelled to Take Wells. The remainder of the journey by De la,
Poer Range and Mackenzie's Well, where a good supply of water
was obtained, to Menzies and Coolgardie was through compara-
tively well-known country. He arrived at the latter place in
August, and left some time afterwards, returning wd Kucla to
South Australia. Fair water was found in several places, e.g.,
Mount Aloysius, but the same spinifex country which had harassed
Forrest so much was met with throughout, with the exception of
small patches of better country found near the South Australian
border and during the latter part of the journey.

On 20th July an expedition, equipped and led by the Hon.
David Carnegie, left civilisation at Doyle’s Well, some fifty miles
Southr of Liake Darldt, to strike across the continent in a North-
North-Easterly direction, in the hopes of finding gold-bearing or

astoral country in the great desert lying between latitudes 19°
and 28° South and longitudes 122° and 129° East, which hitherto
had only been crossed from East to West or vice versd. Travelling
over a long stretch of dry country, during which journey the camels
were without water for 134 days, they reached a soakage 45 miles
South-South-West of Alexander Spring, which afforded water.
Proceeding on past the Spring, which was dry, a few low sandstone
ranges and hills were found, and, occasionally in the valleys, belts of
bloodwood, and a few shrubs edible to camels; but most of the
country was a continuous waste of sand ridges. From latitude
20° 40" to lautude 19° 20" South, these were again broken by
occasional high tablelands and sandstone cliffs, from which small
creeks ran into the sand, fine rock-pools, such as Godfrey’s tank,
being found at their heads. On the outgoing trip, the only
permanent water—Helena Spring—was found in latitude 21° 20/
Soutl in limestone formation. Within fifty miles of Hall’s Creek
one of the party, Mr. Charles Stansmore, lost his life through a
gun accident. On reaching that township on 6th December, Mr.
Carnegie heard of the disaster to the Calvert Expedition and at
once offered his assistance, but relief parties had already been
despatched. After a badly needed rest, the expedition left Mr.
Stretche’s cattle station in the beginning of April, 1897, and
travelled down the Sturt Creek to its junction with Gregory’s Salt
"Sea, in which were found numbers of wild fowl and fish. Following
thence a generally Southerly direction parallel to the border,
sand ridges commenced about latitudes 20° 30’ South, and continued
in almost unending monotony as far South as the Rawlinson Range.
A range of considerable size, the Stansmore, was found in about
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latitude 214° South, but neither auriferous nor pastoral country
appeared to exist in its vicinity. Thence a Southerly course was
taken to the Hastern end of Lake Macdonald. The sand ridges in this
district were so frequent that in eight hours travelling 86 of them
were passed over. From here a Southerly and South- Westerly course
was taken past the Rawlinson Range, till the outward (1896) track
was struck near Alexander Spring. Much needed water was found
in the bed of Blyth Creek, and a welcome fall of rain filled the
Spring itself.  Crossing Lake Wells, and cutting the Erlistoun
Creek near its head, the first auriferous country seen since leaving
Hall’s Creek was met with. From this a course was shaped
through Lake Darldt to Coolgardie, which was reached in August,
the expedition having travelled three thousand miles in eight months.
No permanent water was found after leaving Sturt Creek, and the
impracticability of a direct stock route being opened between Kim-
berley and the North Coolgardie fields, was proved bevond question.
It was moreover clearly shown that the desert traversed, with
the possible exception of small and isolated patches, contained no
auriferous country.

In 1897, from May to October, Mr. Hugh Russel was engaged
on a gold prospecting tour. From Crawford’s camp, 60 miles
North-North-East of Mount Margaret, a course was steered v:d
Mount Shenton to Mount Squires, the journey being mostly over
desert country.  The whole district in this neighbourhood, includ-
ing the Barrow, Warburton, and Cavenagh Ranges, was carefully
examined, but little good country discovered.  Returning on his
outward track, no water was found from .Melango Creek to
Kirkpatrick’s Well, which stage occupied 133 days.

1896 to 1898. On the 1st April, 1896, Mr. Frank H. Hann, a
Queensland squatter, started from Lawn Hill, on the Gulf of
Carpentaria, to prospect the North-West interior of Western Aus-
tralia for pastoral country. His party consisted of one white man,
six Queensland blacks, and sixty-seven horses, nine of which belonged
to his white companion, who accompanied him as far as Roebourne.
The Ord River was struck in about lat. 16° 37’ South, and followed
up to Hall’s Creek. An attempt was made from here to find a
track through the desert to the head of the Oakover River, but had
to be abandoued, and a course made for Derby along the Fitzroy
River. From Derby, Mr. Hann went on with his party to Broonie,
Condon, and Roebourne. After replenishing his stores at this latter
place, he followed the Fortescue River to its head, and thence North-
East to Nullagine. From here Mr. Hann made a trip to the East-
ward, into the desert, where he met Mr. Rudall, who was searching
for the lost members of Wells’ expedition. So far Mr. Hann’s trip
had been barren of results, and the loss of horses was so great, that,
on his arrival at Derby, he was about to return to Queensland, when
he met Police Inspector Ord, who advised him to try the Leopold
Ranges for gold. This he decided to do, and a start was made for Mt.
Broome with six Queensland blacks, 31 horses and two dogs. Great
trouble was experienced in crossing the Leopold Ranges on the
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West side of Mt. Broome, but an examination of the country to the
North and East for about 30 miles so satisfied Mr. Hann, that he
decided to at once return to Derby, and take up land in the district
just visited. On his leaving Derby, Inspector Ord joined
the party, and the River Adeock which had been explored
and named on the first trip, was followed down to its junction
with the Fitzroy River. A high and impassable range running
North-East and South-West of the river on its South-East
side was named Sir John Range, and a lofty table-topped
mountain to the North of the Adcock-Fitzroy jnnction, was called
Mt. Brennan. Blacks here were very numerous. The Fitzroy
River was then followed up to an impassable gorge, 200ft. deep,
with precipitous sides, which was named Sir John Gorge. To get
vround the range, the course was altered to North-West, where
splendid cattle country was noticed, and then to the South-
East. A fine river from the North-North-West was struck here, which
forms a junction with the Fitzroy River, about half-a-mile above
Sir John Gorge. 'This river was named the « Phillips ” by Mr. Hann,
but the name was afterwards altered by the Surveyor-General to
the “ Hann River.” On this river, four miles above its junction with
the Fitzroy, a tree marked by Mr., Robert Buttons, EB was discovered.
Ten miles above the junction the river is a quarter of a mile
wide, and splendidly adapted for watering stock; clear, running
water, low banks, no bogs, the margin sohd qa,nd and the stream
opening up every now and then into large water-holes, all of which
were found to be full of crocodiles, a harmless species, about 6ft. to
8ft. long, living principally on fish. Travelling about 20 miles up
this stream, a small lake was found on the right Lank of the river.
The lake was three miles in circumference, and very deep, and was
named “ Gladstone Lake.” On the lake and river geese, ducks,
waterhen, and many other kinds of game were in abundance. The
whole country was found to be intersected with rivers, creeks, and
lagoons, the timber on the river consisting mainly of coolibah, box,
plum, gum, magnificent bloodwood, bauhinia, kurrajong, and
baobobs.  One of the latter trees was measured,and found to be 45ft.
in diameter, and rose perpendicularly to a height of 100ft. In 16°45'
South lat., the Hann River takes a Northerly course, and runs
through gorges into a rough range of hills, which were named the
‘“Caroline Ranges.” About 25 miles West from here a large creek
was met with, and called the “Charnley;” the travelling was ex-
ceedingly rough, and the horses in a bad state for want of shoes. In
the Charnley some bream were caught, and the river was then
followed down through very rough country to an impassable gorge
cut through a range of high basalt hills. This range was named
“ Hdkins.” It was covered with immense stones as slippery as
glass. A new kind of palm was discovered here, with a succulent
head, which formed a splendid vegetable something akin to cabbage.
The Leopold Ranges were again crossed by means of a pass at the
head of the Barker River, near Mount Hart. Mr. Hann was of
opinion that a good dray road could be made over the ranges at
this point. Natives were very numerous throughout this country,
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but very wild and unapproachable. Thev were without covering of
any kind whatever, but iron implements were discovered in their
camps. The last described exploration was carried out in June, July,
and August, 1898. To quote Mr. Hann’s own words, he “ never
saw better watered country in his life.”

In 1901, during the month of April, the Government
despatched a well-equipped party, under the leadership of Mr. F.
S. Brockman, with Mr. Charles Crossland as second in command,
to explore the extreme Northern end of the State, lying between
the 17th and 14th parallels of latitude, and West from the 128th
Meridian. That the investigation of the resources of the country
might be complete, the party was accompanied by Mr. Gibb Mait-
land, the Government Geologist, and an assistant geologist, and Dr.
F. M. House, as Naturalist. To use Mr. Brockman’s own
description of his trip:—TLeaving the port of Wyndham on the
9th of May, the party proceeded in a Southerly direction, following
the course of a previously unexplored river (named the Chamberlain)
to the 17th parallel, and proceeded thence Westerly, principally
over high sandstone tablelands, to the Charnley River, which had
been explored and named by Mr. F. Hann, in 1899. Mr. Hann’s
position of this river and the neighbouring features were found to
be geographically accurate. The party then traced the Charnley
and Isdell Rivers Westerly from Hann’s exploration to their
respective points of exit in tidal waters. They also traced the
course of the Sale River and tributaries (discovered by Mr. T. C.
Sholl in 1865, but placed too far South by him), and the course of
the (lenelg River (discovered by Sir George Grey in 1837, and
also previously shown in error of latitude). They discovered and
traced the course of the Calder River, and the head waters of the
Prince Regent River; located the positions of the tidal waters
extending inland from Collier and Doubtful Bays, and generally
investigated the country lying to the South-West and South-East
of the main watershed, which is situate about the 16th parallel of
latitude, and to the Westward of the 126th Meridian. From the
Northern fall of this watershed the Roe River was traced from its
source to its exit into the tidal waters of Prince Frederick
Harbour. The Moran River was discovered, and its course
between the same points traced. The head waters of the King
Edward River were discovered at the watershed, and this river
was again picked up in about latitude 15° 15, and its
course traced Northerly to its exit into Napier Broome Bay.
Portions of the shores of Admiralty Gulf, Vansittart and Napier
Broome Bays, were closely examined with a view “to selecting a
suitable port for the district. The Drysdale was traversed from its
mouth (on the 14th parallel of latitude) to the main watershed
previously veferred to on the 16th parallel. At the same time a
sufficient number of points on the Carson River were located to
enable that stream to be mapped with approximate accuracy. The
Durack River was traced from the 17th parallel of latitude to its
entrance into the tidal waters of Cambridge Gulf. The whole of
the country drained by the rivers already enumerated was
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investigated as closely as practicable in an exploration of this
description, all high points met with being ascended, and short
excursions being made at right angles to the main line of travel
wherever practicable. The exploration was completed on the 20th
November, by the arrival of the leader and his party at the Pentecost
River, at a point previously fixed by him on the 18th May. The
practical results of the expedition consist of the discovery of a large
area (six million acres) of basaltic pastoral country covered with
blue grass, Mitchell and kangaroo grasses, and many varieties of top
feed, lying principally in the neighbourhood of the Charnley, Calder,
Sale, Roe, Moran, and Carson Rivers, with some extensive areas in
addition situate on the Drysdale, and in smaller patches in the
neighbourhood of the Durack and its tributaries. In addition the
existence of suitable ports and routes of access to enable this country
to be utilised for stock raising were ascertained. Many objects of
scientific interest amongst the Flora and Fauna of the district were
discovered and brought back by the party. A few aboriginal
weapons and implements, and a large number of photographs of
curious cave paintings were obtained. A considerable amount of
information was also obtained with regard to the numbers, habits,
and distribution of the aborigines of the country.

In the same year, 1901, a preliminary examination of the
country between Kalgoorlic and Eucla was made by Mr. John
Muir, the Inspector of Engineering Surveys, in connection with the
proposed transcontinental railway. The object of the expedition
was to obtain further information regarding that tract of country
lying between the Coolgardie Goldfields and the South Australian
border, South of the 31lst parallel of latitude, with a view, in the
“first place, of determining the probable cost of constructing a rail-
way through that country, and, secondly, of ascertaining the nature
and resources of the country proposed to be crossed. Muir
took with him three months’ supply of provisions, eleven carrying
camels, and five riding camels. The latter were required to explore
the outlying country for as great a distance as possible on both
sides of the line followed by the main caravan, and to search the
surrounding country for water. Two were utilised on one side of
the line of march, and two on the other side; the fifth was kept as
a reserve. The expedition left Kanowna on the 16th May, followed
the North-West side of the lake country as far as Kurnalpi, and
from there turned South-East to Cardinia, a granite rock lying
about 50 miles East of Bulong, which was reached on the 23rd.
Here the camels were given a four days’ spell, while Muir
examined the country Westward towards Bulong, and two members
of the party were sent ahead to see what the Jumannia water supply
was like. A move was made to the latter place on the 28th, and
thence the expedition proceeded to Goddard’s Creek, about 60 miles
further on, ‘two men again being sent ahead to examine the
prospects of finding water. While the caravan followed slowly the
camel pad made by the advance party, Muir examined the
country for about 10 miles on either side of the line of march. On
the 31st the two men were met, who brought news that they had
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discovered a soak. On the 2nd June the creck was reached, the
camels having been five days without water. Iater on a dozen or
more similar soaks were discovered, but the supply in every instance
was very limited. Mr. C. H. Babington, who was Mr. Muir’s chief
assistant, found a good soak some 12 miles down the creek, and
the main caravan was moved on to it on the 4th June. Muir
meanwhile, with two men, three camels, and a weel’s provisions,
went North to examine the country, having been informed that
frequent rumours were heard from the natives of the existence of a
“big water” never yet seen by white men, but supposed
to be situated 20 or 80 miles East or South-East of
Victoria Springs. Having, however, continued his excursion
for over 50 miles without finding any water, he returned to
camp on the 8th June. On the 10th Juue the country in the
neighbourhood of the camp was explored, and, as a result of this
examination, the camp was shifted, on the 11th June, to a soak nine
miles Eastward, in the bed of the creek. Babington, who had
been exploring ahead of the expedition, hére rejoined the party, and
reported that water was obtainable 30 miles down the creek.
Another exploration Northward for water, commenced on the 16th,
proved as fruitless as the former one, and on the 21st, Muir returned
to the main camp on Goddard’s Creek. Babington unfortunately
had been equally unsuccessful to the Bastward. The leader of the
expedition therefore decided to make for Eyre, about 150 miles to
the South-East. On the morning of the 25th June the main caravan
started for Yayoudle Rock, Babington, who was in charge,
being instructed that, failing to find water there, he was to proceed
to Eyre. On the same date Muir himself, with one man and two
camels, started to examine the country along the probable course of
the railway. Being unable to find any water, he also proceeded to
Yayoudle Rock, which he reached on the lst July, and where a
small supply of water was found. On the following day he climbed
the hills in the neighbourhood to look for the main caravan; on
returning to camp he found Babington waiting for him there, who
informed him that the caravan was some 20 or 30 miles on the road
to Eyre. With all despatch Muir then pushed on to the latter
place, reaching there on the 3rd July, and finding that the main
party had arrived on the previous evening. From Eyre he sent the
main caravan to Mundrabilla Station, on the coast, about 100 miles
further Eastward, where water could be relied upon, while he,
himgelf, with two men, started out to work the inland country.
He left Eyre on the 6th July, and after 1ravelling 70 wmiles North,
‘went Bastward 100 miles, and next 80 miles Southward to Mundra-
billa. Nothing of any moment occurred on this trip worth
particularising, and on reaching Mundrabilla on the 14th, he found
that the camel train had arrived the previous day, and that
Babington, with one man, had gone on a previously arranged
special trip, 60 miles out, in a Northerly direction.  On the 17th
Muir left, with one man and two camels, to examine the
remaining portion of the line, from a point about 30 miles North of
Mundrabilla, to Eucla, the main caravan travelling to the latter



75

place along the coast. Muir arrive]l at his destination on the
19th, the caravan arriving on the 20th. On the 29th the return
journey was begun. About 50 miles North from the coast, the
Westward course commenced, in latitude 31 deg. South. At
‘Wadalyuia Rock, on the 12th August, a splendid water supply was
found, and on the 16th another, still more plentiful. Goddard’s
Creek was reached on the 20th, and Bulong on the 29th. The total
distance travelled was about 1,100 miles. The country traversed
was mostly waterless, though well grassed and timbered, game—
kangaroos, emus, and turkeys—being fairly plentiful in the vicinity
of the rock- boles

5.—HISTORY OF MINERAL DISCOVERIES.
(Revised by A. Gibb Maitland, Government Geologist.)

The discovery of gold in New South Wales and Victoria, in
the year 1851, wrought an almost magical change in the material
welfare of those colonies. Where, prior to that date, the growth
had been comparatively tardy, now began an era of rapid and sub-
stantial progress. The population increased, towns and cities arose,
roads were opened, while agricultural and all other industries were
stimulated, and a strong local market was at ‘once created for all
industrial products.

It is hardly, therefore, to be wondered at that the attention of
the early settlers in Western Australia was directed towards the
discovery of mineral deposits.

The history of mining in this State dates back as far as the
year 1842, with the finding of lead and copper in the Victoria
District. The discoverer of copper was a man named Thomas
Mason, at that time following the humble occupation of shepherd
in the employ of the late Mr. James Drummond. He was stationed
at Wanerenooka, and there found the deposits which were after-
wards worked with success. Mr. Mason sold his find for £100, and
a promise of £100 a year and work for three teams, if the parties
were successful in purchasing the land, which in those days had to
be put up to public auction. The annuity and work were to con-
tinue so long as the mine should be working. The eompany which
was subsequently formed did not ratify the £100 a year part of the
arrangement ; but Mason worked a team on the road drawing
copper ore during 1858 and 1859, until he left this Colony for the
gold diggings in Victoria. Several mines were started, and smelt-
ing works erected by English companies, who worked them at a
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profit for many years. The first great check these mines received
was caused by the exodus of miners to the Victorian goldfields,
and as no others were to be obtained in the Colony, and very
few would leave England for any other part of Australia but
Victoria, the mines were practically closed down. A second attempt
was made to work them some years later, but it was not altogether a
success, owing to the great fall in the price of bothlead and copper,
iron having in a great measure replaced copper in ship-building and
lead for pipes, tanks, and roofing ; not to mention the phenomenally
rich discoveries of copper in South Australia and Spain, which
flooded the market.

In the year 1846 Mr. A. C. Gregory reported the discovery of coal on
1846, the Irwin River. In July of the same year, Mr. Beacham,

" while digging a drain on the South side of the Murray River
—about 35 miles from Fremantle—found specimens of a substance
resembling coal. Sammples were submitted to Mr. Birch, an English
chemist, residing at Fremantle, who at once pronounced them ““ coal
of an inferior quality, similar however to that usually found at or
near the surface.” The discovery was confirmed by Messrs. Singleton,
Lefroy, Nash, and Moore, who, a few davs after, visited the
Murray.

Public meetings were shortly after held at Perth and Fre-
mantle, and committees were appointed to raise nioney for
prospecting purposes. In September, the prospectus of the
first mining company organised in Western Australia was issued,
“The Western Australian Mining Company,” with a capital of
£20,000, in 10,000 shares of £2 each.

The Government, about this time, realising the importance of the
1847 discovery of coal beds in the Colony, offered a reward of

" 2,500 acres of land to any person discovering a payable
coalfield.  Thus encouraged the company immediately commenced
operations at the Murray, but the results not meeting the expectations
of the sanguine shareholders, the latter became dissatisfied, and in
March, 1847, Dr. F. Von Sommer, an expert from abroad, com-
missioned by the Government to examine and report on the coal'and
mineral resources of the Colony, visited the workings and expressed
himself as not being very hopeful as to the prospects of coal
being found in payable quantities. In December work was
discontinued at the shaft, owing to the presence of water and
quicksand. Dr. Von Sommer stated that he had found evidences
of the existence of “subterranean lead veins” in the neigh-
bourhood of their prospecting works, but at the same time
said “shafts sunk in this district were not promising or worth
continuing, for with the increase of depth iron took the
place of lead.” As indications of copper had been found near
Kelmscott, the company, in hopes of finding lead or copper ore in
payable quantities on their property, continued operations until the
latter part of the year 1849, when, not finding any encouraging
prospects, and fears being entertained by the shareholders that it
would be necessary to levy an assessment to carry on the work,
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they decided to abandon the property and dissolve the company,
which was finally accomplished in the early part of the year 1850.

In the years 1848 and 1849, Capt. Roe, then Surveyor General, and
1848 Mr, Gregory, Assistant Surveyor, reported the discovery of

" coal in the bed of the Fitzgerald and Phillip rivers, on the
South coast, about 100 to 150 miles East of Albany, but, unfortu-
nately, in both places the seams proved to be valueless.

The copper and lead deposits on the Murchison were
discovered in 1848; specimens from this vicinity were first re-
ceived in Perth during August of that year, and on being sent
to Adelaide for assay were found to contain not only copper
and lead, but also “traces of gold,” and one piece the assayer
certified as being richer in silver than any ore found up to that time
in South Australia.

The Government immediately despatched a party to the scene
of the discovery, under the leadership of Mr. A. C. Gregory, who in
his journal wrote: “Mr. Walcott brought in some specimens of
galena which upon examination proved to be abundant in the bed
of the river.”

Mr. Gregory found, near the Bowes River, * garnets, iron
pyrites, and a mineral resembling plumbago,” and had “little doubt
a further search would develop many hidden sources of wealth.”

In the Government Gazette of 20th March, 1849, the public were
1849 notified that, on the 18th April, 640 acres of mineral land on
" the Murchison River would be offered for sale by auction at
an upset price of £1 per acre. The property was purchased by a
Perth Company, organised with a capital of £640, in 32 shares of
£20 each. A mine was opened, and named the “ Geraldine” ; Messrs.
A. O’G. Lefroy, G. Shenton, and R.M. Habgood were elected trustees
of the company, and Mr. W. Burges superintendent. The next
step was to advertise for tenders to extract and haul 100 tons
of ore to Champion Bay. Meanwhile it had become noised about
that the natives in the vicinity of the claim had threatened
hostilities ; in consequence of this rumour no one was very anxious
to take contracts for mining and carting through this unknown
region. In this extremity the Government were petitioned to fur-
nish a guard of soldiers; the petitioners’ prayer was granted, the
authorities promising an escort of 25 men. But even after this promise
there was no rush of teamsters, and a meeting of the company being
called,it was decided to purchase a team. However, while negotiations
were pending for the purchase of horses, the company succeeded
in hiring two teams for a termi of three months; then miners were
engaged for the same period, and the party, accompanied by a
guard of seven soldiers, started for the Murchison. On arrival at
the mine the party in a short time succeeded in taking out over a
ton of lead ore, which was at once despatched to Champion Bay.
Mr. Burges, in his report to the directors of the company, was very
enthusiastic over the prospects ; he had found copper and zinc,and
as there was plenty of timber in the vicinity, he advised that
smelting works be erected in the neighbourhood of the mine.
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In January, 1850, the mine was sold by the original shareholders for
1850 £1,600, payable in shares. A new company was immediately

" launched with a capital of £6,400, in 1,280 shares of £5 each.
Mr. R. J. Sholl was appointed secretary, and it was resolved to obtain
the services of an experienced mining captain, and to erect a furnace.
The new captain, a Mr. James, in a most glowing report from the
mine, stated *‘that there was a fine lode 2ft. 4in. wide with 18
inches of solid galena.” The copper ore found on the property
proved exceptionally rich, samples assayed by Mr. Gregory carrying
on an average over 25 per cent. of that metal.

In the latter part of 1852 three or four parties were despatched to
1852, thq Eastward of York and Newecastle, seeking for gold; but

owing to climatic canses—gcarcity of feed and water for their
horses—they were forced to abandon the search when but a short
distance from the now well-known Yilgarn Goldfield. It is but
reasonable to suppose that there were no experienced prospectors
in the Colony at that time, and as there is nothing in the general
appearance of a gold-bearing country to attract the attention of the
inexperienced gold-seeker, it is nothing more than could be
expected that, as we subsequently learn, they passed over good
mdicittions without even suspecting the presence of the precious
metal.

Rich specimens of gold-bearing stone were found in 1852-53
1853 by shepherds and others, out Eastward, but unfortunately

" they were unable to afterwards locate the places where they
discovered the stone. On the strength of these finds the suin of
£357 was subscribed at a public meeting held in Fremantle in
January, 1854, towards a reward to be given for the discovery of
gold in the Colony.

Quite an -excitement was caused in March, 1854, by the reported
1854 discovery of gold at Cardup, about 25 miles from Fre-

" mantle, and in a few days over 100 men were on the ground.
Mr. A. C. Gregory visited the spot, and found that the prospectors
had sunk six or seven holes to a depth of from three to fifteen feet,
the diggers claiming to have found gold in all of them. Mr.
Gregory, upon examination, found it to be yellow mica and iron
pyrites scattered in small particles through a formation consisting
of decomposed slate and quarlz. After a critical analysis he
could not find the slightest trace of gold in any of the stone. and
was of the opinion “ that the chemical agents used by those who
found gold in specimens of rock taken from Cardup had been
adulterated with the precious metal, either accidentally or by design,
to attract public attention, as had been the case on more than one
previous occasion.”

In the same year Mr. Gregory visited the Murchison
District, and, at the Bowes River, found in a fragment of quartz,
taken from a vein in that neighbourhood, a very minute speck of
gold, and this, he said, was the only occasion on which he observed
gold in the rocks of the district. Later that year, Mr. Austin
ascended to the top of Mount Magnet, where he found “ small,
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delicate layers of a crystalline substance resembling quartz; the
rock had great magnetic power; each bit of stone had two.poles
like a magnet or loadstone, attracting and repelling the point of
the magnetic needle.” TFor this reason he named it « Mount
Magnet.” He further said that “the geologicai formation of the
country east of the Murchison River had every appearance of being
one of the finest goldfields 1n the World.”

In the latter part of the year 1855, high-grade copper ore was dis-
1855, covered at the Bowes River. The property—90 acres in extent

* —was purchased by Mr. Jas. Drummond for the Wanerenooka
Mining Company. 1In 1856, 57 tons of copper ore were shipped from
the Bowes and Murchison districts. The account sales of the first
shipments from the Wanerenooka mine showed that the ore realised
£27 18s. 4d. per ton, and shareholders were jubilant. The balance-
sheet of the company for March, 1858, showed that they had a
credit balance of over £1,350, while the property was valued at
£9,400.

In the Blue Book, 1857, Mr. F. P. Barlee, then Colonial Secretary,
1857 under the “ Return of Manufactories, Mines, and Fisheries,”

" made the following entry: “Mineral indications abound
in the Northern parts of the Colony. Specimens (surface) of gold
have been found, and there is but little doubt that gold will eventu-
ally be found in Western Australia to a large extent.”

From 1857 to 1864 the search for gold was carried on, but,
unfortunately, without meeting with the success it deserved.

The Wheel of Fortune and several other mines in the Champion
1859 Bay district were opened up, and by the end of 1859 the

" shipments amounted to 941 tons, all remarkably high-class
ore; sales of large parcels were made at Swansed, carrying from 20
t0 353 per cent. copper, and realised up to £35 14s. per ton. Up
to the close of 1859, in all 577 tons of pig lead, valued at £11,640
sterling, were shipped from the Geraldine Smelting Works; after
the latter date but little smelting was done.

In the latter part of 1861 Mr. Panton, while on a trip to the Bast-
1861 ward of Northam, picked up several specimens of gold-bearing

" quartz, Public meetings were immediately held, and in a
short time the sum of £2,500 was privately subscribed, whilst the
Government promised an equal amount for the discovery of a work-
able field within a radius of 150 miles of the Perth Post Office.
A short time after a shepherd brought into Northam several
specimens containing free gold, which he found 25 or 30 miles to
the Bastward, but most unfortunately he was unable to find
his way back to the spot where he had discovered the gold-bearing
stone.

In 1862 the Government engaged Mr. E. H. Hargraves, a practical
1862 miner, who had discovered the New South Wales goldfields

" inl851, to search for precious minerals throughout the settled
districts of the Colony, for a period of six months or longer if neces-
sary. Landing at Albany, he prospected the coun..y as far as
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Northam and through the Darling Range. He made a very
unfavourable report, stating that the formation of the area over
which he had travelled was of such a character that gold would never
be fpund in large or payable quantities ; indeed, so confirmed was
he in his opinion that in January, 1864, he wrote an article on
“The non-auriferous character of the rocks of Western Australia,”
which was published in the Journal of the Royal Geographical
Society of that year ; Hargraves, however, expressed the opinion that
the Colony was rich in copper, lead, and iron.

In 1864 a convict named Wildman, serving a 15-year sentence at Fre-
1864. mantle, told the prison authorities that in 1856 he was first

mate of a Dutch vessel, the “ Maria Augusta,” which became
disabled on the Nor’~West coast. They anchored in a bay (supposed
to be Camden Harbour) to make the necessary repairs. While there
he wandered off a short distance in the bush, where, in acertain place
which he had marked, he in a short time found eight nuggets of
gold, which he disposed of to a bullion dealer in Liverpool for
£416. He offered, if the balance of his term (12 years) was
remitted, to lead an expedition to the spot. A company was
quickly organised, the Government contributing £150 towards
defraying the expenses, and Mr. Panton, inspector of police,
was appointed leader of the expedition, which sailed from Fre-
mantle in the “New Perseverance” on March 2nd. On
reaching Camden Harbour Wildman refused to point out the spot.
Mr. Panton and his party searched diligently, traversing the
country 20 miles inland, but failing to find any signs of the precious
metal, they returned to Fremantle.

In 1864 and 1865 parties under the leadership of Mr. C. C. Hunt
1865, penetrated tp the Hastward of York, 300 miles or more.
* They nanied the “ Hampton Plains” in honour of the then
Governor, and on the second trip (1865) formed a camp on
them and explored the country for many miles in all direc-
tions, visiting Lake Lefroy and the Dundas Hills, and it is more
than probable travelled over the rich Coolgardie goldfields. Mr.
Hunt said : “ The Hampton Plains would require a large expendi-
ture in making dams and digging wells before they could be used
for pastoral purposes,” and he described the large masses of trap
rock abounding in that vicinity as being similar in character to
that which he had seen on the Victorian goldfields. Specimens
were sent to the Rev. W. B. Clarke, at Sydney (at that time cou-
sidered one of the best geologists in Australia), who in his report
described one piece as ““ cavernous quartz, part of a vein.”

In the Government Gazette, 20th July, 1869, £5,000 reward was

1869 offered for the discovery of a payable goldfield within 300
* miles from any declared port of the colony, to be paid after

5,000 ounces of gold, either alluvial or extracted from quartz, had

been shipped to Great Britain.

Acting-Governor Bruce, in his report on the ‘“Condition of the

1876 Colony ” in 1870, considered “ the geological formation such
as would indicate the presence of gold.” At this period the
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Darling Range claimed the almost exclusive attention of gold
seekers, and considerable work in a crude way was performed at
various points; a party at North Dandalup claimed to have
discovered an immense reef over sixty feet wide, which could be
traced on the surface for over half a mile, and to have obtained
gold from three holes sunk on the reef. A report was current in’
January, 1870, that gold had been found at the Blackwood.

Alluvial gold was found by a shepherd at Peterwangy,
near the Upper Irwin River, specimens of which were exhibited
by Mr. B. B. Pearson at Geraldton. The Government sent
a sub-inspector of police to the locality, where he was successful
in obtaining gold at various spots over an area of ten square miles of
country. An old miner visited the scene of the find, and said that
“with water he could make 15s. to 20s. per day, but at that time it
was hot and dry, a veritable desert, no water, no shelter, not even a
stick with which to make a fire.” Mr. H. Y. L. Brown, Govern-
ment Greologist, made in 1870 an inspection of the Peterwangy field,
and while he found gold “much rounded and water-worn, the
particles small, and in some cases hardly perceptible to the naked
eye,” said: “Judging by the absence of any clayslates, schists, and
sandstones of a very early geological age, so characteristic of the
gold-bearing country in Victoria, I am obliged to record my opinion
that gold wﬂl not be found there in quantlt\ or over a wide extent
of country.”  After a visit to the Mount Tallering district in 1871
he said: « With regard to the geological formation of the rocks
met with . . . ~some were almostidentical with the gold bearmg
rocks of Victoria. Near Tallering, Mullewa, and Nancarron,” he con-
cluded, “there was a large extent of similar country in which gold
might be looked for.”

In a despatch to the Governor in 1870, the Earl of Kimberley,
then Secretary of State for the colonies, waived all rights, so far as
the Home Government was concerned, to minerals on Crown lands.

Two prospectors sank two shafts at Peterwangy in the early part
1871 of 1871. In one they struck a quartz reef about 18in. wide,

from the casing of which a few fine colours of gold were
obtained.

In 1872 specimens of quartz from Kelmscott, Newcastle, and Baylup
1879, were assayed at the Sydney Mint, and found to contain gold.

" The Rockingham Bay Mining Company, incorporated that
year, obtained very encouraging prospects in their claim at the Ser-
pentine.

In the same year, rich copper and lead deposits were found
near Roebourne, and in 1873, 60 tons of copper ore were shipped
from Cossack. A very rich copper vein was opened about 50 miles
East of Roebourne in 1890. It more than paid expenses from the

start, and in two years over 700 tons were shipped from there to
England.
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In 1873 a party of 16 "allarat miuvers were engaged to prospect and
1873, Mine for precious metals. Their expenses were paid by the

" Government, and great results were anticipated, but nothing
was -realised from the venture. The Government also erected a
quartz-crushing mill at Fremantle. The initial crushing was made
in October, 1874, but in a short time the mill ceased working.

A quartz reef was discovered at Kendenup, near Allbany, in
1873, which, according to assays made in Melbourne, contained over
loz. of gold to the ton. On the strength of this report, the
Standard Gold-mining Company was organised, with a capital of
£3,000. A battery was erected on the property, but after several
crushings with very discouraging results, the nndertaking was
finally abandoned.

It was reported in 1877 that rich quartz reefs had been discovered —
1877 said to carry over 50z. of gold to the ton—near Roe-
" bourne.

In February, 1880, Mr. E. B. Beere, a small squalter and farmer
1880, residing near the Byeen Brook,in the Toodyay district, bronght
" to the city of Perth a piece of ore which he presumed to be a
specimen of copper. The specimen was given to a business firm in
Perth, and was for many years used as a paper-weight. Then
Mr. Lawrence, a well-known boatbuilder, secured it, and while
in his possession Mr. R. Greaves and Mr. E. Paine examined
it, and at once promounced it to "be gold. Greaves was given
about 1lb. weight of the stone, and from it “ he ohtained 6oz.
of gold, which he sold for £4 an ounce.” Mr. Beere had told
someone that where he had found the supposed copper specimen
there was a large outcrop, with more of the stuff lying loosely around.
Greaves and Paine first saw the specimen in 1886, and immediately
went in search of the locality from whence it had come. They
returned unsuccessful, but again with Mr. Anstey they took up the
quest, and it is ‘stated found gold on Mr. Glover’s property at
Bindoon. A third time Greaves, Paine, and another tried to locate
Beere’s supposed find, going over the Wongan and Wyening runs,
formerly in possession of Beere. They reported finding gold at the
Wongan Hills, but no sign of a rich reef or alluvial deposits.

1832 In 1882 Mr. A. McRae, while riding from Cossack to
" Roebourne, picked up a nugget of gold weighing 140z

Mr. E. T. Hardman, at that time Government Greologist, after a per-
1834, Somal ‘examination of the supposed gold-bearing rocks in the

" neighbourhood of the Bunbury, Blackwood, and Margaret
Rivers, in his report under date of $0th Jannary, 1884, said: * The
rocks of this large tract are true metamorphic rocks of many varieties ;
they. contain numerous bands of slate, and many quartz veins, most
of which take a N.W. course so common in the auriferous veins of
Victoria. Now metalliferous veins are so constantly met with in
these rocks in all parts of the world, that I cannot believe Western
Anustralia is the single exception, and I can only arrive at the con-
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clusion that they have hitherto escaped notice for want of careful
and systematic searching.”

He then visited the Kimberley District, and considered it
“extremely likely that that part of the district occupied by the
metamorphic rocks would eventually prove to be. in some degree at
least, auriferous; it may be in payable quantity.”” He recommended
that a search be made for gold in the section ““ between the Napier
Range and Mount Broome, on the Leonard and Richenda Rivers,
the most promising portions being where the principal slate country
commences. In this section numerous quartz veins may be observed,
varying in width from a few inches to 30 feet.” He also expressed
the opinion “that if gold existed at all in the Kimberley on the
West side of the Leopold Range, it would be found somewhere
in that locality.”

In his final report, made after his return from the North, he said,
‘“ the gravel-beds along the banks of the Elvire, Panton, and Ord
Rivers are often from 20 to 40 feet in thickness, and wherever
prospected yielded good colours of gold, a fact which is easily
anderstood when it is known that they are the detritus of the quartz
bearing schists and slates to the West of the Albert Edwurd Range ;
these gravel-beds sometimes extend to u distance of three or four
miles on either side of the river.”” In severalinstances hefound colours
of gold at considerable distances from the quartz-bearing rocks from
which only the gold could have been derived, which indicated that
there were larger quantities of gold in the quartz veins and drifts
overlying them. In conclusion, he “hoped that the district would
prove a success as regards payable gold; intending prospectors
must, however, be prepared to expend and perhaps lose money, but
the appearances were quite good enough to justify this risk.”
Shortly after the publication of Mr. Hardman’s first report, steps
were taken to organise and equip a party to prospect the Kimberley
district, and at the session of the Legislative Council held in August,
1884, £1,000 was placed upon the Estimates “to be expended in
prospecting for the discovery of a goldfield.”

Mr. Grant, in the Legislative Council on the 28th of August, 1885
1885 moved that “to a party of gold-diggersnow organised, in Perth
' to prospect the Kimberley District, be given the loan, or help
of horses that are not in use by the survey party in that district in
the summer months ”’; but while this question was being debated
in the Chamber, a party consisting of Messrs. Hall, Slattery,
and others, miners from the Eastern colonies, had already
arrived in the Nor'-West, and on the 30th of August they
left the Yeeda station on the Fitzroy River. They first found
gold on one of the branches of the Elvire, where in a few days they
took out 10 ounces. From thence they prospected the Margaret
and Ord rivers, finding good colours in almost every prospect hole.

The Legislative Council, in June, 1886, was congratulated by
1886 Governor Broome “on the discovery of an extensive gold-
field of rich promise in the Kimberley District,” and on the
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16th of August at that session the first “ Goldfields Mining Bill”
was passed.

The question as to who was the first discoverer of the Kimberley
goldfields came up before the Legislative Council. ~ Mr. Carr-Boyd
claimed to have discovered a rich reef and sent several cwt. of the
stone to Melbourne before the Hall party appeared in the district;
he applied to the Colounial Secretary to have his claim recognised to
the reward offered for the discovery of a payable goldfield, but after
examination the Government made an award of £500 to Hall,
Slattery, and party.

The Kimberley Goldfield was proclaimed on the 20th of May,
1886; and Mr. C. D. Price, was appointed Warden. Prospectors
rushed in from all parts of Australia, and by the 30th of
June, there were probably from 1,500 to 2,000 men scat-
tered over the auriferous area. During the year many rich
reefs were discovered throughout the district, and several parties
obtained enough gold from surface rock by the primitive dollying
process to more than pay expenses. Mining companies were floated,
and in November, 1887, machinery reached Hall’s Creek for the
Nicholas Mine, located on the Margaret line of reef. Up te the
30th June of that year, 72 quartz claims had been located and regis-
tered at the Warden’s Office.

The Legislative Council, in 1886, placed upon the Estimates
the sum of £300, “to provide the necessary expenses of a pros-
pecting party to examine the reported gold-bearing country to the
Eastward of Newcastle.” Later a further sum of £300 was
appropriated “ for the purpose of giving assistance in the work of
prospecting for gold in the neighbourhood of the Upper De Grey,
Oakover, and Fortescue Rivers.” It was suggested by the mover,
“that Mr. McPhee be given the preference,” as his name was well-
known to all who had read the reports of the gold discoveries in the
Kimberley district.

In 1887 Mr. Glass, at Mugakine, while digging a tank found a
1887 good sized speck of gold; he sank several prospecting holes in

" the vicinity of the find, but without success. The discovery,
however, led to thé organisation of the « Settlers’ Association,” who,
with Government aid, fitted out a party to prospect the district to the
Bastward of Newcastle and Northam. This party, under the leader-
ship of Mr. Colreavy, penetrated the country as far Hast as the
Yilgarn Hills, a distance of fully 200 miles; while he was not
successful on the first trip, so highly was Colreavy impressed with the
appearance of the country, that he immediately set out on a pros-
pecting trip on his own account.

While Colreavy was out on his second trip quite a sensation
was caused by the return from Yilgarn of Mr. H. Anstey with
rich specimens of gold quartz. This gentleman had gone in
the same direction as Mr. Colreavy, intending to prospect still
further to the Eastward. After further prospecting at Anstey’s
discovery it was found that although the surface indications
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were good, the reef soon pinched out. Fortunately, just at
this time Colreavy, who was prospecting in Golden Valley,
ten miles further South, found a small reef which carried gold
throughout the stone. This caused a rush, and several gold-
bearing reefs were found. Prospecting was carried on still further
South and East by Riseley and others—representing the Pheenix
Company—who discovered several rich reefs 30 miles from the
Golden Valley, at a place which they named ‘Southern Cross,”
from the fact of having made use of that constellation as a guide while
travelling by night towards the site of the find.

Mr. W. J. Parker, with a party, found good indications in
country some 40 miles South of Golden Valley, which he called
Parker’s Range.

The discovery of tin at Greenbushes, in the year 1888, would seem
1888, to have been due to the researches of the late Mr. E. T.
" Hardman, a former Government Geologist. This gentleman,
while engaged upon official duties in the Blackwood District, was
accompanied by a Mr. Stinton, to whom Mr. Hardman suggested
the probable occurrence of tin-bearing deposits. Having this in
mind, Mr. Stinton, in 1888, whilst out kangaroo-hunting, at
Greenbushes, found a small quantity of stream tin 1n a gully near the
Blackwood River, not far from the main road, about nine miles from
Bridgetown and 52 miles from Bunbury. A large number of leases
were at once taken up, but as the old regulations did not at
the time contain any labour clauses, very little work was done.
Mr. Stinton was subsequently, in 1891, awarded £250 by the
Government.

Mr. H. P. Woodward, F.G.S, F.R.G.8,, at that time Govern-
ment Geologist, visited the Eastern fields in February, 1888, and
expressed upon the whole a favourable opinion of the Yilgarn Dis-
trict. The Government awarded Mr. H. Anstey £500, and Messrs.
Colreavy and Huggins £250 each for the discovery of the Yilgarn
Goldfield.

The Yilgarn Goldfield was proclaimed on the 1st October, 1888.
Mr. Alpin F. Thomson was appointed Acting-Warden, and was
succeeded by Mr. J. M. Finnerty in May, 1889.

Two promising reefs—the Mallina and Pedawah — were
discovered in 1888 at Mallina to the Eastward of Roebourne.
Several other reefs showing free gold were soon after found in the
vicinity. In July a rich alluvial find was made at Pilbara Creek,
and in a short time a large amount of gold was taken from the
gravel. Mr. A. Villars found a nugget weighing 1270z., and several
were unearthed from 30oz. to 40o0z. each.

The Pilbara Goldfield was proclaimed on the 1st October, 1888.
Mr. C. W. Nyulasy was appointed Warden. The Government
awarded Messrs. J. H. Wells £500, N. W. Cooke £250, and H. & J.
‘Withnell £100 for the discovery of the Pilbara Field.

Gold was discovered a few miles North of Cuddingwarra
by a prospector named Burke, but it attracted little attention
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at the time. It was also reported that gold had been discovered
in the Wongan Hills, about 60 miles North-East of Newcastle.
Rich deposits of alluvial gold were discovered on the Ashburton

1889, River in 1889, a large quantity being taken outin a few
months.

During the same year the Central, Central Extended, Fraser’s,
Fraser’s South, and other companies were organised in Perth and
Fremantle. Mills and condensers were erected at Southern Cross,
and on the 25th November the Fraser's Mill commenced crush.
ing, followed in a short time by the mill of the Central Company.
The Warden reported that 71 leases had been applied for during
the year.

So many rich patches of alluvial were found in the Pilbara
district, that quite a rush set in, the excitement extending to the
Eastern colonies; syndicates were formed in Melbourne and other
centres, and prospectors were soon scatt.ved over the interior of
Western Australia from Yilgarn to Kimberley. The Lady Carring-
ton Mining Company was organised in Melbourne to work Eaton’s
Mallina Reef Claim. Early in the year a party of prospectors
discovered alluvial gold ou the Oakover River, and in a short
time between 3000zs. and 400ozs. were gathered. In August a
new field was discovered about 11 miles East of Roebourne by a
Chinaman. The new find was called the Nickol fleld ; it was not of
great extent, and was situated so low and near the sea, that at high
tide it was covered with water. At Nullagine many of the alluvial
claims paid handsomely; at the 40-Mile over 7000zs. were taken
out in a few days. During the year mills were erected by the
Broken Reef Company at Pilbara, and the Alfred Argles Com-
pany at Mallina. Additional batteries were also put up at the
Kimberley and Yilgarn fields.

The Ashburton goldfield was proclaimed on the 11th December,
1890 1890, and in May following, Mr. Thomas Wheatley was

" appointed Warden.

The Murchison Goldfield was brought into notice by Mr. H. P.
1891 Woodward, the Government Geologist of the day, who

" described the country lying between the great bend of the
Murchison and Milly Milly as being of an auriferous character.
In the mouth of August, 1891, Mr. J. F. Connolly reported the
discovery of alluvial about 200 miles East of the coast; this report
was subsequently confirmed by Mr. W. Douglas. For the discovery
of this field the Government awarded to Messrs. Conuolly and
Douglas £500 and £100, respectively.* Before the end of September
between 300 and 400 men were scattered over this field, and some
wonderful finds of alluvial gold were made. Nuggets were picked
up ranging from 2o0z. to 40oz.; in fact most of the gold was found
either on the surface or at a very shallow depth.

The Murchison goldfield—headquarters at Nannine—was pro-
claimed on the 24th September. Mr. W. A. G. Walter was

*It has been claimed that Messrs. McPherson and Peterkin were the discoverers of
the Nannine district field, and should have received the rewards.
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appointedl Warden. The Cue “field,” covering a large extent of
country, was discovered by Messrs. Cue and Fitzgerald, and the rich
finds becoming known, it was not long before there were a number
of men on the spot. The field proved exceptionally rich, and in a
short time a large amount of gold was secured by “specking” and
“dry-blowing.” Rich gold-bearing reefs were found at various
points throughout the district, notably at the “Island,” in Lake
Austin, where, in addition to rich quartz, a channel was found
containing cement, from which for some time marvellous returns were
obtained. The first discovery on the Yalgoo field was made in
1890, in the Nancarrong Hills, near ths Yuin Station, where gold
was found in a reef on a low range of hills five miles East of the
station. TFrom one place gold to the value of over £15,000 was
dollied from the cap of the reet.

Messrs. Speakman and Ryan, in 1891, while on a prospecting
trip North-East of Southern Cross, found good colours and gold-
bearing quartz near what was afterwards known as Siberia.

Mr. Moir, while searching for grazing areas in 1889 or 1890, found
1892 a few colours of gold on the Dundas Hills. In 1892 he, with

* Mr. Stewart, organised a party, but they were not successful
in finding gold in payable quantities. About the same time two or
three other parties, attracted by the statement of Mr. Lindsay
(the leader of the Elder exploring party in 1891), that he had crossed
in his journey an auriferous belt between Fraser'’s Range and
Southern Cross, set out for that section, and Messrs. Mawson,
Kirkpatrick, Bromley, Mason, and others were fortunate enough to
locate several promising reefs.

In the month of April, 1892, Messrs. Bayley and Ford, after
selling the gold which they had secured at the Murchison, left Perth
on a prospecting expedition. They proceeded to Mount Kenneth,
about 250 miles to the North-East; here they lost their horses,and had
to walk back to Newcastle, where they bought fresh ones, and again
started with the intention of making for the Marring country,
where gold had beeun found by Speakman the previous year, but
they met “the fellows rushing back,” who reported the place was
very poor, and not worth spendmg any time in. After these dis-
couraging reports Bayley and Ford headed for Southern Cross.
Purchasing supplies enough to last seven or eight weeks they
started Eastward on Hunt’s old track—made in 1864-65—and after
a tedious trip, when they were very near the now famous field, were-
forced to turn back to the Gnarlbine soak for water. After resting
two days they started in a North-Easterly direction. They found
the country so boggy that their progress was very slow; presently
they reached the native well—Coolgardie—where they camped.
Finding the place covered with grass they let the horses
out to graze while they went specking across the flats.
Here Ford picked up a half-ounce nugget, and before dinner
time they found over 20o0z. of gold. During the next three or
four weeks they secured by specking and dry-blowing over 2000z.
Their provisions giving out, they were forced to go back tc



88

Southern Cross for a fresh supply. They were careful, however,
not to say anything about the discovery they had made, but hurriex
back, and on the first Sunday afternoon after their return, while
fossicking about, discovered the reef which soon became known all
over the mining world ; that evening they picked up and dollied
with a tomahawk from the cap of the reef over 5000z. of gold,
one slug weighing over 50o0z., and early the next morning they
pegged out a prospecting area on the reef. Shortly after Messrs.
Foster and Baker, who had tracked them from Southern Cross,
appeared upon the scene, and in a short time they secured over 2000z.
Meantime, Bayley quickly made his way back to Southern
Cross, carrying 5540z., which he exhibited to Warden Finnerty
on the 17th of September, and applied for a lease of the
discovery claim. The field was then declared open, and Bayley, on
the 20th, again left Southern Cross for Coolgardie, not alone, but
accompanied by a coach, by teams, and a host of horsemen, fully
150 in all, leaving Southern Cross almost deserted. The news
quickly spread throughout the colony. The West Australian of
21st September said: * In Perth and Fremantle everyone seems to
be either carrying tents, picks, shovels, and dishes, or otherwise
preparing for the road.”” At York there was great excitement
over the departure of over 200 euger gold-seekers ; they travelled by
coaches, teams, horses, camels, and o1 toot, all bound for the land
of gold.

Alluvial was discovered by Frost and party at Goongarrie (the
1893 90-Mile) in May, 1893. About the same time gold was found
" at Lake Lefroy, “ Mount Youle,”* and other districts.

Kalgoorlie (Hannan’s) was discovered in June by Messrs.
Flannigan and Hanuan, who were on the road to Mount Youle
with a party of about 150 wen. They camped two days on
or mnear the spot where the find was subsequently made,
waiting for the teams which had gone back to Coolgardie for water ;
but rain falling, the party started on their way again, leaving
Flannigan and Hannan behind. Flannigan, it appears, while
looking for the horses, found a couple of nuggets, and induced
Hannan to remain with him; in a few days they picked up over 1000z.,
and on the 17th of June Hannan went back to Coolgardie
and applied for a reward claim, when immediately a rush et in,
and in a few days fully 500 men were on the ground. A large
amount of alluvial gold was quickly taken out, and many rich reefs
discovered.

Bardoc (the 45-Mile) was located in August by Messrs. Cash-
man and Lee, who in a short time secured over 1,0000z.

The Dundas goldfield was proclaimed on the -31lst August,
and Mr. H. P. Woodward—the Government Geologlbt—appomted
temporary Warden.

Siberia was discovered by Messrs. Frost and Bonner in October,
and in the stampede which ensued to the new finds, after

* Supposed to be the present Mount Gledden.




89

they had applied for the reward claim, several lives were lost from
heat and thirst; in fact, many started out on the long trip not
half provided with food and water, who undoubtedly would have
perished had it not been for the parties subsequently despatched,
to.their relief.

A bonus was offered by the Government, on the 1lth
January, 1893, to any person or company sinking a shaft on
any proclalmed goldfield, during the year, from a depth previously
attained of not less than 100 feet as follows:—From 100 to 200
feet £2 10s. per foot, and from 200 to 300 feet, £5 per foot. At
the close of the year no less than 11 companies applied for the
reward, six of them at Yilgarn, one at Coolgardie, and four on the
Murchlson A battery was erected on the Star of the East” mine,
near Nannine, early in the year, and preparations were made for
placing additional machinery on mines at Cue, Mount Magnet, and
other points on the Murchison field. A number of large nuggets
were found at the Top Well, one weighing 2980z., and several
over 100oz. each were brought into Cue.

In 1894 prospectors were scatterefl all over the Eastern goldfields,
1894, and many valuable discoveries were made. Messrs. Hall and

Speakman discovered the Mount Jackson district. Rich
alluvial was found at the Pinnacles in February, and in a short
time over 1,0000z. were sent in to Coolgardie, while an equal amount
arrived from Billy Billy, 90 miles to the Bastward.

The Yilgarn goldfield was subdivided on the 6th April into three
fields, viz. :—Yilgarn, Coolgardie, and Dundas. Dr. V. Black was
appointed Warden of the Yilgarn goldfield, Mr. J. M. Finnerty, of
Coolgardie, and Mr. A. S. Hicks, of Dundas.

The Kanowna alluvial ground was discovered in 1894 by a
digger known as “ Old Tom,” who took out some 400zs.; the same
ground was then worked by the Begg Brothers, who sank 3 feet
and were fairly successful; then it was taken up as a reefing claim,
which, after abandonment for 12 months or more, was early in the
year 1897 registered by Messrs. Sim, Gresson, and Watt asan alluvial
claim. The “lead” consisted of a deposit descrlbed as containiog
chiefly ““red earth, iron stone, and iron grit,” in a compact bod,
about 8 feet deep, 24 feet wide, and lying about 3 feet below
the surface. The formatlon trended Westward, and as it was
traced along in a winding course, it gradually dipped deeper into
the earth. At a distance of 100 feet from the point of discovery the
cement was 12 feet below the surface, and far richer in gold, the
takings reaching on one occasion to 39oz. in a day. The success of
Sim and Company becoming known, a rush set in, and in a short
tin}e a strip of country about a mile long was pegged off as alluvial
claims.

Bulong (I.0.U.) was discovered in May by two hitherto
unsuccessful prospectors, who were thinking of returning to Perth.
One of them pointed out a gully near by where he had previously
found colours; proceeding to the spot, in a short time they unearthed,
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among others, a 70oz. nugget. Within a week the gully was
pegged out from end to end, and over 500 miners were at work.

The Londonderry find was made in June by a prospecting
party, consisting of Messrs. Carter, Dawson, Mills, Gardiner, Elliott
and Huxley, who had been out many months without finding a
colour, and were on their way back to Coolgardie; quite by
accident rich quartz was picked up by two of the party, and after a
brief search the outerop of a reef was exposed, from which, during
the first three or four days, they took out between 4,000 and
5,0000z. One specimen, “ Big Ben,” was estimated to contain gold
to the value of £3,500 or more. On the 23rd June they applied for
the reward claim, and deposited in the Bank at Coolgardie 4,2800z.
of gold.

The Eastern Railway, from Northam to Southern Cross, was
taken over by the Government and opened for traffic on the lst
July. The Northern line, reaching out towards the Murchison
fields, was completed as far as Mullewa and taken over on the lst
November. .

The Wealth of Nations was discovered in July by Mr. J. G.
Dunn, an old prospector, representing a syndicate of well known
West Australians. When only 28 miles from Coolgardie he found
the outcrop of a reef. Upon breaking into the cap, the quartz
appeared to be glittering with gold; one of the first pieces
taken out contained fully 800oz. In a few days he secured gold to
the value of over £20,000. In an incredibly short time after the
lease was applied for, hundreds of men were upon the spot and
geveral rich tinds were made, two nuggets being secured, weighing
respectively 1970z. and 1470z.

The Norseman Field was discovered in July by Mr. L. Sinclair.

The ** Lady Shenton,” at Menzies, was discovered in September
by Messrs. Menzies and McDonald. On the outcrop they found
many moss-covered specimens rich in gold, extending for more than
100 eet on the line of the reef.

On the lst October the East Coolgardie goldfield was pro-
claimed, with headquarters at Kalgoorlie, Mr. M. H. Jephson
being appointed Warden. Discoveries were made of valuable
alluvial and reef claims during the year at the White Feather,
Black Flag, Lake Lefroy, Broad Arrow, and Mount Margaret, on
the Eastern fields; while at the same time the central fields were
being opened up and miues developed at all points. Several rich
discoveries were made. At Lake Darlot over 2,0000zs. were dollied
in a short time from the caps of the rich reefs, and at Lawlers
and McCaffrey’s rich alluvial rewarded the efforts of the prospectors.

The rapid development of the goldfields necessitated a change
in the conduet of the office work a headquarters. On the 1st
January, 1894, Mr. . C. Prinsep had been appointed Under Secretary
for Mmes and that department become a distinct branch of the
Government Service, still, however, remaining under the supervision
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of the Commissioner of Crown Lands. In December the office of
Minister of Mines wus created, and the Hon. E. H. Wittenoom,
M.I.C., was appointed to the position.

It was reported in January, 1895, that over 2,600 diggers were
1895 dry-blowing in the vicinity of Kalgoorlie. In February a

7" valuable discovery wus made at Niagara by Messrs. North-
more and Doolette. The Yalgoo goldfield—formerly part of the
Murchison field—was proclaimed on the 23rd January. Mr. P. L.
Gibbons was appointed Warden. The East Murchison goldfield
was proclaimed on the 28th June, with Mr. A. G. Clifton as
Warden. North Coolgardie was declared a goldfield on the same
day, and Mr. F. Gill received the appointment of Warden.

Harly in 1895 the “ Hands Across the Sea” Reef claim was
discovered at Kunanalling (the 25-Mile). The Hayes Brothers
brought into Kalgoorlie 300lbs. of quartz, estimated to contain
gold to the value of £3,000, from Kanowna. The Mount Catherine
district was opened up about the same time. and later on in June
there was a rush to the alluvial fields near Kunanalling. At
the end of the year there were 11 batteries, one cyanide
plant, and 12 other mills working in the Coolgardie district.
At Cue there were 17 batteries, nine at Nannine, and two at Mount
Magnet. Such was the rush for mining ground that at Kalgoorlie
700 leases were applied for in one montl.

During the first half of the year 73 Western Australian
Mining Companies were incorporated in London, capitalised at
£7,743,000, not to mention the many companies which were
organised and floated locally and in the Eastern colonies.

In 1895 a digger from Nullagine brought into Roebourne five
small diamonds which he had found in the stamper boxes
after a crushing. Mr. F. F. Groom, who visited this find,
said: “The tracing of the conglomerate to the place where the
rock was first formed would prove a very interesting study to a
geologist, and might be found payable not only in working for
diamonds, but for gold also, as these beds are gold yielding.”

The North-East Coolgardie goldfield was proclaimed on the 15th
1896 April, 1896. Mr. P. Fielding was appointed Warden. The

" railway from Southern Cross was taken over and formally
opened by His Excellency Sir Gerard Smith on the 23rd of March,
1896, and the Kalgoorlie line was opened on the 8th September
of the same year.

Mr. F. T. Daniel, in the early part of September, 1897, dis-
1897 covered, about 25 miles North of Newcastle, gold in the

" Blackboy Hill district; up to the end of the year upwards
of 60 claims were pegged out; samples of quartz assaying 7oz. to
the ton are said to have been taken from a trial shaft.

In September, the Warden reported that 170 claims had been
recorded on the “ deep leads” of Kanowna, and that fully 70 were
yielding payable gold.
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On the 23rd of December, the Mining on Private Property
Act became law.

At Lake Way, on the 29th December, a digger named Martin
unearthed a nugget weighing 4630z., the largest yet found in the
Colony.

For the purpose of stimulating the production of asbestos, a
bonus was offered by the Government to any person who would
export 50 tons of asbestos, at an export value of not less than £10
per ton. The total amount of bonus not to exceed £500.

On the 20th January, 1898, the Government offered a reward of £500
1898, o the person first discovering alluvial gold at a depth
" below 30 feet from the surface on any land situated not less
than six miles from any known deep alluvial workings, giving the
finder also the right to select four ordinary alluvial claims at the
point of discovery; the reward to be paid as soon as 1,000 ounces
of gold were obtained from the discovery.

With the view of furthering the mica industry, the Govern-
ment, on the 28th March, offered a bonus to any person who.
should obtain, within three months from that date, from any
district as defined in the proclamation setting forth these con-
ditions, and export mica in a quantity of not less than two tons,.
which should realise at least 1s. 6d. per Ib: Ten shillings for every
£1 sterling realised on sales at from ls. 6d. to 10s. per 1b.; and
£1 for every £1 sterling realised on sales at upwards of 10s.
per lb.

The Donnybrook district was discovered by Messrs. Bourke-
and Hunter in the latter part of 1898. Mr. T. Blatchford,
Assistant Geologist, says: ‘ Donnybrook is situated on the-
Bunbury to Bridgetown railway, and is 26 miles South-East of
Bunbury and 143 miles from Fremantle by rail.  The scene of the-
mining operations is some two miles to the South of the Donny-
brook townsite, on a small branch of the Preston River, in the
Blackwood Range. Gold was first discovered in the surface soil by
a party searching for alluvial gold. Further investigations carried
on with the prospecting dish eventually led to the discovery of
auriferous quartz veins, from which most of the alluvial gold had
originally been shed. = The country, which is extremely hilly and
thickly iimbered, is for the most part covered with iromstone
gravel deposits. Besides these workings on reefs, several of the-
miners have given their attention to the finding of alluvial gold.
Dishes of dirt taken from the surface of the hills will usually yield a.
trace of gold when washed, and in some places a fair result is
obtained.”

In December, “the rich alluvial finds at Kanowna were keeping
not only the local batteries, but many of the Kalgoorlie, Boulder,
and Northam stampers at work.” Five distinct leads were worked
for a considerable length of time, and yielded handsome returns,
viz.: The North, the South, the Fitzroy, the Q.E.D., and Golden
Valley; while other alluvial workings at Wilson’s Gully, All
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Nations, Kangaroo Gully, Golden Cement, and Salvation Flat paid
very well.

At Bulong paying allivial claims were worked at the Melbourne
United Gully, on the Margaret, the Oversight, and the Maggie
leads ; slugs and nuggets weighing up to 480z. were taken out.

At Broad Arrow coarse gold was found in most of the gullies.

A number of miners were working on the cement leads at
Paddingtou, in ground from 80 to 100 feet in depth.

At Sunday Gully, in the Mount Margaret district, good returns
were obtained by the diggers.

At Coolgardie, in the latter part of the vear 1898, alluvial gold
was discovered about four miles from the town, on Block 48 of the
Hampton Plains Estate, by an Italian named Armanesco, and, as
a result, a number of miners were soon engaged all over the field in
search of alluvial, with a fair degree of success.

At Mount Magnet good wash dirt was found at a depth of
25 feet, and coarse nuggets up to 18dwt. were obtained. In the
Murchison goldfield, at Poverty Flat, slugs up to 80oz. in weight
were found.

Traces of gold had been found at Donnybrook by Mr. R. L. Hunter,
1899 in 1898; but in 1899 a rich reef was discovered in ““ Jackson’s

* Claim,” and as a consequence many leases were taken up, and
the Donuybrook goldfield proclaimed on the 27th November.

Copper had previously been known to occur on the Phillips
River; but in 1899 several gold reefs and copper lodes were opened
up, and the Phillips River Mining District proclaimed on the lst
July.

Tin was discovered in April, 1899, in several creeks to the East
of Mavble Bar, 57 tons being won in that year. This area, known
ag the Moolyella Tinfield, has since developed into a field of some
importance.

The Anaconda Copper Mine, the most important in the State,
was discovered in 1898, but first opened up in this year, resulting in
the discovery of extensive deposits of copper ore. It is situated
three miles South-West of Murrin Murrin.

Iron ore was first mined in the State in this year, 13,000 tons
being raised at Clackline and elsewhere on the Darling Ranges for
use at the Fremantle Smelting Works.

Cobalt ore was first discovered at Kanowna, in the North Lead.

Silver-lgad ore and silver-copper ore were discovered in several
parts of the Ashburton watershed. The deposits at Uaroo station
were of most importance in this vicinity.

Several large alluvial nuggets were discovered this year. The
“ Bobby Dazzler,” the largest ever found in the State, 4870z. gross,
4130z. net, was discovered by Clive, at Sharks Gully, Pilbara
goldfield. The “General Gordon,” the second largest ever found
in the State, 3720z. gross, 831oz. net, by McPhee Brothers, also at
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Sharks Gully. J. Simmonds’ nugget of 1680z., at Mulgabbie,
North-East Coolgardie. Also several others over 1000z. Merton’s
Reward mine was discovered in March, by E. Merton; 1,000 tons
of the outerop yielded 3,3070z. A considerable amount of mining
is now done at ““ Mertondale,” as the locality is named.

A deep lead was discovered at Paddington, which yielded a
very large amount of gold, and gave employment to a great number
of men. Some extremely rich surface shows were discovered at
Mount Weld (Burtville), in the Mount Margaret goldfield.

Very rich alluvial deposits were found at Taurus and Hogan’s
Find, North-East Coolgardie, the latter yielding a number of
nuggets of considerable size.

A large belt of aquriferous country was discovered to the East
of Marble Bar, Pilbara, embracing the 20-Mile, Sandy Creek,
Mosquito, Elsie Creek, and Cooke’s Creek.

Rich gold was discovered at Lallarookh, Pilbara.

1900 Alluvial tin ore was discovered on Cooglegong Creek, 45 miles

* South-West of Marble Bar.

Gold was discovered at Yundamindera and Mount Higgins
(Mulwarrie), North Coolgardie; Wilgeena (Wilson’s Find), Peak
Hill; Ninghan, Yalgoo; Preston River, South-West; Boodalyerrie
Creek, Pilbara; Wadgingarra, Yalgoo; Yellowdine, and Duladgin,
Yilgarn.

Freestone of good quality for building purposes was discovered
at Donnybrook, and several quarries opened up.

Large deposits of rich ore were discovered at some depth in
the Great Fingall mine, Day Dawn, leading to an extensive develop-
ment in that mine. and a revival generally throughout the district.

Gold was discovered at Carwell, Reedy’s, and Weld Range,
Murchison ; also at Davyhurst, North Coolgardie.

A large nugget weighing 1970z. was discovered at Kurnalpi by
William Eddy in October.

A rich gold find was made at Black Hills, North-East Cool-
gardie, 2,0000z. being taken out in a short time.

The Phillips River goldfield was proclaimed on 14th Septem-

ber.
1901 A new find of gold was made 15 miles from Kalgoorlie, and

* three miles South of Boorara.

The discovery of a deep lead was reported in the Princess
Royal district, Dundas goldfield, in February. *

Mr. H. P. Woodward, the consulting geologist, reported favour-
ably. on the Phillips River goldfield.

‘In consequence of the reported rich discoveries of silver, lead,
and copper at Uaroo, 84 miles from Onslow, the boundaries of the
Ashburton goldfield were extended on the 14th October, 1901.
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Parr II.—DESCRIPTIVE.

1.—PHYSICAL FEATURES.
(Revised by Fred 8. Brockman, Esq., Chief Inspecting Surveyor.)

The State of Western Australia embraces all that portion of
the Continent of Australia and the adjacent islands lying to the
West of the 129th meridian, and is bounded on the North, West,
and South by the sea, its Western, North-Western, and Northern
coast-lines being washed by the Indian Ocean, and the Southern
coast by the Great Southern Ocean.

Coast-Line.—The coast-line to the North of the 18th parallel of
latitude is deeply indented by gulfs and bays, whereas the whole of
the coast South from that parallel is marked by long, straight
stretches, little broken by inlets. The total coast-line is, therefore,
remarkably short, as compared to the immense size of the State.

The coast of the Southern and South-Western portions of the
State is rising rapidly, which accounts for the low alluvial and sandy
plains existing in places between the sea and the coastal ranges.
These plains vary from a few hundred yards to 20 miles in width,
and are interspersed with numerous small inlets, salt lakes, and
swamps.

Tides.—As might be expected on this great length of coast
lying within both the temperate and tropical zones, there are very
varied rises and falls of the tide. On the South and South-West
coasts, and as far North as Shark Bay, the differences between high
and low water points are very small. About the latitude of
Fremantle these differences are practically dependent solelv on the
prevailing breezes, and not to any direct tidal effect. From Shark
Bay Northwards, the tides rapidly increase in range, although this
increase is by no means uniform, being, apparently, largely infiuenced
by the aspect that the various portions of the coast present to the
ocean swell. Some of the differences between high and low water
marks are: at Cossack, 18 feet; at Roebuck Bay, 80 feet; at King
Sound, 46 feet; and at Cambridge Gulf about 28 feet at spring
tides. Atmany intermediate points the tides differ very greatly
from those recorded at the ports at present in use. It was recently
found that spring tides at Napier Broome Bay, only gave a
difference between high and low water marks of 11 feet, whilst in
the adjoining inlet (Vansittart Bay) this difference is at least 30
feet.

Bays, Gulfs, etc.—The principal inlets, beginning from the
North, are: Cambridge Gulf, Napier Broome Bay, Vansittart
Bayv. Admiralty Gulf, Moutague Sound, York Sound, Bruns-
wick Bay, Camden Sound, Collier Bay, King Sound, Beagle
Bay, Roebuck Bay, La Grange Bay, Port Walcott, Nickol Bay,
Exmouth Gulf, Shark Bay, Champion Bay, Cockburn Sound,
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Koombana Bay, Geographe Bay, Flinders Bay, Xing George
Sound, Bremer Bay, and Espemnce Bay. With the exception of
Princess Royal Harbour (the inner Harbour of King George Sound)
the principal anchorages used to the South of the 19th parallel of
latitude are open roadsteads, which, as -a rule, are only partially
protected; but the holding grounds of these are fairly good, and
accidents seldom happen to vessels properly found; whilst fine
harbours have been artificially provided at Fremantle, near Cock-
burn Sound, and at Bunbury in Koombana Bay.

Capes.—The principal Capes are : Capes Domett and Dussejour,
at the entrance of Cambridge Gulf; Cape Londonderry, which is
the most Northerly point of the State; Cape Talbot; Cape Bougain-
ville, lying between Admiralty Gulf and Vansittart Bay ; Cape
Voltaire, which is the Western boundary of Admiralty Gulf; Cape
Torrens, at the entrance to York Sound ; Cape Leveque the Southern
boundary of King Sound; Sloping Head, to the West of Nickol
Bay, well-known to the Roebourne pearlers; North-West Cape,
which forms the Western boundary of Exmouth Gulf; Cape
Peron, in Shark Bay; Steep Point, situated on the Southein
entrance to Shark Bay, which is the most Westerly point of
the Continent; Capes Naturaliste and Leeuwin at the South-
Western extremity of the Continent, and Point D’Entrecasteaux,
‘West Cape Howe, Peak Head, Hood Point, Cape le Grande, and
Cape Arid on the Southern Coast.

Islands.—The Northern coast between Capes Lévéque and
Londonderry is fringed with numberless islands. Some of these
are of considerable area, amongst the largest being Augustus
Island, near Camden Sound, and Bigge Island, to the North of
York Sound. Very few of these islands have been closely examined,
but, as seen from the sea, they appear to be principally of sandstone
formation, and are probably of the same rugged nature as the
sandstone area of the neighbouring coast-line. Abreast of the coast
North-Easterly from North-West Cape there are also large numbers
of islands, consisting of those known as Dampier’s Archipelago,
Barrow Island, and some others. These are principally of granitic
formation, and some of them are fairly well grassed. Amongst the
other important islands off the coast are Dirk Hartogs, Dorre
(Barren), Bernier, and Babbage Islands in Shark Bay, and the
Houtman Abrolhos, off Champion Bay, on which deposits of guano
have been found. This valuable fertiliser has also been obtained
from the Lacepede Islands, and is found on some other small
islands amongst the northern groups. On the South-West coast
the only islands of importance are Rottnest and Garden Islands, off
Fremantle; and off the Southern coast, between Esperance Bay and
Point Dempster, the great cluster of small islands known as the
Archipelago of the Recherche.

Mountains.—The mountains are not remarkable for their
height, though many of them, rising abruptly from low-lying
plains, present a striking appearance. Beginning at the North, the
principal ranges of the Kimberley District are: The Princess May
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Range, stretching South-Basterly from York Sound, in which the
highest point is Mount York, probably reaching an altitude above
3,000 feet, although the highest point of this range of which the
altitude has been accurately obtained is Mount Hann, with an
altitude of 2,800 feet; to the South of this the King Leopold Range
stretches South- Easterly from the shores of Collier Bay, wh1ch

although very boldly defined on the Southern side, nowhere reaches
an altitude exceeding 2,400 feet. Of the North-Western portion of
the State the highest range is the Hamersley, lying between the
Fortescue and Ashburton Rivers. Mount Bruce, in this range (the
highest known point in the State), reaches an altitude of 3,800 feet.

In the South-West, the most important range is the Darling, which
stretches in a nearly due North and South line from Yatheroo at its
Northern extremity to Point D’Entrecasteaux on the South coast.

This range lies parallel to, and from 18 to 20 miles distant from, the
Western sea- board, and is the nmiost important range in the State by
reason of its effect on the climatic conditions of the most closely
settled area. The highest point in this range is Mount William in

the Murray District, which has an altitude of about 1,700 feet.
The Stirling Range, situated about 40 miles to the North-East of
Albany, is the loftiest range in the Southern portion of the State,

and, being pertectly iso! lated and rising abruptly from a low-lying
coastal plain, is visible for a great distance. The highest point in
this range is Mount Toolbrunup, which reaches an altitude of a’
little over 3,000 feet. No active volcanoes exist, but the craters of
several extinet ones are reported to have been discovered in the
North-West and in the Kimberley District in the peighbourhood of
the 16th parallel of latitude. The appearance of the whole of the
country, with perhaps the exception of some parts of the Kimberley
District, indicates a condition of remarkable quiescence as far back
as the carboniferous epoch.

Rivers.—The principal rivers are: in the North, the Ord, with
its tributaries, the Denham, Bow, Negri, and Panton; the
Pentecost, with its tributary, the Chamberlain; the Durack, Drys-
dale, King Edward, Prince Regent, Charuley, Isdell; and the
Fitzroy, with its tributaries, the Margaret River and Christmas
Creek. In the North-West the De Grey, with its tributaries the
Oakover, Shaw, and Strelley; the Yule, the Fortescue, and the
Ashburton, with its tributaries, the Henry and Hardy. Then,
falling to the Western coast, the Gascovne, with its tributary, the
Lyons, the Murchison, with its trlbutarv the Sanford; the
Greenough, the Swan, on which is situated the capital of the S‘r&te
and which, above tidal waters, is called the Avon; the Murray, the
Collie, and the Preston. And lastly, on the Southern coast, the
Blackwood, Warren, Kalgan, and Phillips Rivers.

Lakes.—There are no lakes of any considerable importance in
the State. Between the Darling Range and the coast there are a
few salt-water lagoons. and many small fresh-water lakes, the
majority of which are nothing more than swamps during the dry
season, and none of them are of any economic impertance. The

D
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so-called lakes in the interior of the State, which are frequently of
very considerable area, are, except after the occasional heavy rains,
merely immense salt marshes or clay pans. .

Contour of the Country.—That part of the State lying to the
North of the 19th parallel of latitude may be deseribed as moun-
tainous, consisting of alternating bigh and lower lying plateaux ;
the highest country here is principally of sandstone formation.
The North-West Division and much of the Gascoyne Division is a
distinctly mountainous country, the ranges here being principally
granitic. A large proportion of the South-Western and Southern
sea-boards is of flat sandy character, with indications of a recent
geological formation, and may be described as a vast forest, prinei-
pally timbered with jarrah, white and red gums, and karri, most of
which timbers are of great commercial value. From some points on
the Western sea-board settlement has now extended for about 600
miles inland, but, from very complete information furnished by
explorers and prospectors, it 1s apparent that no considerable por-
tion of the interior lying between the 19th and 31st parallels of
latitude and between the 121st and 129th meridians of longitude is
suitable for any class of settlement except in connection with the
development of the mineral resources. This area may be described
as a great table-land, with an altitude of from one to two thousand

*feet above sea level, the surface of which consists largely of sand
dunes, though in many parts of it there are large areas of clayey
soils. Between the 30th parallel of latitude and the Great Austra-
lian Bight, much of the country is of limestone formation, and here
there are immense arveas of grass land, which only await the dis-
covery of subterranean water to make them amongst the most
productive areas of the State.

2—GEOGRAPHY.

Positron.—Western Australia, as defined by Her Majesty’s
Commission, dated 10th July, 1873, includes all that portion of the
Australian Continent “extending from the parallel of thirteen
“degrees thirty minutes South latitude to West Cape Howe, in
““the paralle] of thirty-five degrees eight minutes South latitude,
“and from Dirk Hartogs Island, on the Western coast, in longitude
“ one hundred and twelve degrees fifty-two minutes, to one hundred
“and twenty-nine degrees of East longitude, reckoning from the
“meridian of Greenwich, including all the islands adjacent in the
*Indian and Southern Oceans, within the latitudes aforesaid of
“ thirteen degrees thirty minutes South, and thirty-five degrees
“ eight minutes South, and within the longitudes aforesaid of one
“ hundred and twelve degrees -fifty-two minutes, and-one hundred
“and twenty-nine degrees East, from the said meridian of-Green-

T e WiCh.” . . . -
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Arga.—The greatest length of this territory, from Cape
Londonderry in the North to Peak Head (South of King George
Sound) in the South, is 1,480 miles, and its breadth from Steep
Point, near Dirk Hartogs Island, on the West, to the 129th
meridian, on the East, about 1,000 miles, containing, according
to the latest computations, an area of 975,920 square miles, or
624,588,800 acres.

The length of the coast-line, following known indents, is esti-
mated to be approximately 5,200 miles.

The following facts will assist in forming an idea of the magni-
tude of this area. The figures relating to.foreign countries are
taken from the “ Statesman’s Year Book” for 1901. As a whole,
the Continent of Australia is estimated to contain 2,946,691
square miles, and Western Australia, therefore, occupies nearly
one-third of the Continent, being about equal in size to all the
following European States if joined together :—

Square miles.

Germany ..

France .. .. ... ... ... 204,092
Hungary . ... 125,039
Norway .. . 124,445
United Klngdom .. 120,979
Austria .. ... 115,903
Portugal (Mamland) oo 34,528
Switzerland . > . 15,976
Denmark (mc]udlng Faroe Is. ) e 14795
Belgiuom . . ... 11,373

Total ... ... 975,960 sq..miles

The area of the whole of Europe is 3,823,197 square miles,
whilst the grand total of the British Dominions and Protectorates
is 11,288,277 square miles, with a population of 395,152,105.

Not many years ago the occupied portion of the State was
comprised in an area of about 1,200 miles in length, by about 150
in average breadth, lying between Albany (King George Sound)
in the South, and Wyndham (Cambridge Gulf) in the East
Kimberley District, in the North; namely, between the 15th and
85th parallels of South latitude. However, since the discovery
and exploration of the Central and Eastern Districts Goldfields,
vast tracts of country once entirely unknown have been opened up
and occupied far in the interior, and at present flourishing mining
townships exist from 400 to 500 miles inland.

(For Land Divisions and Sub-divisions, see Volume I1.)
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Name. ‘When declared. Lat. 8. | Long E.

o 7/ o ’
Abbotts 3rd Augnet, 1900 27 30 120 36
Albany *July, 1831 35 2 117 54
Augusta 11th May, 1830 ... 33 40 115 10
Austin 3lst May, 1895 ... 27 38 117 51
Balaguundi 28th August, 1896 30 44 121 41
Balgarri 18th February, 1898 30 3v 121 7
Balingup 17th Juue, 1898 ... 33 46 115 59
Balla Balla . . 8th July, 1898 20 42 117 45
Bamboo 14th June, 1895 . 20 55 120 14
Bardoc . 5th June, 1896 . . 30 20 121 17
Bejoording ... 29th September 1899 ... 31 22 116 37
Beverley *1830 .. 32 7 118 51
Black Flag 2nd July, 1897 30 33 121 13
Bonnie Vale .. 13th August, 1897 30 51 120 11
Boogardie 28th January, 1893 28 2 117 46
Boorabbin 22nd July, 1893 ... 31 12 120 20
Boorara 1th December, 1897 30 49 121 39
Boulder 4th December, 1896 30 47 121 3v
Boyanup 12th October, 1894 33 28 115 43
Boyup . 9th February, 1900 33 49 116 23
Bndgetowu 4th June, 1868 ... 33 57 116 8
Broad Arrow 18th September, 1896 .. 30 27 121 290
Brookton, se¢ Seabrook | 32 22 17 1
Broome . 27th November, 1883 ... 17 57 122 15
Broome Hill 28th May, 1897 ... 33 49 17 37
Bulla Bulhng 18th March, 1898 31 1 120 54
Bulong . 29th November, 1895 ... 30 46 121 47
Bunbury *February, 1841 33 18 115 38
Burbanks 15th October, 1897 31 3 121 9
Burracoppin 19th March, 1891 31 24 118 30
Busselton *June, 1837 33 39 115 21
Callion 27th August, 1897 30 7 120 35
Capel . 9th July, 1897 ... 33 32 115 34
Carnarvon ... 23rd January, 1833 ... ‘24 42 113 39
Chidlow’s Well 27th November, 1883 ... 31 52 116 16
Clackline 13th August, 1897 31 43 116 32
Cleaverville ... 22nd December, 1892 ... 20 39 117 0
Collie . 3rd December, 1897 33 21 116 8
Cookernup 7th September, 1894 32 59 115 54
Coolgardie 24th August, 1893 30 57 121 16
Coolup 3rd February, 1899 32 46 115 52
Cossack 25th May, 1872 20 40 117 8
Cranbrook (W.A. Land Compnny) 3rd February, 1899 34 16 117 32
Cuballing (do.) 3rd February, 1898 32 47 117 9
Cuddmgwa,tra, 13th December, 1895 27 22 117 46
Cue - 17th August, 1893 27 25 117 52
Day Dawn 25th May, 1894 ... 27 27 117 50
Denham 6th May, 1898 25 45 113 21
Denison + . 29 18 114 506
Derby .. 27th November, isss 17 18 123 49
Dongara 28 17 114 53
Donnybrook .. ]2th October 1894 33 33 115 48
Doodlekine 19th March, 1891 31 35 117 52
Drakesbrook 22nd Match, 1895 32 52 115 55
Dundas .. .. 24th May, 1805 ... 32 23 121 47
Dm:msborough 29th April, 1879 .. 33 34 15 &
Dununsville 17th December, 1897 ... 30 38 120 &3
Esperance ¢ .. 15th December, 1893 .. 33 51 121 5
Euecla . 12th November, 1885 ... 31 42 128 53
Feysville 8tb July, 1898 . 30 58 121 37
Fremantle ... i - - 32 3 115 45

Gabaniuntha .., 18th November, 1893 ... 26 55 118 3

Geraldton ... e It - 28 46 114 =
Fingin - . e 12th December, 1871 31 13 115 47
Gladstone 19th March, 1891 25 45 114 15
Gledhow 11th March, 1898 3 2 117 51
Goongarrie ... 14th June, 1895 ... 30 3 121 9
Gordon 8th October, 1897 30 27 121 36

* Townsite surveyed.
ber, 1829,

+ No record.
|| No record; first town lots sold June, 1850.

1 No record ; first town lots sold 5th Septem-
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List of Declared Townsites—continued.

1

Name. ‘ ‘When declared. l Lat. S ‘ Long, E
|
- 7 o ’ " o

Granville ., 31st August, 1869 31 13 115 45
QGrass Valley 9th September, 1898 31 39 116 47
Greenbushes 3rd November, 1899 33 50 116 3
Greenbushes, North 26th May, 1899 ... 33 49 116 3
Guildford .. * . . 31 53 116 1
Gullewn 14th January, 1898 ... 28 39 116 21
Hall's Creek ... 23rd November, 1894 ... 18 15 127 46
Hamel 3rd February, 1899 32 53 115 55
Hester 18th August, 1899 33 54 116 9
Hopetoun 15th February, 1901 33 37 120 8
Horseshoe 22nd February, 1901 25 27 118 33
Jackson . 5th March, 1897 30 12 119 8
Kalamunda ... 13th December, 1901 31 58 115 52
Kalgoorlie 7th September, 1894 ... 30 45 121 30
Kambalda 10th December, 1897 ... 31 10 121 15
Kanowna 14th December, 1894 30 37 121 36
Katanning 16th May, 1898 ... 33 38 117 31
Kelmscott +June, 1831 32 7 116 2
Kintore 12th November, 1897 . 30 36 121 2
Kirupp 27th September 1901 ... 33 42 115 53
Knutstord 26th September, 1889 ... 30 55 119 2
Kojonup 4th May, 1900 ... 33 50 117 9
Kookynie i 19th January, 1900 29 20 121 26
Kunanalling 5th June, 1896 .. 30 41 121 5
Kundana 24th September, 1897 . 30 42 121 15
Kurnalpi 25th January, 1895 30 32 122 15
Kurrajong 16th June, 1899 .. 28 42 121 6
Laverton . 6th July, 1900 ... 28 38 122 24
Lawlers . 24th July, 1896 .. 28 5 120 12
Lennonville ... 380th September, 1898 ... 27 58 117 49
Leonora 15th April, 1898 .. 28 53 121 20
Linden . .. 29th January, 1897 29 19 122 26
Londonden‘y ... 30th August, 1895 31 5 121 8
Lynton ... 1st March, 1854 ... 28 12 114. 18
Mainland ... 10th June, 1898 .. 27 35 117 54
Malcolm ... 10th September, 1897 ... 28 56 121 31
Mallina, ... 28th February, 1896 20 52 118 13
Marbelup ... 24th August, 1900 35 0 117 44
Marble Bar ... ... 18th July, 1893 ... 21 11 119 42
Meckering ... 6th December, 1895 31 3 117 3
Melville ... 1st May, 1890 ... (Se¢ Noo|agal)

Menzies ..., 16th Aneust, 1895 29 41 121 2
Merriden ... ... | 19th March, 1891 3l 28 118 18
Mertondale ... ‘ 28th June, 1899 ... 28 40 121 382
Moojebing ... | 4th Fehruary, 1892 33 35 117 26
Moora, ... ... | 12th April, 1895... 30 37 116 0
Moorumhine ... | 24th April, 1884 ... 32 32 117 9
Mt. Barker ... ... | 20th January, 1899 34 36 117 39
M¢t. Tda ‘ 6th May, 1898 .. 29 3 120 30-
Mt. Magnet ... ... | 18th Jannary, 1895 28 3 117 49
Mt. Margaret . | 14th May, 1897 ... 28 49 122 10
Mt. Morgans 15th December, 1899 ... 28 46 122 &
Mulgarrie 8th October, 1897 30 23 121 31
Mullalyup 15th March, 1901 33 44 115 56
Mullewa 13th July, 1894 . 28 3 115 31
Mulline 22nd October, 1897 - 29 47 120 32
Mulwarrie .. 14th September 1900 29 59 120 33
Mundaring ... 20th May, 1898 ... 31 5 116 10
Mundijong ... 22nd December, 1893 . 32 17 116 0
Murrm Murrin 16th February, 1900 28 56 121 49
Nannine , 20th April, 1893 ... 26 53 118 19
Nannup 9th January, 1890 33 59 115 45
Narrogm 4th June, 1897 ... 32 54 117 9
Newcastle 18t October, 1860 31 34 116 27
Niagara 27th November, 1896 ... 29 22 121 24
Noongal ¢ 17th December, 1897 27 50 116 47
Norseman Ath May, 1895 ... 33 11 | 121 47
Northam . +183: 31 40 116 40
Northampton L 19th Februaly 1864 .. 28 22 114 37
Nullagine . | 15th September, 1899 ... 21 34 | 120 4
Onslow ' 29th Qctober, 1885 21 42 114 57
Paddington ... 5th February, 1897 30 29 121 29
Pakington lst March, 1854 .. 28 13 114 17
Parker’s Range o 31 39 119 35

* No record ; first lot sold. September, 1830.

+ Townsite surveyed.

1 No record.
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List of Declared Townsites —continued.

Name. 1 When declared. Lat. S. iLong. E.

i

I - B ] 7 ST 7
Parkerville ... ... | 30th November, 1900 ... .. | 31l 58 116 7
Paynesville ... ... | 9th March, 1900 | 28 1 118 29
Peak Hill ... ... | 26th November, 1897 ... 25 39 118 42
Perth ... ... | t12th August, 1829 ... 31 57 115 50
Pindar - | 22nd February, 1901 ... .| 28 29 115 48
Pingelly ... ' 4th February, 1898 ... .| 32 32 117 5
Pinjarra . ... | 30th September, 1898 ... .| B2 37 115 35
meetuymg ... | +th February, 1892 33 39 117 31
Porlell ... | 17th November, 1899 .. .| 26 56 118 35
Port Hedland ... | 23rd October, 1896 20 19 118 34
Preston ..., 15th December, 1899 ... 33 31 116 0
Puntaping ‘ 13th April, 1893... 33 18 117 20
Quindalup . | 17th November, 1899 .| 83 40 115 9
Raveusthorpe . ... ! 18th January, 1901 . 33 35 120 3
Rockingham ... i 3rd June, 1847 ... .| 82 16 115 15
Roebourne ... ... { 17th August, 1868 ] 20 46 1T 8
Rothesay ... ... i 18th November, 1898 ... 29 17 116 54
Sawyers’ Valley . ... | 28th QOctober, 1898 L 31 54 116 12
Seabrook (now Brookton) ... | 18th January, 1895 .| 82 22 117 1
Serpentine ... . . ... | 22nd December, 1893 . .. 32 2 115 59
Shellborough ... ' 25th January, 1895 . 20 1 119 38
Sir Samnel ... . .. l4th May, 1897 .. . .| 27 37 120 33
Southern Cross .. | 20th March, 1890 31 14 ‘ 119 21
Tampa ... | 5th Februarvy, 1897 .. | 29 13 | 12l 24
Ta.mbellup . “ 16th February, 1900 ... 341, 117 39
Tammin . ... | 26th May, 1899 ... . 31 37 ' 117 29
Tenterden ... i 27th April, 1893.. 34 21 117 33
Toodyay . . .. 131833 31 31 116 21
Trafalgar .. 1 &¢n September 1901 . 30 47 121 31
Tuckanarra ... ... | 17th Fubruary, 1899 .. . 27 7 118 3
‘Wagin .. | 16th May, 1898 ... - 33 18 117 20
Wagerup .. ... | 6th June, 1899 ... ..l 82 58 115 54
Walliabup ... .. .. .. .. |20th Jannary,1899 .. .| 32 5 | 115 51
Waverley .. ... | 14th October, 1898 .. 30 14 120 58
Wldglemooltha. ... | 3rd December, 1897 ... .| 31 29 121 35
Williams ... ... | 8th October, 1897 .. 32 5 116 51
‘Wiluna ... { 15th April, 1898 ... . 26 37 120 20
‘Windanya . | st October, 1897 ... | 80 22 121 16
‘Wonnerup ... ... | 16th July, 1856 ... ... | 33 37 115 24
‘Woodanilling ... i 4th February, 1892 ... 33 33 117 25
Woodarra 14th January, 1898 ... 27 56 121 18
Wyndbham ... R 2nd September, 1886 .. 15 27 128 5
Yalgoo .. ... | 24th January, 1896 ... 28 23 116 43
Yerilla ... { 13th August, 1897 .| 29 29 321 35
York ... . [OTRR A | .. 31 53 116 47
Youndegin ... ... | 1st September, 1892 ... 31 47 117 19
Yundurup ... | 6th May, 1898 ... 32 33 115 47
Yundammdem (The Gra.mtes) ... | 14th June, 1901 ... 29 7 122 2

+ The first stone 1aid. 1 Townsite surveyed || No record ; first town lot sold July, 1835.
LaTiTupEs AND LoneiTubes of the Capitals of the
Australasian States.

Capital City.

State or Colony. ——

Name. | fatitude . | Longitude E.

] ’ " ° ’ 2

Victoria ... . ... | Melbourne ... 37 49 53 144 58 32
New South Wales ... | Sydney 33 51 41 | 151 12 24
Queensland ... | Brisbane ... 2728 0| 153 1 36
South Australia ... ... | Adelaide ... 34 55 34 | 138 35 4
‘Western Australia ... | Perth 31 57 10 | 115 50 26
Tasmania ... ... | Hobart 42 53 25 147 19 57
New Zealand ... ... | Wellington... 41 16 25 | 174 46 38
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3.—THE SALIENT GEOLOGICAL FEATURES OF
WESTERN AUSTRALIA.

(By A. Gibb Maitland, Esq., Government Geologist.)
INTRODIUCTION.

This account of the salient geological features of Western Aus-
tralia must be regarded more in the light of a statement of the present
condition of our knowledge than a detailed description thereof, and
should serve to show how much has yet to be learnt on the subject.

Certain very small portions of the State which are of economie
importance have in late years received somewhat detailed investiga-
tion, but there are many portions which are as yet only imperfectly
known. while by far the larger area of Western Australia has
never vet been examined by any trained geologist, and many
years must elapse before even the dominant geological features
can be grasped.

In the compilation of this account I have freely availed myself
of the work of my predecessors and of those other workers to whom
Western Australian geologists owe a debt of gratitude. As this
article is to a large extent based upon the labours of previous
official geologists, it is not out of place to give a succinet account of
their observations.

Dr. F. von Sommer would appear to have been the first official
geologist employed in the State. This gentleman travelled ex-
tensively during the years 1847 to 1857 throughout Western
Australia.  He geologically examined the Victoria, Toodyay, and
York Districts. and extended his observations to the country lying
between the latter and Mt. Barren, on the South Coast. Neither
the maps unor reports of this worker have ever been published,
although three articles from his pen bearing upon the geology of
the State appeared in the pages of current literature during the
years 1848 to 1849, After an interval of 21 years, during which
much excellent geological work was accomplished by the Gregory
Brothers, Mr. H. Y. L.. Brown was appointed to the post of Govern-
ment Geologist. This officer, during the years 1870-71, prepared
three geological maps and issued ten reports (now out of print), all of
which have been laid under contribution in the preparation of this
résumé. In 1882 Mr. E. T. Hardman, of the Geological Survey of
Ireland. was appointed Government Geologist. His labours were
chiefly confined to the Kimberley District, upon which he issued
two voluminous reports illustrated with a series of maps and plates.
Mr. Hardman’s researches laid the foundations of our knowledge
of the geology of the Northern portion of Western Australia, and
also led to the discovery of the Kimberley ‘Goldfield. This officer

* Vide “ Bibliography of the Geology of Western Australia.” A, Gibb Maltland, Perth -
By Authority. 1889, o
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examined the neighbourhood of Bunbury. Blackwood, ete., and inves-
tigated the vicinity of Perth with reference to the question of its water
supply from subterranean sources Mr. Hardman concluded that it
was hopeless to expect an overflowing supply of water anywherein the
neighbourhood of the capital. This conclusion, though not borne
out by recent trials, was the only one which could be legitimately
arrived at so long as it was assumed that the water-carrying strata
must be arranged in the form of one of those ideal basins, sections
of which have done duty for many years in geological manuals.
Recent observations have shown that this condition rarely obtains
in Nature, and that in all the important artesian areas the porous
beds are so arranged that there is only one side of a synclinal trough
present. The late Rev. C. G. Nicolay contributed largely to our
knowledge of the geology of the State, and was the founder
of the Geological Museum in Fremantle, now merged into the
Western Australian Museum. In 1887 Mr. H. P. Woodward was
selected to fill the post of Government Geologist. Mr. Woodward,
in the course of his official duties (1887-1895), travelled over the
length and breadth of the State, and, with a small appropriation,
published 21 voluminous reports and six geological maps.

ARCHZEAN RocCks.

The oldest formation in Western Australia is that comprising
those gneissic, granitoid, and schistose rocks, which cover such an
enormous area of country, and form the floor upon which the newer
strata have been laid down. To the whole of these metamorphic
rocks observers have invariably assigned an Archzan Age; this.
however, is more inferred than proved. There is only one instance
on record, at the present time, upon which this classification may
be considered to have been determined by palaontological evidence.

In the Kimberley District certain limestones, sandstones.
quartzites, etc., have yielded Lower Cambrian fossils, viz., Salterella
Hardmani and Olenellus (?) Forresti. These fossiliferous beds are
congidered, and may probably be, newer than the gneissic and schis-
tose rocks in the vicinity. So far as observations have at present
been carried, no actual junction has been noticed between the schists
and the fossiliferous strata, and there is nothing already in the
evidence available incompatible with the supposition that the talcose
and mica schists and other associated rocks represent much more
highly metamorphosed portions of the Lower Cambrian beds.

In the absence of direct stratigraphical or palzontological
evidence. it is convenient, for descriptive purposes. to adhere to a
‘purely lithological classification, and to separate the gneissic. grani-
toid. and schistose rocks from those in which metamorphism has
not been carried sufficiently far to entirely obliterate their clastic
eharacter.
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These Archman rocks have been thus described by Mr. H. P.
Woodward, formerly Government. Geologist : -

This great group of rocks are more largely developed in this Colony than in any
other portion of the world, outcropping as they do in all parts of the country, and
where they are overlain by more modern formations these latter are rarely of any
great thickness. This series is hizhly contorted, being folded into a number of
parallel anticlinal and synclinal folds, striking North and South, and oiten pre-
senting the appearance of a highly-inclined dip, which is either nearly vertical or
trending to the Eastward. These rocks are much broken and faulted by numerous
diorite and granite dykes. They contain many quartz veins and iron lodes, and
it is in this group of rocks that the principal auriferous deposits exist. This great
series of rocks may be subdivided into three sections—the granites, the gneisses,
and the schists, which, as a rule, run in parallel belts North and Soutb, with a
slight trend to the North-West.

The first, or Western belt extends from the Murchison River to the South
coast, but is very little exposed, except in the Northampton District, and a little
South of the Irwin River, where it is rich in copper, lead, and zinc lodes. It under-
lies the sandy coastal plains, outcropping here and there at the base of the Darling
Range, forming a small range between the Capes Naturaliste and Leeuwin, and
characterised throughout by lead, copper, and zinc lodes. The rocks of this belt
are, for the most part, comparatively soft, consisting of clay slates (often kaolinised),
quartzites, and schists, with dykes of diorite and granite, and veins of quartz con-
taining lead, copper, zinc, iron pyrites, and ferruginous graphite.

The second belt extends Northward from the South coast (forming the bold
escarpment at the edge of the great plateau called the Darling Range) as far as
the Murchison River. It then follows this river in a narrow belt in a_ North-
Easterly direction for about 200 miles, where it suddenly spreads out to the East
and North-West from the Robinson Range to the Lyons IRiver, disappearing beneath
the magnesian limestone to the Northward. In this belt the rocks are mostly hard
and crystalline, consisting principally of gneiss and schist, with dykes of diorite,
granite, and felstone, and veins of quartz. The latter (as well as the diorite! often
contains large quantities of pyrites, most of which yield a little gold. Tin is also
being worked at the Gireenbushes Tinfield, the ore being derived from the disin-
tegration of quartz-porphyry dykes, in which it is associated with tourmaline and
titanic iron. Besides iron and manganese, large deposits of kaolin of a very fine
quality occur, as well as veins containing mica and asbestos ; but these latter are
too much weathered at their outcrop to be of any value. Near Bridgetown a very
large deposit of graphite has lately been opened up; it exists in the form of a bed
between talcose schists, about 20 feet in thickness.

The third, or great granite belt, lies about 100 miles East from the West coast,
and is about 100 miles in width, extending from the South coast to the Murchison
River. It consists of a series of bold, bare outcrops of gneiss or granite, often 100
feet in height, and covering several hundred acres in extent, rising from loamy flats.
The rocks mostly outcrop m the depressions of the table-land, the higher portions
of which are covered by sand plains. This belt is absolutely destitute of mineral
veins, and it is due to this barrier that the rich goldfields to the Eastward remained
s0 long unprospected. These outcrops are made use of for the conservation of
water m this dry portion of the Colony, as they shed water like a house-roof, whilst
around them there are many natural dams or basins filled with sand, which are
either being cleaned out or wells are being sunk in them. The rocks of this belt
consist entirely of gneiss and granite, much fissured and faulted, and traversed
by numerous dykes of granite and diorite, whilst the main masses generally enclose
fragments and masses of schistose and gneissic rock.

The fourth, or first auriferous belt, is situated immediately to the Eastward
of the granite belt, and is about 20 miles in width. It starts from the South coast
at the Phillips River, extending Northward in a narrow belt by the Ravensthorpe
Range, Parker’s Range, Southern Cross, Golden Valley, Mt. Jackson, Mt. Kenneth,
Mt. Magnet, Austin’s Lake to Cue. Thence it takes a sligcht bend to the North-
East to Nannine and the Star of the East, where it strikes more to the North,
and skirting round the heads of the Murchison and Gascoyne Rivers. it turns
North-West and follows down the Ashburton Valley to its junction with the Henry,
finally disappearing beneath the Palaozoic formation. The rocks of this belt
consist mostly of hornblende, mica, or talc schists, of which the hornblende
schists so closely resemble diorite that it is impossible to distinguish it in a broken
specimen. The rocks of this belt are a good deal broken and faulted by granite
and diorite dykes, and quartz lodes containing gold. iron. and copper. There are
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also 8o ne large magnesia lode-masses, rich in fine gold, which will probably prove

i:(})1 lba. t‘:’erpent:ine at a depth. Many of the lodes also contain large quantities of
chlorite.

The fifth, or second granite belt, is about the same width, and similar in every
way to the first mentioned. It extends from the South coast, following the line
of the first auriferous belt North, and, like it, dipping under the Palmozoic table-
land of the Fortescue. Only a small portion makes its appearance on the Northern
side of the Yule River, near Pilbara, upon the North-West coast.

The sixth, or second auriferous belt, Lies next, and at present its width is un-
known, but it is certainly of considerable width in places, and has proved, wherever
rospected, to be extremely rich in gold. 1t extends North from the Dundas Hills
where this formation first outcrops from below the sand plains) by Wagemulla, *
Coolgardie, and Three Pinnacles, Ularring, Lake Carey, and following about the
same line as the other belts, and turning with them to the North-West by the
Nullagine, Marble Bar, Pilbara, Egina, and Mallina upon the North-West coast.
The rocks of this belt are generally very similar to those of the first auriferous belt,
but the formation and lodes are a great deal more faulted and broken : however,
to make up for this, they are the richest that have ever b